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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 10 NOVEMBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Kennedy,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  we ready?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes we a re  thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes thank you.   Good morn ing  Mr  

Mhlont le .  

MR MHLONTLE:   Good morn ing  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The oath  you took yeste rday cont inues to  10 

app ly  today.   A l r igh t .   You may p roceed Mr  Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   Wi th  your  leave we  

dea l t  w i th  in  some deta i l  w i th  the  c i r cumstances o f  Mr  

Mhlont le ’s  res ignat ion  a f te r  a  p rocess.   Perhaps log ica l l y  i t  

wou ld  make sense fo r  us  to  –  to  dea l  w i th  tha t  a l though i t  

comes in  the  la t te r  ha l f  o f  h is  second a f f idav i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We can dea l  w i th  a l l  o f  tha t ;  comple te  

the  p ic tu re  and f i l l  i n  a  few deta i l s .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then thereaf te r  we w i l l  ge t  back  

to  the  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  and dea l  w i th  some o f  the  t ransact ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No tha t  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mr  Mhlont le  I  wou ld  l i ke  you p lease in  

the  bund le  and jus t  fo r  the  record  i t  i s  Bund le  Dene l7  
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Exh ib i t  W20.   Mr  Mhlont le  w i l l  you  p lease look a t  page 587.  

MR MHLONTLE:   I  am a t  587.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You dea l  under  the  head ing  the  

suspens ion  and la te r  your  res igna t ion  w i th  the  events  tha t  

led  up  to  what  you to ld  the  Cha i r  about  yes terday wh ich  

was the  negot ia t ions  wh ich  took p lace para l le l  to  the 

d isc ip l ina ry  process tha t  never  u l t imate ly  happened.   The  

prepara t ions fo r  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  and how you 

u l t imate ly  were  persuaded to  take  a  –  a  package by  way o f  

a  se t t lement .   Now I  wou ld  l i ke  to  go  back a  few s teps to  10 

dea l  w i th  the  –  w i th  the  suspens ion .   You re fer  t o  your  

b road agreement  w i th  Mr  Sa loo jee ’s  ev idence  a l ready 

g iven in  th is  commiss ion  concern ing  the  c i rcumstances o f  

the  suspens ion .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLE:   I t  i s  indeed co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then you  re fer  to  the  fac t  tha t  a t  

a  cer ta in  s tage Dene l  s ta r ted  dea l ing  w i th  you ind i v idua l l y  

w i th  Mr  Sa loo jee  and Ms A f r i ca  and  you were  no  longer  

dea l t  w i th  as  a  –  as  th ree  person g roup.  

MR MHLONTLE:   That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you have a l ready cor rec ted  on  

the  record  parag raph 5 .3  wh ich  dea ls  w i th  an  or ien ta t ion  

and you have cor rec ted  the  da te  24  Ju l y  2015.  

MR MHLONTLE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you have re fe r red  the re  to  the  
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o r ien ta t ion  and a  spec ia l  sess ion  re la t ing  to  the  LSSA 

t ransact ion  and then a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page the  f i rs t  

meet ing  o f  the  new board  o f  d i rec tors .   But  what  I  wou ld  

l i ke  to  take  you now to  i s  page 588 paragraph 5 .7  where  

you dea l  w i th  a  meet ing  tha t  took p lace on  the  22  

September  2015 where  you met  together  w i th  Sa loo jee  and  

A f r i ca  –  Ms A f r i ca  w i th  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee .   Now 

I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  exp la in  what  happened  a t  that  

commi t tee  meet ing .   What  d id  you unders tand when you  

ca l led  to  a t tend th is  meet ing  tha t  i t  wou ld  dea l ing  w i th?  10 

MR MHLONTLE:   Dur ing  the  course  o f  the  day on  Tuesday  

we were  adv i sed tha t  we wou ld  need to  meet  w i th  the  Aud i t  

Commi t tee  la te r  t ha t  a f te rnoon.   And the re  was no agenda 

per  se  what  they  w i l l  dea l  w i th  –  tha t  wou ld  be  I  had  a  

d is t inc t  sense tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  had a  sense o f  what  was  

go ing  to  be  engaged on as  to  why  tha t  was the  case I  had 

no knowledge.    

And then the  meet ing  took p lace;  we were  ca l led  

one by  one.   We were  presented w i th  a  le t te r  tha t  seemed 

to  have been wr i t ten  based on the  presenta t ion  we had 20 

g iven around the  t ransact ion  o f  LSSA and mak ing  var ious 

a l legat ions.   And we were  then g i ven 24 hours  to  wh ich  we  

wou ld  have to  fu rn ish  reasons as  to  why we shou ld  no t  be  

suspended.    

And I  guess what  was expected  was tha t  aga ins t  
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each po in t  we wou ld  p rov ide  reasons as  to  why the  a l leged 

issues happened  the  way they had been tabu la ted  and we 

–  we sought  lega l  counse l  in  be tween befo re  the  24  hours  

was up.    

And we went  w i th  a  broad response to  the  Aud i t  and  

R isk  Commi t tee  tha t  say ing  g i ven a  –  a  more  t ime we are  

happy to  go  th rough each po in t  and c la r i f y.   But  I  th ink  

what  i s  impor tan t  Cha i r  i s  the  fac t  tha t  even on a  one on  

one or  on  a  mee t ing  w i th  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  I  had 

put  fo rward  to  them to  say tha t  as  fa r  as  I  am concerned  10 

issues o f  governance are  no t  hand led  tha t  way.    

We cannot  have a  board  tha t  i s  s ix  weeks in  o f f i ce  – 

i t  has  had one presenta t ion  and the  next  day is  mak ing  a l l  

hos t  o f  a l legat ions.   Even i f  those issues cou ld  be  va l id  

one wou ld  –  wou ld  pu t  the  quest ions to  the  board ;  the  

board  wou ld  –  I  mean to  the  management  and management  

wou ld  respond and i t  i s  on ly  upon the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  or  board  no t  be ing  sa t is f ied  w i th  the  responses  

tha t  i t  cou ld  –  i t  cou ld  even be put t ing  ou t  a  word  a long the  

l ine  o f  suspens ion .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   So  th is  i s  now a t  the  meet ing  o f  the  22  

September  2015 and the  meet ing  is  tha t  o f  the  Aud i t  and  

R isk  Commi t tee  no t  o f  the  who le  board .  

MR MHLONTLE:   Indeed Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And the  f i rs t  meet ing  o f  the  board  had  
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been on the  10  September  2015,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MHLONTLE:   Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  the  meet ing  o f  the  20  – so  the  

meet ing  o f  the  10  September  was the  f i rs t  board  meet ing .  

MR MHLONTLE:   Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So  before  the  10 t h  –  be tween the  10 t h  and  

the  22 n d  September  no  fu r ther  board  meet ing  had taken 

p lace or  had –  had i t  taken p lace?  

MR MHLONTLE:   Cor rec t  excep t  tha t  Ms Sa loo jee  had 

gone overseas.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR MHLONTLE:   A t  UK wi th  the  Cha i r  o f  the  board .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR MHLONTLE:   And had been no –  no  board  meet ings.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes there  had been no board  meet ings.   

So –  so  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  was th is  i t s  f i rs t  

meet ing  on  the  22n d  do  you know? 

MR MHLONTLE:   I t  –  i t  wou ld  –  the  meet ing  –  the re  was a  

meet ing  be fore  tha t  wh ich  was spec i f i ca l l y.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

MR MHLONTLE:   Backdated on  the  LSSA t ransact ion  

where  we made a  presenta t ion  o f  g ive  or  take  20 s l ides .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

MR MHLONTLE:   Or  tha t  says here  the  company –  here  is  

a  background o f  the  company.   These are  the  
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c i rcumstances under  wh ich  i t  was bought .   Here  is  a  PFMA 

approva l  and a l l  the  processes we had fo l lowed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MHLONTLE:   And the  presenta t ion  was obv ious ly  h igh  

leve l  ensur ing  tha t  the  board  –  the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  was fu l l y  appra ised o f  what  had taken p lace in  

te rms o f  dec i s ion  and the re  was one e lement  tha t  needed 

to  be  fu l f i l l ed  by  the  new board  wh ich  was tha t  o f  b r ing ing  

an  equ i ty  par tne r  on  tha t  t ransact ion .   So i t  was qu i te  

impor tan t  tha t  we  have a  p resenta t ion .  So there  had been  10 

one –  one Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  spec i f i ca l l y  to  ta lk  on  

the  t ransact ion .   Th is  was a lmost  l i ke  a  second one.  

CHAIRPERSON:   And can you remember  the  da te  when 

tha t  f i rs t  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  meet ing  was?  

MR MHLONTLE:   I t  i s  somet ime  in  September.   I  th ink  

maybe the  9 t h?  

CHAIRPERSON:   A f te r  the  10 t h  o r  even before  the  10 t h?  

MR MHLONTLE:   I  th ink  be fo re  the  10 t h .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay.   Okay.   And d id  you say you or  

the  execut ives  made presenta t ions to  –  or  a  p resenta t ion  20 

to  tha t  meet ing?  

MR MHLONTLE:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   I s  tha t  p resenta t ion  d i f fe ren t  

f rom what  I  thought  was –  okay ja  I  can see the  –  tha t  i s  

the  presenta t ion  you ta lk  about  in  paragraph 5 .3 .   I s  tha t  
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r igh t?   Of  your  –  a t  page 587.  

MR MHLONTLE:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Dur ing  the  or ien ta t ion  o f  24  Ju ly  2015 the  

CEO ment ioned tha t  a  b ig  t ransact ion  conc luded in  Apr i l  

2015 under  the  prev ious board  was LSSA.   I  th ink 

somewhere  in  those l ines  you ta lk  about  do ing  a  

presenta t ion .  

MR MHLONTLE:   Qu i te  r igh t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .   So –  so  was the re  a  presenta t ion  to  

the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  and a  p resenta t ion  to  the  10 

board  o r  on l y  to  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee?  

MR MHLONTLE:   The presenta t ion  was to  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Commi t tee .   Oh d id  you say on  the  9 t h?  

MR MHLONTLE:   I  suspect  i t  wou ld  have been but  i t  was  

before  the  –  be fore… suspect  i t  wou ld  have been but  i t  was 

before  the  –  be fo re… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Be fore  the  10 t h?  

MR MHLONTLE:   Be fore  the  board  o f  the  10 t h .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay a l r i gh t .   Wel l  –  so  we l l  i t  i s  20 

another  fea ture  t ha t  seems to  be  s im i la r  to  the  Eskom one 

because in  Eskom too a  new board  –  I  th ink  there  were  

on ly  two i f  no t  one who had come f rom a  prev ious board .   A 

new board  tha t  wou ld  no t  be  expected to  very  fami l ia r  even 

w i th  the  bus iness o f  Eskom and  w i th  the  persona l i t ies  
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[00 :10 :27]  in  execut ive  pos i t ions  i n  the i r  f i rs t  fu l l  meet ing  

o ther  than the  induct ion  on  the  11 t h  made a  dec is ion  to  

suspend execut ives  –  fou r  execut ives .   

So here  f rom what  you have sa id  there  had on ly  

been one board  meet ing  on  the  10 t h  and there  had  been an  

Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  be fore  the  10 t h .   Second Aud i t  

and R isk  Commi t tee  meet ing  on  the  22 n d  they are  ta lk ing  

about  ask ing  you  to  exp la in  i s  i t  no t?   They are  a l ready 

ta lk ing  about  whe ther  you shou ld  no t  be  suspended,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?  10 

MR MHLONTLE:   That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay.   Mr  Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.   Mr  Mhlont le  in  pa rag raph  

5 .6  you dea l  w i th  the  board  meet ing  o f  the  10 t h  September  

you d id  no t  no t ice  any mater ia l  concern  on  the  s ide  o f  the  

board .   There  was some quest ions  no ted and responded to  

in  wr i t ing  on  the  14 t h  September  2015 in  a  memorandum.   

So were  you a le r ted  du r ing  the  meet ing  –  the  board  

meet ing  o f  the  10 t h  September  tha t  there  were  any  

concerns on  the  par t  o f  the  board  members  o r  the  members  20 

o f  the  Aud i t  and  R isk  Commi t tee  who fo rmed par t  o f  the 

board  tha t  there  were  any i r regu lar i t ies  on  your  par t  

concern ing  the  LSSA dea l  tha t  you were  repor t ing  back on? 

MR MHLONTLE:   Not  a t  a l l ;  no t  a t  a l l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now then you  have taken the  Cha i r  to  
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the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  tha t  happened on the  22 n d  

September  and you re fer  to  a  le t te r.   Can I  ask  you in  the  

bund le  p lease to  look  a t  page 657?  The le t te r  as  we see  

f rom the  las t  page a t  page 661 was addressed to  you by  

Mpho Kgomongwe the  Cha i rperson o f  the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLE:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i t  says  in  the  tex t  o f  the  le t te r  a t  

the  top  on  page 657  

“You are  requested to  p rov ide  reasons why 10 

the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  shou ld  no t  

recommend to  the  board  fo r  your  u rgent  

suspens ion  and  d isc ip l i nary  ac t ion  to  be  

taken aga ins t  yourse l f .   The Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  he ld  meet ings as  mandated by  

the  board  to  cons ider  what  t ransp i red  

dur ing  the  board  meet ing  o f  the  10 t h  

September  2015 where  in fo rmat ion  sur faced 

amongst  o ther  th ings tha t  the  Ch ie f  

Execut ive  Off i ce r  and the  Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  20 

Off i cer  m is led  the  new board ,  the  Min is te r  

o f  Pub l ic  Enterp r ise  and the  Min is te r  o f  

F inance and fu r ther  the  PFMA and Dene l  

MOI  was cont ravened. ”  

Had any o f  tha t  been sa id  to  you in  the  meet ing  on  the  10 t h  
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September  2015?  

MR MHLONTLE:   None o f  th is  was sa id  on  the  10 t h  

September  board  meet ing .   None a t  a l l .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then i t  says  in  parag raph 2 .  

“ I t  appeared tha t  the  reason g iven by  

yourse l f  mot iva t ing  fo r  the  board  approva l  

to  a l low you to  conduct  –  so r ry  to  conc lude  

a  sa le  o f  49% or  50% of  the  DVS wi th  an  

equ i ty  par tner  was fa lse  and f raudu len t . ”  

Was tha t  ra i sed in  the  meet ing  o f  the  10 t h  September?  10 

MR MHLONTLE:   Desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  tha t  s ta tement  in  

i t se l f  i s  incor rec t  i t  was never  ra ised a t  any po in t .   The  

approva l  PMFA approva l  by  the  Min is te r  requ i res  tha t  there  

be  an equ i ty  par tner  to  tha t  ex ten t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then paragraph 3 .  

“ In  the  op in ion  o f  the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  your  conduct ,  ac t ions,  omiss ions  

in  respect  o f  the  t ransact ion  be tween LSSA 

and Dene l  SOC L im i ted  cont ravened the  

fo l low ing lega l  requ i rements  –  sor ry  20 

ins t ruments . ”  

And then i t  se ts  ou t  var ious requ i rements  o f  the  PFMA.   

And then paragraph 4  i t  says :  

“The Aud i t  and  R isk  Commi t tee  a f te r  

assess ing  what  you have to ld ”  
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CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  –  I  am so r ry  Mr  Kennedy.   Jus t  

on  a  l igh t  no te .   3 .1  says:  

“Sect ion  50  o f  the  PFMA requ i res  the  account ing  

au thor i t ies  o f  a  pub l i c  en t i t y  to   

a .  Exerc i se  the  du ty  o f  a lmost  ca re . ”  

I  th ink  they mean t  u tmost  care .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   For tunate ly  a re  no t  here  to  de fend the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  so  use o f  10 

Eng l ish  or  the  typ ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  I  –  I  guess maybe when you do  

th ings in  too  much o f  a  rush these th ings happen.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then paragraph 4  Mr  Mhlon t le .  

“The Aud i t  and  R isk  Commi t tee  a f te r  

assess ing  what  you have to ld  the  new board  

documents  submi t ted  to  the  Min is te r  o f  

F inance and the  Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  20 

Enterp r ise  i t  i s  c lea r  tha t  you d id  no t  ac t  

w i th  f ide l i t y,  honesty,  in tegr i t y  and in  the  

best  in te res t  o f  the  pub l i c  en t i t y  in  

manag ing  the  f inanc ia l  a f fa i r s  o f  the  pub l i c  

en t i t y. ”  
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Now –  and then there  are  var ious o ther  a l legat ions  

made aga ins t  you .   For  example  in  parag raph 8   

“You have cont ravened Sect ion  54 .2C o f  the  

PFMA by fa i lu re ,  re fusa l ,  omi t ted  to  

d isc lose  the  fu l le r  mater ia l  f inanc ia l  aspects  

o f  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  LSSA by Dene l  to  the  

Min is te r  o f  F inance and the  Min is te r  o f  

Pub l ic  Ente rpr i se .  

9 .  You have amongst  o ther  th ings  fa i led  to  

comply  w i th  cond i t ions  o f  approva l  f rom the  10 

Min is te r  o f  F inance e tce tera”  

Now Mr  Mhlont le  th is  does not  appear  to  have been  

sa id  these are  the  a l legat ions and we wou ld  l i ke  your  

comment  on  them.   I f  we go back to  pa ragraph 1  i t  appears  

to  be  a  judgment  tha t  i s  made  by  the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  tha t  you mis led  the  new board .   And tha t  you  

made fa lse  and f raudu len t  c la ims.    Paragraph 2 .   And then 

paragraph 3  i t  re fe rs  to  an  op in ion  tha t  the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  had  come to  tha t  you r  conduct ,  ac t ions,  

omiss ions cont ravened va r ious lega l  ins t ruments  and the  20 

l i ke .   What  d id  you unders tand the  rea l  purpose  o f  th is  

le t te r  to  be?  

MR MHLONTLE:   Wel l  I  have ar t i cu la ted  in  –  I  th ink  in  

ear l ie r  be fore  we  got  to  th is  re fe rence tha t  the  in i t ia l  po in t  

I  made to  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  was there  wou ld  
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be  ins tances where  the  –  where  the  Aud i t  and R isk  

Commi t tee  or  any  sub-commi t tee  o f  the  board  may not  fu l l y  

unders tand the  ra t iona le  o r  the  reason ing  beh ind  a  

par t i cu la r  dec is ion .    

But  i t  expected tha t  e i ther  a t  the  board  meet ing  or  

Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  meet ing  to  ra ise  the  issue w i th  

execut ives  or  ra ise  the  issue in  be tween meet ings and the  

execut ives  wou ld  then respond to  i ssues a t  hand.    

I  reg is te red my –  my –  no t  d isappo in tment  bu t  be ing  

taken aback by  the  fac t  tha t  there  is  even th is  le t te r  the 10 

board  had gone o r  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  had gone 

to  an  ex ten t  o f  be ing  ab le  to  p roduce th is  k ind  o f  le t te r  

a lmost  coup le  o f  weeks a f te r  i t  had s ta r ted  or  come in to  

o f f i ce .    

And I  was say ing ,  look  i f  you  have got  quest ions we 

can s t i l l  answer.   I  –  I  even s ta ted  a t  the  end o f  th is  as  I  

have wr i t ten  in  th is  le t te r  tha t  I  have huge d i f f i cu l t ies  to  

acknowledge rece ip t  o f  th is  because I  fe l t  i t  has  no t  been 

thought  th rough.   A re  you e i ther  then the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  

the  lega l  counse l  sor t  o f  a f te r  read ing  th i s  k ind  o f  came to  20 

o f  say ing ,  look  somebody i s  t ry ing  to  c rea te  a  p r ima fac ie  

case fo r  you to  be  suspended.   I  had not  rea l l y  –  I  was not  

read ing  too  much  to  i t .    

I  mean I  looked a t  i t .   I  even laughed w i th  the  aud i t  

–  w i th  the  members  o f  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  I  
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says ,  look  you have wr i t ten  qu i te  ser ious a l legat ions bu t  

wh ich  I  be l ieve  are  base less  and we shou ld  be  ab le  to  

answer  them prov ided we are  g i ven  an oppor tun i ty  bu t  I  am 

concerned about  th is  le t te r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then on page  660 near  the  end o f  the 

le t te r  a f te r  var ious a l legat ions tha t  you had mis led  the 

Min is te rs  and  Nat iona l  Treasury  and  Nedbank e tce te ra .   

Then says pa ragraph 18 a t  the  foo t  o f  page 60.  

“Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  in tend to  

recommend to  the  board  tha t  you be  10 

suspended w i th  immedia te  e f fec t  pend ing  

fu r ther  invest iga t ion  in to  the  above and  

your  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  wh ich  w i l l  

commence as  soon as  the  invest iga t ion  is  

comple ted  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  w i l l  

fu r ther  recommend tha t  you be suspended 

w i th  pay and fu r ther  tha t  your  pe r iod  o f  your  

suspens ion  shou ld  no t  exceed th ree  

months . ”  

Now you a l ready  dea l t  yes terday w i th  the  fac t  tha t  20 

your  suspens ion  in  fac t  took longer  than –  than  a  year  

dur ing  wh ich  pe r iod  the  d i sc ip l i nary  inqu i ry  had  ye t  to  

commence on the  mer i t s ,  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLE:   My suspens ion  took e leven  months  

obv ious ly  fa r  beyond th ree  months  tha t  i s  covered  in  the  
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le t te r  indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then paragraph 19 says:  

“You were  fu r the r  no t i f ied  tha t  you shou ld  

prov ide  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  w i th  

reasons why the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  

shou ld  no t  recommend to  the  board  fo r  you r  

suspens ion .   Your   reasons shou ld  be  

emai led  e tce tera . ”  

Now jus t  s top  the re .   I t  appears  tha t  f rom the  ear l ie r  

parag raphs o f  the  le t te r  tha t  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  10 

had a l ready dec ided tha t  you had mis led  the  board  and the  

Min is te rs  and Nedbank and a l l  the  o thers  about  whom 

re ference is  made in  the  body o f  the  le t te r.   Do you have  

any comment  as  to  the  o f fe r  tha t  was now be ing  made to  

you to  g ive  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  reasons why they  

shou ld  no t  recommend to  the  board  your  suspens ion?  

MR MHLONTLE:   The response we had to  w i th  the  Aud i t  

and R isk  Commi t tee  was we –  was tha t  we th ink  i f  they  

have issues they  shou ld  be  ab le  to  ra ise  those issues in  

the  normal  course  o f  bus iness.    20 

Beg inn ing  to  re fer  to  suspens ion  and beg inn ing  to  

impact  the  employer  employee re la t ionsh ip  to  ear l y  in  the  

process was –  was someth ing  tha t  we were  no t  expect ing  

and we were  expect ing  to  bu i ld  a  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  

board  l i ke  we had a  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  the  p rev ious  board .   
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Hav ing  a  re la t ionsh ip  i s  a  bus iness is  a  re la t ionsh ip  –  

const ruc t i ve  re la t ionsh ip  as  in tended to  p ro tec t  the  

bus iness fo rward .    

So i f  we come to  the  po in t  where  they were  

in tend ing  to  recommend to  the  board  fo r  our  suspens ion  

pend ing  an inves t iga t ion  bu t  a lso  a t  the  same t ime  mak ing  

a  who le  host  o f  a l legat ions obv ious ly  someth ing  was amiss  

in  tha t .    

E i ther  you got  i ssues wh ich  is  go ing  to  be  –  you are  

go ing  to  have a  conf i rmato ry  inves t iga t ion  wh ich  wou ld  no t  10 

take  tha t  long or  you do not  have  issues.   But  we were  in  

th is  d i f f i cu l t  p rocess.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now in  your  a f f idav i t  you re fer  to  

concerns you ra ised w i th  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  

about  the  process tha t  was be ing  fo l lowed compared w i th  

your  no rmal  –  the  normal  p rac t ice  o f  d iscuss ions between  

d i f fe ren t  fo rmal  meet ings.   What  does tha t  re la te  to?  

MR MHLONTLE:   The concern  I  ra ised w i th  the  Aud i t  

Commi t tee  was the  fac t  tha t… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sor ry  jus t  ho ld  on  a  moment .    20 

MR MHLONTLE:   The concern  tha t  I  had w i th  the  Aud i t  and 

R isk  Commi t tee  was the  d i rec t ion  the  who le  i ssue was 

about  to  take  and  I  cou ld  sense – and I  was caut ion ing  the  

Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  to  say where  there  a re  i ssues 

they a re  no t  normal ly  hand led  in  th is  way.    
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They wou ld  have  to  – you come in  here ;  you are  

board  –  we are  board  members  over  and above be ing  Aud i t  

and R isk  Commi t tee  i f  you  got  i ssues you shou ld  be  ab le  to  

channe l  you r  quest ions v ia  the  CEO,  the  execut ives  have  

to  respond to  those quest ions.    

You wou ld  no rmal ly  have spec ia l  –  even spec ia l  

Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  or  spec ia l  board  meet ings to  

dea l  w i th  i ssues tha t  the  board  i t  does not  fu l l y  apprec ia te .   

And I  –  my concern  was where  th is  was go ing  wh ich  

eventua l l y  went  the  same –  the  very  d i rec t ion  tha t  I  was  10 

concerned about .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id  you then o r  have you s ince  

unders tand o r  have you s ince  unders tood what  exact ly  was 

–  you were  be ing  accused in  hav ing  mis led  the  board  or  

hav ing  mis led  the  Min is te rs  o f  F inance and  Pub l ic  

Enterp r ises,  Nedbank and o ther  s takeho lde rs?  

MR MHLONTLE:   Cha i r  there  were  e leven months  in  wh ich 

Dene l  had to  demonst ra te  to  me and my co l leagues as  to  

how they m ight  have mis led  any par ty  in  the  process.   And 

as  I  ind ica ted  yesterday there  were  th ree  in te rac t ions 20 

where  i t  was pe rson to  person w i th  myse l f  inc luded was a  

med ia t ion  in  February ;  was a  p re l im ina ry  d iscuss ion  i n  

Apr i l ;  there  was  another  p re l im inary  d iscuss ion  in  Ju l y  

wh ich  is  ten  months  down the  l ine  and las t l y  obv ious ly  was 

the  in te rac t ion  re la t ing  to  [00 :25 :44] .   And I  –  and we  
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constant ly  s ta ted  tha t  any aspect  re la t ing  to  th is  

t ransact ion  we can answer.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now –  now i f  you look aga in  a t  page 

661 wh ich  bears  the  name and apparent ly  s igna ture  o f  

Mpho Kgomongwe someone has wr i t ten  be low tha t  

“He d id  no t  s ign  the  acknowledgement  o f  

the  rece ip t  o f  the  le t te r  and he ind ica ted  

tha t  he  needs to  sk ip  over  i t  –  s leep over  i t  

I  beg your  pardon  –  s leep over  i t  and he w i l l  

respond tomorrow a t  the  meet ing  a t  1700  10 

hours . ”  

Now you have ment ioned ea r l ie r  tha t  you were  to ld  you had 

24 hours  to  respond.   I f  you  can  look a t  paragraph 19 i t  

spec i f i ca l l y  says tha t  you inv i ted  to  a t tend a  board  meet ing  

or  schedu led  fo r  1700 hours  tha t  next  day the  23 r d  

September  where in  you a re  inv i ted  to  p resent  your  reasons 

why the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  shou ld  no t  ask  the  

board  to  suspend you.   So you had –  you had about  24  

hours  t o  respond to  the  Aud i t  and R isk  Commi t tee  and a l so  

to  make represen ta t ions to  the  board  i t se l f  why you shou ld  20 

not  be  suspended .   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLE:   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now is  tha t  your  handwr i t ing  a t  the  

bo t tom where  i t  says :  

“He d id  no t  s ign  an  acknowledgement  o f  
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rece ip t  o f  the  le t te r ”  

Or  was tha t  somebody e l se?  

MR MHLONTLE:   I  suspect  i t  was Mpho ’s  handwr i t ing  

Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And is  i t  cor rec t  tha t  you wou ld  no t  

s ign  to  acknowledge rece ip t  o f  the  le t te r?  

MR MHLONTLE:   I  was take  –  so  taken aback by  the  –  th is  

le t te r  tha t  I  had to  re f lec t  and th ink  what  does i t  mean i f  I  

acknowledge rece ip t  o f  th is .   I  thought  I  wou ld  no t  use  the  

word  i r regu lar  bu t  i t  was out  o f  the  ord inary.   I  had 10 

employer  –  emp loyee/employer  re la t ionsh ip  and w i thout  

any pr io r  in te rac t ion  to  tha t  wou ld  have ind i ca ted  any 

misg i v ings to  a l l  o f  a  sudden be g iven a  le t te r  l i ke  th is .   I  

apo log i se  I  dec l ined to  s ign  i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   D id  you respond dur ing  the  Aud i t  and  

R isk  Commi t tee  meet ing  on  the  22n d  as  to  whether  you fe l t  

tha t  there  was ac tua l l y  anyth ing  wrong w i th  the  LSSA 

t ransact ion?  

MR MHLONTLE:   A t  tha t  meet ing  engagements  were  ve rba l  

cer ta in ly  no t  m inuted but  I  s ta ted  to  the  Aud i t  and R isk  20 

Commi t tee  tha t  there  is  no th ing  wrong w i th  the  t ransact ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And a f te r  the  meet ing  –  a f te r  you  

were  g iven a  copy o f  th is  le t te r  tha t  you wou ld  no t  s ign  fo r  

d id  you then respond to  the  le t te r?  

MR MHLONTLE:   As  –  I  th ink  I  wou ld  have covered 
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somewhere  in  my  a f f idav i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR MHLONTLE:   The po in t  tha t  we wro te  a  jo in t  le t te r  w i th  

Mr  Sa loo jee ,  Ms A f r i ca  and myse l f  tha t  we broad ly  po in ted  

out  tha t  the re  was no need fo r  suspens ion .   Suspens ion  

o f ten  ar ises  under  cer ta in  c i r cumstances.   We fe l t  tha t  the  

issues a t  hand cou ld  be  addressed.  We asked tha t  we be 

g iven more  t ime as  much as  the  board  i t  m igh t  have taken  

s ix  weeks to  f igu re  ou t  th is  k ind  o f  le t te r  we wou ld  need  

more  t ime –  more  than a t  leas t  more  than the  24  hours  to  10 

f rame . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  and also,  i t  was qui te clear that  we 

would have to consul t  legal ly for some backing because the 

di rect ion in terms of  where th is was going,  was qui te c lear.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now what happened on the 23r d?  Your 

aff idavi t  refers to a meet ing that  you at tended again wi th the 

Audi t  and Risk Commit tee before the board started.   Is that  

correct? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes,  on the 23r d meet ing,  there was a 

meet ing at  17:00 wi th the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee,  which 

we had al ready an hour or so before that ,  we had sent  our  20 

broad response and the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee was 

point ing out  that  i t  is a pi ty that  they gave us an opportuni ty 

to respond to these al legat ions.    

 And because we have not  responded, i t  would proceed 

to engage to the board to make the recommendat ion that  we 
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be suspended.  On that  day,  later on,  the members of  the 

board,  some of  the members of  the board,  jo ined the 

meet ing.   We were cal led into the meet ing on by one.    

 We were told that  the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee. . .  we 

were given an opportuni ty by Audi t  and Risk Commit tee 

which we have not  responded and therefore we would be 

suspended.   

 But  interest ingly,  that  there is a  document that  got  

served in  that  session that  had al ready or  was al ready 

appoint ing who would act  in my posi t ion.    10 

 Gave me a l i t t le background of  the individual  and 

al ready f raming who would be act ing in the posi t ion of  the 

CEO highl ight ing how many years he had been with the 

company,  et  cetera,  et  cetera.    

 And last  point  is,  the fact  that  the individual  who would 

be act ing as the CEO was in the bui ld ing even. . .   I  mean,  

th is went on into the night .   We were effect ively  suspended 

around ten.    

 The individual  was in  the bui ld ing and when he jo ined us 

at  some stage because we were si t t ing outside the board 20 

meet ing,  he stated that . . .  we asked why he was hanging 

around.   

 He said:   No,  he is hanging around because the chair  

had told him that  there would be a b ig announcement.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Who are you referr ing to there? 
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MR MHLONTLO :    The. . .  Zwelakhe.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Zwelakhe? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Zwelakhe. . .   Mr Zwelakhe Ntshepe.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Ntshepe? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And was he then in fact  appointed as 

Act ing Group Chief  Execut ive Off icer when Mr Saloojee was 

then suspended? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And who were you replaced by in an 10 

act ing capaci ty as Group Chief  Financial  Off icer?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Mr Odwa Mhlwana.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now I  just  want to take you back.   You 

said that  the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee said i t  was a pi ty that  

you have not  responded with  reasons why you should not  be 

suspended.  Have you given reasons why you should not  be 

suspended and i f  not ,  why not?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Wel l ,  we were seeking to extend the,  I  

suppose,  the grace per iod we had been provided,  which we 

were g iven 24-hours.   We said:   Look,  you certainly. . .   Look,  20 

six week in which to f rame and put  forward al l  o f  these 

issues.    

 We are asking you to afford us f ive days in which we wi l l  

th ink through a response.   Certainly,  where we si t  to the 

extent  that  the responses are al l . . .    
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 Can be a verbal  engagement wi th the board,  we are 

qui te happy to do so but  i f  we are going to comprehensively  

respond to al l  the points that  you are making,  we need a bi t  

of  t ime.   

 And we went out  to point  out  that  there is not  a need for 

our suspension.   We fel t  i t  was prematurely.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So on the 23r d you had this meet ing 

wi th the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee.   You referred to that  

being fol lowed by the ful l  board meet ing.   Correct?  

MR MHLONTLO :    By. . .   I  am not  certain that  al l  the 10 

members of  the board jo ined but  certainly the major i ty of  the 

members of  the board jo ined.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  i t  was a meet ing of  the board as 

f rom the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee that  al ready met  

separately.  

MR MHLONTLO :    I  would sum i t  to that  way.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And were you suspended at  the end of  

that  meet ing?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now I  would l ike to take you p lease in  20 

the bundle to page 677.   This is the let ter f rom the at torneys,  

Zor ina(?) Olele(?)  at  page 677.   And i t  appears that  Ms Olele 

was act ing at  your at torney as wel l  as that  of  Mr Saloojee 

and Ms Afr ica.    

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  correct?  

MR MHLONTLO :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    What was the purpose of  th is le t ter?  I t  

was sent  on the 25t h of  September,  is that  r ight?  

MR MHLONTLO :    I t  is.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what  was the purpose of  th is  

let ter?  

MR MHLONTLO :    The way I  read the let ter  is  that  by 

enlarge he is asking for a fa i r  and reasonable opportuni ty. . .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  can I  take you to paragraph 3 10 

then?  Is that  what . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLONTLO :    Ja,  I  am actual ly looking at  paragraph 3.   

Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   So they have requested,  that  is 

yourselves.  

MR MHLONTLO :    H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    A fai r  and reasonable opportuni ty to do 

this,  to make representat ions includ ing a br ief  extension unt i l  

the 30t h of  September 2015.   Also taking into account the 

24t h of  September was a publ ic hol iday.    20 

 And that  they are ent i t led to seek legal  advice and be 

represented for the MOI.   And then i t  refers to the at t i tude of  

the Audi t  and Risk Commit tee.    

 And then there is a complaint  in paragraph 5 about. . .   

You are having a fundamental  problem with the logic and 
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fa i rness of  the at tack on their  credibi l i ty and procedural  

r ights.  

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Then i t  sets out  reasons.   And then i t  

refers to paragraph 68. . .   Page 680,  paragraph 8.    

“Regret table and al l  the ci rcumstances,  our cl ients 

are compel led to come to a conclusion that  nei ther  

the A&R Commit tee,  nor the board members present  

at  thei r  suspension have any interest  in observing 

procedural  fa i rness or learning the object ive facts 10 

and accept ing the pr inciple of  innocent unt i l  proven 

gui l ty. ”  

 Did that  ref lect  your opinion at  the t ime?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Precisely.   Thank you.   Ja,  i t  is.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Have you changed your opinion as you 

si t  now or is that  st i l l  your opinion?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Many years since this happened.  I  have 

moved on.   I t  is just  a p i ty I  have had to go through this 

process.   And i t  is  behind me.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Then in  paragraph 9,  your  at torney 20 

says on your behal f :  

“Going forward in  the mot ivat ion for suspension,  the 

A&R Commit tee indicates that  legal  counsel  wi l l  be 

further engaged to complete the invest igat ion. ”  

 9.1:  
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“Given that  the commit tee and the board clear ly  

seeks our cl ient ’s dismissal  and c lear ly have al ready 

drawn thei r  own conclusions and qui te  apart  f rom 

the untested meri ts of  the matter,  concluded there is  

al ready a breakdown of  t rust ,  which our cl ients 

deny.    

They,  too,  intend to be legal ly represented at  the 

discipl inary inqui ry and welcome the expedi t ious 

f inal isat ion of  the matter. ”  

 I  just  want you to  dwel l  for  a  moment on the assert ion by 10 

your at torney that  i t  appear that  the Audi t  and Risk 

Commit tee and the board had already made up thei r  minds 

that  you were gui l ty and should go or that  the relat ionship of  

t rust  had al ready been broken and this was before any 

discipl inary inquiry being started,  is  that  r ight .  

MR MHLONTLO :    I t  was.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And i t  is correct  that  you did,  in fact ,  

then get  legal  representat ion not  only through your at torney,  

Ms Olele but  has she br iefed on your behal f  senior counsel ,  

Mr Graig White  Pr ingle.   Is that  correct?  20 

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   And then she refers in 

paragraph 10 to a let ter  dated the 23r d September in which 

al ready proposed – i t  referred elsewhere in  your aff idavi t  

Mr Mhlont lo – were you already proposed f inal  and binding 
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arbi t rat ion in  terms of  Sect ion 188(a) of  the LRA s ince they 

are conf ident  that  there are no meri ts to the al legat ions.    

 Now just  to indicate for the benef i t  of  lay people who 

may not  know.  Sect ion 188(a) of  the LRA is a process in  

terms of  which the CCMA can appoint  an independent 

arbi t rator to conduct  a discipl inary inqui ry rather than an 

employer conduct ing i ts own internal  inquiry.   Is th is what  

you were request ing?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes,  correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And why have you proposed that  th is  10 

process should be conducted through an independent 

arbi t rator?  

MR MHLONTLO :    This arose because of  the way everything 

had unfolded and. . .  k ind of  gave the impression that  there is  

a foregone conclusion somewhere to get  r id  of  us,  i f  one 

takes into account that  we were given sort  of  24-hours to 

respond, given that  our opinion for what we deemed as a 

reasonable t ime to respond was not  accepted.    

 Given that  we were then suspended but  just  before we 

were suspended,  we were given an opt ion to  take three 20 

months package.  I t  was qui te  clear that  the process,  i t  may 

not  as fai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Then your at torney cont inues st i l l  in 

paragraph 10:  

“Such a process wi l l  a lso test  the bone f ides of  the 
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charges and the board’s wi l l ingness to expedi te the 

matter.    

I t  is not  appropriate to take a fur ther 90-days to  

invest igate.   

We request  that  you consent to the fol lowing.”  

 And then your at torney makes a request  for example that  

a f inal  charge sheet  be send to you by no later than the 

2n d of  October.   And then there is a request  for  appropriate 

presentat ion t ime.    

 I  th ink four  requests that  independent senior counsel  be 10 

– who is  an expert  in employment matters be appointed a 

chai r.   And then there is reference to Sect ion 188(a) again.   

Was the invest igat ion by Denel ,  was i t  in fact  completed 

wi thin the 90-days?  

[Speaker is not  c lear]  

MR MHLONTLO :    I  am not  certain.   Al l  we are aware of  what 

happened was,  the charge – the updated charge sheet  was 

sent  to us on the 18t h of  December.   Whether  that  was 

informed by invest igat ion or not ,  I  am uncertain.    

 But  also as I  a l luded to yesterday.   The meet ing of  the 20 

22n d  of  Apri l  2016,  sort  of  in the bundle included a let ter that  

suggested that  by the 17t h,  at  least ,  the invest igat ion was not  

concluded and that  invest igat ion had been undertaken by 

Dentons law f i rm.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you were,  in fact ,  contacted by 
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Dentons,  you say in your aff idavi t ,  dur ing the course of  thei r  

invest igat ion.   Is that  correct?  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    That  is correct .  

MR MHLONTLO :    Right .   Now i f  I  can ask you to turn to 

page 686?  This is a further let ter f rom your at torney,  

Ms Olele dated the 1s t  of  October.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Did you say 686? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And I  am not  going to  through a l l  of  the 10 

contents.   I t  can be read wi th i ts own contents.   I t  indicates 

inter al ia that  you chal lenge the lawfulness and fai rness and 

the necessi ty of  a  suspension.   Is that  correct? 

MR MHLONTLO :    That  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And i t  a lso indicated that  your  

procedural  r ights have been vio lated.   Is that  correct?  

MR MHLONTLO :    That  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And i t  a lso asks for a  response to the 

ear l ier let ter  of  the 25t h of  September that  we have just  

looked at  ear l ier in some detai l  of  which there had not  yet  20 

been a response.   Did you cooperate wi th the Dentons’ 

invest igat ive team?  

MR MHLONTLO :    We cooperated fu l ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now I  would l ike you please to take – I  

th ink you go to  page 663 earl ier  in the bundle.   That  appears 
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to be a let ter received on the 18t h  of  December 2015 and 

apparent ly s igned by Mr Mantsha who, at  that  stage,  was the 

chairperson of  Denel .   I f  you see on page 668,  his  name is  

typed in and what  appears to be a signature,  appears.   Have 

you received this let ter?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes.   Yes,  we d id.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And is th is effect ively a charge sheet?  

MR MHLONTLO :    I t  is e ffect ively a charge sheet ,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink I  d id not  hear the page correct ly  10 

Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  starts at  page 663.  

CHAIRPERSON :    663? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay thank you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And the signature appears on page 

668.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Were you. . .   Were there any 

explanat ion given to you that  despi te your at torney’s request  20 

that  the charges be f inal ised wi thin a br ief  per iod or the 

invest igat ion be f inal ised wi thin a br ief  per iod,  why only 

three months later,  approximately,  two-and-a-hal f  months 

later  on the 18t h  of  December were you g iven this  charge 

sheet?  
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MR MHLONTLO :    There was no explanat ion.   In fact ,  i t  was 

almost  close to three months,  given that  we were suspended 

on the 23r d,  a lmost  l ike three days before or four days before 

the – i t  is three months,  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you have referred in your aff idavi t  

and you have given evidence yesterday also about requests 

for documents f rom Denel .   What  documents were you or 

your legal  team request ing f rom Denel  for purposes of  

preparing for the discipl inary inquiry?  

MR MHLONTLO :    The normal process would be a bundle of  10 

evidence comprising of  th is let ter cross-referenced to 

var ious documents that  the employer is rely ing on to make 

their  case and which is  a  standard in the sort  of 

employer/employee sort  of  d isputes or discipl inary 

processes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I f  you look at  page 667,  paragraph 4.   

I t  ind icates that :  

“Denel  v iews the al legat ions very ser iously and 

because they are so ser ious,  i f  you are to be found 

gui l ty at  the discipl inary inqui ry,  Denel  wi l l  request  20 

that  a st rong act ion be taken against  you which may 

include dismissal . ”    

 So you were aware,  were you Mr Mhlont lo,  that  th is was 

of  a ser ious nature and could lead to your dismissal?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes,  I  was.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    May I  just  ask?  Apart  f rom your  

dismissal ,  i f  you were found gui l ty  of  the charges that  you 

had mislead the board and you had mis lead two ministers of  

the Nat ional  Cabinet  and you had mislead Nat ional  Treasury 

and other ent i t ies,  i f  you had been found gui l ty of  those 

offences,  apart  f rom just i fy ing your dismissal  f rom Denel ,  

would that  have had any consequences for your future?  

MR MHLONTLO :    As I  stated yesterday.   I  am a CA who for  

the longest  of  t ime, I  was in pract ise as an accountant .   I  am 

assuming the legal  processes,  maybe, do not  real ly  end up 10 

anywhere,  at  the very least ,  I  would lose my CA sort  of  

membership and i t  would impact  my career.    

 So i t  was important  and we insisted along al l  the way 

that  Denel  must  prove i ts case.   I t  was cr i t ical  and important  

for us to go through the process.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you ment ioned yesterday also that  

what then happened was that  instead of  the discipl inary 

process start ing at  an ear ly stage,  there was a mediat ion 

process.   Correct?  

MR MHLONTLO :    That  is correct .   There was a mediat ion 20 

process on the 8t h  of  February.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Can I  take you to page 691,  please?  

MR MHLONTLO :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    This is a document headed:  Points to  

be ra ised by execut ives dur ing the mediat ion of  
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8 February 2016.  Who is  – is th is a document that  you and 

your col leagues,  Mr Saloojee and Ms Af r ica prepared?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes,  correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what  was the purpose of  th is  

document?  

MR MHLONTLO :    I t  was sort  of  a document that  was guiding 

us in terms of  what points we wanted to put  across to the 

mediator which we understood the mediator would be 

engaging us and the representat ives of  the board  So these 

were the points that  we went through.   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now.. .   But  d id you actual ly table th is 

at  the mediat ion?  

MR MHLONTLO :    We did not  table i t  but  we read this  at  the 

mediat ion. .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry,  just  speak up a bi t  p lease.  

MR MHLONTLO :    We read.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Oh,  you read i t  out?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Ja,  we read i t  out  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And the mediat ion was chaired by 

outside senior counsel ,  is that  r ight?  20 

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes,  correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now I  would l ike to. . .   I  am not  

going to go through the detai l  but  on page 694,  you set  out  a  

conclusion and your paragraph 20 reads:  

“From our perspect ive,  the issues before us are,  
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therefore,  not  about  what we extensively had or had 

not  done but  rather what the intent ion and act ions of  

th is new board have been. ”  

 What do you mean by that?  Denel  have raised what  

appears to be ser ious al legat ions of  misconduct  including 

effect ive ly misrepresent ing things to the board and to the 

ministers and Nat ional  Treasury and the l ike.   These were 

ser ious al legat ions.    

 Why were you saying this?  This does not  real ly  seem to 

actual ly have to deal  wi th what we extensively have or have 10 

not  done but  rather  the intent ion and act ion of  the new 

board.   What did you mean by that?  

MR MHLONTLO :    The concern that  we had was,  the new 

board,  that  i t  come in.   The new board that  in being in off ice 

roughly six weeks or so has summarised what  we had 

presented to  them as management  in the normal course into 

what would term i t  maybe more prima fac ie  case.   

 And i t  was very clear  and communicated to us al l  the 

way that  the intent  is that  we just  exist (?) the business.   On 

day one of  the meet ing which was more of  a coordinat ing 20 

because that  intend was made very clear.    

 At  the meet ing of ,  around the 19t h of  January,  where 

A&R met wi th the at torney of  the employer and met wi th 

Advocate Kassim who was to chai r  our discipl inary and 

purgatory process,  a representat ive of  the employer made i t  
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very clear that  the outcome they are wishing to achieve is  

that  we must exist .    

 So i t  was qui te c lear.   So we – that  point  ta lks to how 

the process had happened and what we were reading to the 

intend of  the board.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now the clear intent  on the part  of  the 

board that  you should be exi t ,  that  was stated before the 

discipl inary inqui ry had been started,  let  a lone f in ish.   Is that  

r ight?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Before there was even suspension i tsel f ,  10 

the fact  that  we had an opt ion to  accept  – resign af ter(?) 

three months,  was made clear in the interact ions between 

our at torneys and the at torneys of  the employer,  that  point  

was made clear.   So hence we made th is part icular point .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Do you bel ieve. . .   Was your impression 

and bel ieve f rom how you were t reated,  that  the board was 

genuinely concerned that  you had commit ted misconduct  by 

misleading the board or are you suggest ing that  there were 

some other hidden mot ive?  

MR MHLONTLO :    In our v iew, is that  charges were wri t ten.   20 

I t  d id not  real ly matter whether there was substance behind 

those charges or not ,  to achieve a speci f ic outcome.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Was there substance to the charges 

Mr Mhlont lo?  

MR MHLONTLO :    We wi l l  deal  wi th them in the – in my 
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aff idavi t  and we cont inue to maintain there is no basis for 

the charges.   There was no basis that  then to cont inue 

. . . [ indist inct ]   

[Speaker not  c lear]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is then in your statement for purposes 

of  the mediat ion at  page 694.   You deal  in paragraph 21 wi th  

your desi re that  the new shareholder. . .   Sorry,  that :  

“The shareholder,  the new Minister of  Publ ic  

Enterpr ises,  be t ransparent  and accountable for  

what has happened in Denel  af ter  her appointment  10 

of  the new board”.    

 Which minister was that?  

MR MHLONTLO :    I t  Minister Lynne Brown.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And why were you making this point?  

MR MHLONTLO :    There had been a press coverage before 

that ,  f i rst  t ime, where the minister  had gone to press and 

said she had not  been br iefed as to our suspension.   So 

hence were making th is part icular point .   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Then you say in paragraphs 22 and 23:  

“We have a clear and unequivocal  v iew that  we were 20 

unfai r ly suspended.   

We want in  no uncertain terms to be reinstated and 

for a publ ic apology to be made that  acknowledges 

our innocence,  our integr i ty and our commitment to  

Denel .  
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We are ready and prepared to  pursue the process to 

i ts logical  conclus ion.  

We want to re i terate that  we are commit ted 

employees of  Denel .  

We have always conducted ourselves wi th integr i ty  

and in the best  interest  of  Denel ,  i ts employees,  

SANDF and our count ry.”  

 When you sa id here Mr Mhlont lo that  we are ready and 

prepared to pursue the process to i ts log ical  conclusion.   

What were you meaning there?  Is that  the d iscipl inary 10 

process?  

MR MHLONTLO :    In the employer/employee disputes or  

issues.   The start ing point  is a discipl inary process.   So in  

our view, is that  we were going to  go through a discipl inary 

process.   The mediat ion was one aspect  of  i t .   In the event  

that  mediat ion is not  successful ,  obviously,  we must  go into 

a discipl inary.    

 But  we went into mediat ion wi th one clear  outcome we 

would to achieve – wanted to achieve.   I t  was to mediate so 

that  we can go back to work.   I f  i t  is  not  mediated and i t  is 20 

not  successful ,  then we would go to discipl inary where we 

were happy to subject  ourselves to the process.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now your aff idavi t  then deals – I  am 

not  going to go into detai l  Chai r  – but  your aff idavi t  deals 

wi th the process that  fo l lowed.  That  mediat ion session – the 
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mediat ion did not  produce any outcome in  the sense of  any 

agreement or any resolut ions.   Is that  r ight?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what fo l lowed then was a ser ies of  

correspondence that  is referred to  in your aff idavi t  deal ing 

wi th repeated requests for documents and the convening of  

the discipl inary hear ing.    

“Ul t imately,  I  understand that  the disc ipl inary 

hearing was to  be chaired by Mr Terrar ia Rector  

Mafuki tze(?) . ”  10 

 Is that  r ight?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then,  i f  I  can take you to page 

711.   That  is rul ing f rom the chai r,  correct?  

MR MHLONTLO :    [speaker not  c lear – away f rom 

microphone]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    In fact ,  h is rul ing indicates that  i t  is  

dated the 12t h of  July.   Sorry,  i t  is dated the 13t h of  July but  

re lates to a hearing on the 12t h of  July.   But  i t  a lso indicates 

in paragraph 1 at  page 711 that :  20 

“There was in i t ia l  hearing on the 22n d of  Apr i l  which 

deal t  wi th a prel iminary issue which was argued by 

both sides counsel . ”  

 Is that  r ight?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    And i t  re lated to the product ion of  

documents requested by you f rom the employer.   Correct?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So as at  Apri l  2016,  you or your  

at torneys were st i l l  asking for documents f rom Denel .  

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Am I  correct  in understanding that  you 

were now facing a discipl inary hear ing separate f rom that  

f rom Mr Saloojee and Ms Afr ica?  

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And then the chairperson says 

in paragraph 1 to 3.   He says that  he made the fol lowing 

ru l ing af ter the hear ing of  the 22nd of  Apr i l  at  the foot  of  the 

page:  

“Within seven business days of  th is rul ing the 

employer shal l  produce copies of  the fol lowing 

documents.”  

 And then he sets out  the var ious documents that  have to  

be provided which included reference to the Dentons report .   

In relat ion to that  in paragraph 14,  he made the fol lowing 20 

ru l ing.  

“ Insofar as the Dentons repor t  is concerned,  

Mr Bana.. . ”  

 Is that  senior counsel  for Denel  who was involved in  the 

discipl inary hearing?  
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MR MHLONTLO :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

“ . . .he stated on record that  the report  was not  the 

basis of  the charges and therefore was i rrelevant . ”  

 He further stated that :  

“The report  was not  yet  ready.   The employee was 

[noise interference]  by Dentons and gave whatever  

informat ion he had to give.    

I  do not  th ink that  the report ’s relevance has been 

proven.   I t  is speculat ive that  i t  would serv ice 10 

evidence of  the employee’s innocence.    

The employer can only be ordered to make avai lable 

such documents as are in  i t s  possess ion . ”  

So he ru led  tha t  the  employer  shou ld  prov ide  some 

documents  tha t  you have requested but  the  Dentons ’ repor t  

he  was not  sa t i s f ied  tha t  i t  needed to  be  prov ided,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?    

MR MHLONTLO:    I t  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    A t  th is  s tage o f  th is  ru l ing ,  Mr  Mhlont lo ,  

you had not  come in to  possess ion  o f  the  le t te r  f rom the  20 

Cha i rperson o f  the  board  to  the  company secre tary  

ins t ruc t ing  her  to  ge t  Dentons to  substant ia te  the  charges,  

tha t  had not  happened ye t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    That  had not  happened as  ye t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Yes,  Mr  Kennedy?  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now these documents  tha t  were  

ordered to  be  p roduced by  the  employer,  d id  they ge t  

supp l ied  to  you?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The reason why the  sess ion  on  the  18  

Ju l y  cou ld  no t  rea l l y  go t  fa r  because those documents  were  

no t  in  p lace ,  there  were  reams and reams o f  some 

documents  bu t  they were  no t  coherent ,  I  mean they  d id  no t  

make sense,  they  were  no t  pa r t  o f  pu l l ing  the  f i le  together  

to  substant ia te  the  charges.   So  on the  22 n d ,  g i ven tha t  

those documents  had been requested way back were  no t  in  10 

p lace on the  22n d   -  were  no t  in  p lace  by  the  18  Ju ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now i f  I  can  take  you to  page 715,  

d iscuss ion  in  pa rag raph 23 about  whether  the  hear ing  

cou ld  p roceed and you re l iance on an a l leged r i gh t  to  be  

consu l ted  be fore  the  da tes  are  se t .   You re fer  to  the  fac t  

tha t  your  counse l  was ava i lab le  on  par t i cu la r  da tes  bu t  the  

a t to rney was unava i lab le  on  some dates ,  e tce tera .   So was  

there  in  fac t  an  a rgument  about  whether  the  hear ing  shou ld  

proceed on the  mer i t s  o f  the  d isc ip l inary  charges?  

MR MHLONTLO:    There  was no –  I  mean,  on  our  s ide ,  we  20 

a lways wanted the  d isc ip l ina ry  to  take  p lace t imeous ly.   We 

a lways ins is ted  tha t  be fore  t he  process i t se l f  go t  to  be  a  

bund le  o f  documents  so  tha t  we can prepare  ou rse lves and  

cer ta in ly  the  f i rs t  da te  tha t  was se t  was tha t  o f  25  January  

2016.    
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The sess ion  cou ld  no t  s i t  because there  were  no  

documents  prov ided,  there  was no f i le  and because there  

were  no  documents  there  were  no  f i les .   In  the  d iscuss ion  

be tween the  a t to rneys was tha t  maybe –  i t  jus t  maybe f ind  

a  med ia t ion  wh ich  cou ld  be  an eas ie r  p rocess and went  

th rough a  med ia t ion .   That  d id  no t  y ie ld  anyth ing .   They 

now changed the i r  s t ra tegy and wanted to  quest ion  me on 

the  va l id i t y  o f  my cont rac t  somet ime in  March and be ing  

po in ted  out  tha t  tha t  i s  no t  the i r  competency,  then  moved 

in to  the  22  Ju ly.      10 

So th is  po in t  about  ag ree ing  dates ,  i t  i s  impor tan t  

because th is  th ing  was jus t  no t  coming to  an  end and the  

pro fess iona ls  tha t  were  ass i s t ing  me,  they had the i r  own  

d ia r ies  to  manage.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r,  I  have  not iced tha t  the  cop ies  

tha t  the  w i tness has a t tached to  h is  a f f idav i t  o f  th is  ru l ing  

document  on ly  –  i f  you  looked a t  the  typed page numbers 

a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page,  i t  comes f rom 1  to  3 ,  3  to  5,  

e tce te ra ,  i t  appears  tha t  the  even ly  numbered pages have 

been missed in  the  photocopy ing  process.   Maybe a f te r  20 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  see there  is  no  page tu rn .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  in  fac t  i t  looks  l i ke  a l l  o f  the 

even numbered pages are  m iss ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    I f  we can under take w i th  the  

ass is tance o f  the  w i tness or  f rom Dene l  o r  the i r  a t to rneys  

to  ob ta in  a  comp le te  copy and then have a  supp lementa ry  

a f f idav i t  s igned by  Mr  Mhlont lo  jus t  to  cor rec t  tha t .   I f  tha t  

can be done?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  tha t  i s  f ine .   That  shou ld  be  

done.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  th ink  your  team must  jus t  check  

whethe r  there  are  any o ther  documents  wh ich  su f fe r  f rom 10 

the  same defec t s .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  tha t  they can be ident i f ied  and  

cor rec ted  as  we l l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  w i l l  be  done,  Cha i r.   Thank you.   

Mr  Mhlont lo ,  the  end o f  the  ru l ing  a t  page 719 se ts  ou t  the  

dec is ion  o f  Makoekets i (? )  the  Cha i rperson.   H is  ru l ing  on  

the  Denton repor t   remained unchanged,  the  hear ing  was 

se t  down then fo r  –  tha t  was se t  down fo r  the  or ig ina l  

da tes  in  Ju ly  was postponed.   He re fe rs  to  the  par t ies  20 

be ing  expected to  t ry  and agree f resh  hear ing  da tes  fo r  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  and i f  there  cou ld  no t  be  agreement  

the  employer  cou ld  then se t  down the  da te  in  consu l ta t ion  

w i th  the  Cha i r  to  ensure  h i s  ava i lab i l i t y  and then i t  re fe rs  

to  you p rov id ing  the  bund le  o f  your  documents  as  we l l .  
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 Now u l t imate ly  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing ,  as  you to ld  

the  Cha i r  yes terday,  s t i l l  d id  no t  take  p lace eve r,  i s  tha t  

r igh t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The d isc ip l inary  as  a  proper  d i sc ip l inary  

never  took p lace.   On the  18 t h  we s t i l l  a rgued  about  

documents ,  we s t i l l  a rgued about  bund le  o f  documents .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR MHLONTLO:    The argument  about  the  po in t  tha t  there  

is  nowhere  where  the  employer  has proven gu i l t  and the  

meet ing  was then postponed to  the  3  August  2016 wh ich  10 

was the  da te  o f  the  loca l  government  e lec t ions and  i t  never  

–  I  suppose I  wou ld  s t rugg led  to  vo te  i f  I  had a  d i sc ip l ina ry  

on  tha t  day bu t  never  go t  there .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now your  a f f idav i t  re fe rs  to  your  

hav ing  rece ived some documents  a t  the  hear ing  in  Apr i l  

2015 when Dene l  had g iven a  lever  a rch  f i le  w i th  some 

documents  wh ich  inc luded a  pa r t i cu la r  document  tha t  you 

re fer red  to  and then a t tached to  your  a f f idav i t  a t  page 721.   

Now th is  i s  a  le t te r  –  you have 721?   

MR MHLONTLO:    Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    th is  i s  a  le t te r  i t  appears  f rom Mr  

Mantsha,  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  board ,  on  the  17  

December  2015  addressed to  Ms Legoabe,  the  ac t ing  

company secre tary.  

MR MHLONTLO:    Yes.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    And the  Cha i rperson requests  he r  – 

was she the  person who rep laced in  an  ac t ing  capac i ty  Ms  

A f r i ka?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And he requests  he r  in  paragraph 1  

to :  

“Furn ish  us  w i th  a  dra f t  charge sheet  so  tha t  we can  

se t t le  as  we need to  have the  charges se rved up  

the  suspended employees before  c lose  o f  bus iness  

tomorrow the  18  December. ”  10 

We have a l ready  seen the  charge sheet  tha t  was  in  fac t  

served on you on  the  18  December,  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Then he says in  pa ragraph 2 :  

And fu r ther  request  you to  ins t ruc t  our  lawyers  to  

d ra f t  a  se t t lement  p roposa l  o f  th ree  months  

payment  in  fu l l  and f ina l  to  the  th ree  suspended 

employees.  The  le t te r  fo r  se t t lement  must  be  

de l i vered tomorrow wi th  the  charge sheet  and 

fu r the r,  w i th  a  le t te r  in fo rm ing  them tha t  the i r  20 

suspens ion  is  ex tended unt i l  the  f ina l i sa t ion  o f  the  

hear ing . ”  

Now you have ment ioned in  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  when you  

p icked up th is  le t te r  tha t  appeared in  documents  p rov ided 

by  management ’s  representa t i ves  in  Apr i l  you  found i t  
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s ign i f i can t  tha t  there  was ment ion  no t  on ly  o f  the  charge  

sheet  bu t  a l so  the  se t t lement  p roposa l .   What  s ign i f i cance 

do you a t tach  to  tha t  fac t ,  Mr  Mhlont lo?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I t  i s  a lways a  l i t t le  b i t  o f  a  mystery  tha t  

you wr i te  charges tha t  a re  so  b ig  and have  ser ious  

rami f i ca t ions and  a t  the  same t ime you put  a  caveat  tha t  

says,  you know,  we are  qu i te  keen to  se t t le .   That  i s  one 

po in t .   But  th is  le t te r,  r igh t ly  o r  wrong ly,  the  parag raph 4  o f  

th is  le t te r  w i l l  read –  maybe more  –  fa i r l y  obv ious  maybe a  

h idden mean ing  because tha t  par t i cu la r  paragraph ,  in  our  10 

read ing ,  i t  means  tha t  there  was an e lement  o f  eagerness  

to  have the  process and tha t  repor t  read ing  in  a  cer ta in  

way.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I f  we can read in to  the  reco rd  

parag raph 4  says  to  the  company secre tary :  

“You a re  fu r ther  requested to  in fo rm Dentons tha t  

the i r  repor t  i s  no t  accepted and  request  them to  

prov ide  us  w i th  a  repor t  w i th in  30  days and k ind l y  

d i rec t  them to  prov ide  in fo rmat ion  to  suppor t  the  

charges.   Last ly,  may you reca l l  the  c i rcu la ted  20 

Dentons ’ repor t  and make sure  i t  is  no t  c i r cu la ted . ”  

D id  you ever  see  the  Dentons ’ repor t  tha t  he  has re fer red  

to?  

MR MHLONTLO:    We never  saw i t .   We were  to ld  i t  i s  

never  ready unt i l  the  ve ry  end o f  a  long p rocess.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    And what  d id  you see u l t imate ly?  

Was tha t  the  or ig ina l  Dentons ’ repor t  tha t  appears  to  have  

been re t rac ted  and had to  be  rewr i t ten?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Our  read ing  o f  the  le t te r  i s  tha t  there  

was a  ve rs ion  o f  a  Dentons ’ repor t  tha t  was not  to  the  

sa t is fac t ion  or  was not  in  l ine  w i th  what  the  board  had  

ant ic ipa ted  i t  wou ld  be  and they were  ask ing  fo r  i t  to  be 

re t rac ted ,  where  a lso  the  l ine  tha t  says:  

“K ind ly  d i rec t  them to  prov ide  in fo rmat ion  to  suppor t  

the  charges. ”  10 

I t  sounds a  l i t t le  b i t  suggest ing  tha t  i t  was a  l i t t le  b i t  o f  

massag ing  in  te rms o f  what  d i rec t ion  they shou ld  take  in  

te rms o f  p repar ing  the  repor t  and then aga in ,  i t  re fe r red  to  

the  specu la t ion  tha t  we were  be ing  so r t  o f  e lbowed  out .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Mhlont lo ,  I  want  to  jus t  read out  a  

sentence f rom your  a f f idav i t .   You do not  need to  go  to  i t  

bu t  fo r  the  Cha i r ’s  purposes,  i f  you  need i t ,  Cha i r,  i t  i s  a t  

page 592,  pa ragraph 5 .28 .   And you then comment  on  the  

se t t lement  p roposa l  tha t  the  Cha i rperson has asked the  

company secre tary  to  p repare ,  page 592.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    You sa id  592?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

MR MHLONTLO:    R igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Page  592 pa rag raph 5 .28 .   You say:  

“The Cha i rpe rson goes on to  requ i re  the  Act ing  
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Company Secre ta ry  to  ins t ruc t  our  lawyers  to  d ra f t  

a  se t t lement  p roposa l  o f  th ree  months  payment  in  

fu l l  and f ina l  se t t lement  to  the  th ree  suspended 

employees. ”  

Of  course  we know f rom your  ev idence yesterday tha t  

u l t imate ly  they o f fe red  and you accepted 24 months ’ sa la ry  

p lus  an  incent ive  bonus in  add i t ion  to  the  fac t  tha t  you had 

been on suspens ion  fo r  about  a  year.   What  I  am in te res ted  

in  i s  you r  next  s ta tement ,  Mr  Mhlont lo :  

“What  i s  qu i te  remarkab le  about  th is  i s  tha t  the  10 

charges aga ins t  us  were  s ta ted  in  se r ious te rms  

inc lud ing  re ference to  d ishonesty  and gross 

neg l igence,  then why Dene l  wou ld  in  those 

c i rcumstances seek to  se t t le  the  mat te r  i s  beyond  

comprehens ion . ”  

Now the  Cha i rpe rson has a l ready  asked you to  an  ex ten t  

about  th is  aspect .   I  wou ld  jus t  l i ke  you to  comment  

par t i cu la r l y  about  why you were  d r iven to  say th i s  in  your  

a f f idav i t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    As  I  rea l l y  have po in ted  out  i s  tha t  we 20 

w i l l  s i t  w i th  th is  par t i cu la r  h i s to ry,  s i t  w i th  qu i te  –  charges 

tha t  were  a l leged  tha t  we had done and then every  t ime the 

charges our  la id  ou t  there  was a lways one caveat  tha t  says 

we are  qu i te  happy to  g ive  you some rands and cents  so  

tha t  you d i sappear.   So i f  these charges were  ever  rea l ,  
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why was tha t  the  case?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wou ld  th is  be  a  conven ien t  t ime? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wou ld  th is  be  a  conven ien t  t ime,  

Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  I  th ink  so .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  take  the  tea  ad journment .   We 

wi l l  resume a t  ha l f  past  e leven.   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 10 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay le t  us  cont inue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i rperson.   Mr  Mhlont lo  

we can wrap up th is  sec t ion  o f  your  ev idence i f  you can  

tu rn  to  page 593,  your  a f f idav i t  then re fers  to  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing  tha t  was he ld  on  the  18 t h  o f  Ju ly  bu t  

there  aga in  i t  dea l t  w i th  p re l im inary  i ssues concern ing  

documents  e tce te ra ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?   

MR MHLONTLO:    That  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then you say in  532 tha t  Dene l  20 

was s t i l l  no t  ready to  p rosecute  you on the  charges and so  

then the  mat te r  was postponed aga in  to  the  3 r d  o f  August .  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then you  re fer  in  534 to  what  you  

ment ioned yesterday in  ev idence before  the  cha i r,  tha t  you  
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were  contac ted  by  the  ac t ing  CFO,  the  Groups CFO,  the 

person who was  ac t ing  in  your  pos i t ion ,  Odwa Mhlwana 

who sa id  he  had a  mandate  and you,  u l t imate ly,  in  the 

luncht ime meet ing ,  d iscussed the  se t t lement  tha t  he  

proposed and you u l t imate ly,  se t t led .   May I  ask ,  d id  he  

come wi th  the  24  months  p lus  the  incent ive  bonus as  h i s  

mandate  o r  d id  you have negot ia t ion  back and fo r th  where  

he  s ta r ted ,  fo r  example ,  a t  s ix  months  and you pushed h im  

up to  24  months?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The f i rs t  meet ing  a t  the  Baron in  10 

Woodmead,  he  ind ica ted  tha t  he  had a  manda te ,  he  

ascer ta ined the  per iod  wh ich  was  le f t  o r  wanted to  c la r i f y  

the  per iod  tha t  was le f t  w i th in  my cont rac t  and he asked to  

what  ex ten t  I ’d  be  amenab le  i f  he ’s  seek ing  some 

secondment  w i th in  the  contex t  o f  the  number  o f  months  

tha t  were  s t i l l  le f t ,  rough ly,  a t  tha t  t ime was about  30  

months  whereas,  I  th ink  a t  some s tage,  what  was le f t  in  my 

contac t ,  obv ious ly  was fa r  longer  than tha t  and because o f  

the  pe r iod  I  had  been a t  home the  per iod ,  obv ious l y  had 

reduced and I  ind ica ted  my amenab i l i t y  to  engage  and to  20 

f ind  a  so lu t ion  bu t  whatever  Dene l  had p resented to  me,  up  

un t i l  tha t  po in t ,  was not  acceptab le .  Whether  we ’ re  ta lk ing  

about  th ree  mon ths,  in  some sess ions –  th ree  months  

fea tures  a  lo t  in  these documents  tha t  there  were  

ind ica t ions tha t  the  months  cou ld  be  e igh t  a t  some po in t ,  i t  
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became c lear  i t  cou ld  be  13 wh ich  I  had s ta ted  to  Dene l  

tha t ,  tha t  was not  acceptab le .  So,  he  then went  away,  a  

week la te r  o r  so ,  he  ca l led  me,  we met  a t  Midrand  and a t  

tha t  s tage tha t ’s  where  we had an…[ ind is t inc t  3 .30 ]  tha t  

the  24  months  wou ld  be  okay,  I  wou ld  fo rego,  rough ly,  s ix  

months  or  so  and he sa id  he  wou ld  then engage  on tha t  

w i th  the  pr inc ipa ls  and a  few days –  maybe a  day or  so  

la te r  he  gave me a  ca l l  to  say,  okay we can proceed  on the  

bas is  in  wh ich  we had d i scussed tha t  go t  reduced in to  the  

se t t lement  agreement .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r,  i f  I  may now tu rn  to  dea l  w i th  

o ther  i ssues and spec i f i ca l l y  those ra ised in  the  in i t ia l  

a f f idav i t ,  in  fac t  i t ’s  a  s ta tement  tha t  you f ind  f rom page 

568.   Cha i r  there  are  a  number  o f  sec t ions where  the  

w i tness has ind ica ted ,  in  h is  a f f idav i t ,  tha t  he  had l i t t le ,  i f  

any  invo l vement  in  anyth ing ,  so  tha t  obv ious ly  r i ses  f rom 

quest ions ra i sed by  the  invest iga tors .   Jus t  fo r  the  sake o f  

comple teness I ’ l l  touch on the  ones tha t  may be o f  some 

in te res t  bu t  very,  very  br i e f l y  i f  I  may?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  tha t ’s  f ine .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Jus t  be fore  we get  in to  the  meat  o f  

the  spec i f i c  t ransact ions,  Mr  Mhlont lo ,  you se t  ou t  you r  

p ro fess iona l  background f rom page  569  wh ich  you touched  

on yesterday but  I  jus t  want  to  f i l l  in  a  coup le  o f  gaps.   You 

have a  BComm in  Account ing  Degree and then an Honours  
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in  Account ing ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    That ’s  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then you jo ined the  f i rm EY,  i t  

used to  be  known as Ernest  &  Young and you became – 

you got  accred i ted  as  a  Char te red Accountant  in  2001 and,  

i s  i t  cor rec t ,  you were  a  par tner,  you say in  2006,  in  one o f  

the  b ig  four  account ing  f i rms,  i s  tha t  EY,  d id  you obta in  

par tnersh ip  s ta tus  in  tha t  f i rm? 

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you then  jo ined Dene l  in  October  10 

2008 as  Group  F inanc ia l  D i rec tor  and you became a  

member  o f  the  Dene l  ma in  Board  o f  D i rec tors .  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Unt i l  the  t ime o f  your  res ignat ion .   

Now,  you then dea l ,  in  paragraph th ree  w i th  the  process  

fo l lowed by  DLS,  tha t ’s  the  Dene l  en t i t y,  when award ing  

the  …[ ind i s t inc t  5 .44 ]  cont rac t  to  LMT.  Now,  you ’ve  

cor rec ted ,  in  paragraph 3 .4  a l ready yeste rday,  the  da te  

f rom Apr i l  2009 to  Apr i l  2010.   As  I  unders tand i t  you had 

no rea l  invo lvement  in  the  award  o f  th is  cont rac t  by  DLS to  20 

LMT,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    That  i s  indeed cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   Now,  you were  then  

asked about  –  to  comment  on  the  procedures tha t  Dene l  

fo l lowed in  re la t ion  to  the  advance payment  and in  
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par t i cu la r  R12.7mi l l ion  tha t  was  advanced to  LMT.   You ’ve  

ment ioned in  your  a f f idav i t  tha t  i t ’s  normal  p rac t ice  to  

make advance payments  in  some c i rcumstances  in  the  

de fence indust ry,  to  supp l ie rs .   As  I  unders tand i t ,   you  

were  no t  invo lved in  the  ac tua l  p rocess o f  approv ing  any 

advance payments  to  LMT,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    There  is  one e lement  tha t  we ’ l l  dea l  w i th  

tha t  ta lks  to  tha t  emai l  o f  Apr i l  2010 but  in  te rms o f  

advance payments  o f  any k ind ,  cer ta in ly,  I  was not  invo lved 

in .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  you ment ion  in  parag raph 4 .4  

tha t  you a t tended  a  meet ing  where  the  advance to  LMT was  

ment ioned but  there  were  d i scuss ions tha t  th is  fe l l  w i th in  

DLS Management  ambi t .  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now,  what  I ’m  in te res ted  in ,  i s  your  

parag raph 4 .5 ,  the  foo t  o f  page  572.   I  unders tood the  

advance payment  o f  R12.7mi l l ion  by  DLS Management ,  

suppor ted  by  the  Board  was to  s ta r t  p roduct ion ,  wh ich  is  a  

normal  p rac t ice  in  the  Defence indust ry.   The fo rens i c  20 

invest iga to rs  have,  however,   p resented ev idence tha t  

cont rad i c ts  th i s  unders tand ing  presented to  me an emai l  

cor respondence between DLS Of f i c ia ls  and Managers  o f  

LMT suggest ing  tha t  the  advanced  payment  was made by  

DLS,  main ly  to  ass i s t  LMT a l lev ia te  f inanc ia l  p rob lems tha t  
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were  faced by  the  company a t  the  t ime.   Then DLS 

Management  w i l l  need to  account  fo r  the  cont rad ic t ion .   

The Cha i r  has a l ready heard  ev idence in  re la t ion  to  th is  

advance payment  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  the  ev idence ind ica tes  

tha t ,  in  fac t ,  th is  was not  a  normal  course  advance  

payment  to  a  supp l ie r,  in  the  normal  course  but  in  f ac t ,  was  

to  ass is t  LMT in  i t s  f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies .   From your  

perspect ive ,  as  the ,  a t  one s tage,  the  Group CFO,  can you  

comment  on  whe ther  tha t  was acceptab le  f rom a  Group  

f inanc ing  po in t  o f  v iew? 10 

MR MHLONTLO:    I f  we go back to  4 .4  i t  makes re ference  

to  a  meet ing  tha t  took p lace in  Apr i l  2010,  i t  fu r ther  po in t s  

ou t  tha t  there  was a  d iscuss ion  wh ich  I  then fo l lowed tha t  

by  emai l .   Yesterday as  Mr  P ie t  Knoetze  was address ing  

you,  Cha i r,  th is  emai l  was covered in  de ta i l  where  I  

expressed the  concern  tha t ,  i f  you  are  to  o rde r  th is  tu r re t  

hu l l  f rom LMT but  in  the  same va in  you are  s ta t i ng  tha t  

LMT is  in  f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies  i t  p revents  a  r i sk  to  the  

Group,  t read care fu l l y,  cons ider ing  tha t  th is  i s  a  pub l i c  

ins t i tu t ion  and i f  you rea l l y  fee l ,  w i th in  yourse l f  tha t  you  20 

rea l l y  have to  do  i t ,  make su re  tha t  guarantees are  i n  p lace  

so  tha t ,  in  the  event  tha t  LMT has  any f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies  

as  i s  unab le  to  opera te ,  they are  ab le  to  ex t rac t  the  va lue  

or  the  assets  o r  recover  the  money.   I  never  p re-empted 

tha t  we wou ld  have th is  hear ing  today but  the  leve l  o f  
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ser iousness tha t  I  took ,  tha t  advance payment ,  i t  shows  

tha t ,  tha t  there  was a ,  sor t  o f ,  care  on  my s ide  over  the  

resources tha t  we were  g i ven an oppor tun i ty  to  be  a  

custod ian  o f  a t  the  t ime and tha t  pos i t ion  – and Mr  Knoetze  

goes on to  say,  a  month  la te r,  I  m igh t  have changed my 

mind w i thout  p rov id ing  any ev idence tha t  substant ia tes  tha t  

pos i t ion .   Even i f  we have to  go  to  the  m inutes  o f  tha t  

meet ing ,  cer ta in ly  the  quest ions I  had posed was,  to  what  

ex ten t  they have  s tar ted  to  imp lement  my emai l  and there  

were  ce r ta in  responses but  there  is  nowhere ,  where  I  10 

communica te  tha t  I  was mi racu lous l y  sa t is f ied  tha t  they 

had done a l l  the  th ings they needed to .   G iven the  quantum 

invo lved,  wh ich  is  R12.7mi l l ion ,  i t  was the i r  respons ib i l i t y,  

they  have to  answer  f rom here ,  whether  they pu t  in to  p lace  

a l l  the  th ings tha t  I  thought  tha t  were  bare  m in imum tha t  

we requ i red .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now,  you then p roceed,  f rom page  

573 to  dea l  w i t h  your  response  to  quest ions about  the  

procedures fo l lowed when Dene l  was acqu i r ing  LMT and  

how Mamots i  ended up be ing  a  BEE par tne r.   Were  you 20 

invo l ved in  the  t ransact ions tha t  led  to  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  

LMT? 

MR MHLONTLO:    Be fore ,  Cha i r,  I  respond to  th is  quest ion  

there ’s  anothe r  aspect  tha t ’s  l inked to  tha t  R12.7mi l l ion .   

The R12.7mi l l ion ,  as  pe r  my emai l  was an advance  
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payment  towards  a  product  tha t  was to  be  –  tha t  was 

bought  f rom LMT.   The ev idence yeste rday,  ind ica tes  tha t ,  

even though i t  s ta r ted  tha t  way,  i t  then changed fo rm in to  

someth ing  e l se .   I  was not  par ty,  I  cannot  reco l lec t ,  I  can ’ t  

remember  be ing  par ty  to  someth ing  tha t  I  was so  

concerned w i th  and to  the  ex ten t  tha t  I  documented i t  in  

tha t  fash ion  when i t  changed fo rm to  be ,  tha t  o f  f inanc ia l  

ass is tance.   I f  i t ’s  p roven a t  some po in t  tha t  I  was par t y  to  

i t ,  I  wou ld  have  er red ,  I  wou ld  have made a  m is take  

because Dene l  i s  no t  a  bank to  advance monies  i n  o rder  10 

fo r  some o the r  compan ies  to  escape…[ ind i s t inc t  13 .04 ] .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now,  a t  page  574,  paragraph 5 .6  you 

re fe r,  aga in ,  to  the  advance payment  o f  LMT wh ich  

re f lec ted  as  an  asset  in  the  Dene l  g roup amount ing  to  

R12.7mi l l ion  and  was conver ted  to  equ i ty,  somet ime in  

2013 a longs ide  Mamots i ’s  loan  to  the  LMT Bus iness.   

Convers ion  had a  neut ra l  f inanc ia l  impact  to  the  bus iness  

as  advance payment  asset  was  mere ly  conver ted  to  an 

investment  asset  in  the  books o f  Dene l .   A re  you  say ing  

there ,  tha t  you fee l ,   f rom what  you ’ve  been ab le  to  p ick  up  20 

f rom in fo rmat ion ,  tha t  the  R12.7mi l l ion  was p robab ly  

accounted fo r  as  the  so -ca l led  advance payment  to  LMT? 

MR MHLONTLO:    F rom an account ing  v iew po in t  when  

tha t  money le f t  the  Group as  an  advance payment  i s  

re f lec ted  as  an  asset  i t ’s  no t  expense.  I t ’s  re f lec ted  –  
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here ’s  a  va lue  o f  someth ing  tha t  we ho ld .   A coup le  o f  –  

maybe two years  or  two and a  ha l f  la te r  the  proposa l  tha t ,  

tha t  amount  mus t  now be conver ted  to  equ i ty  i t  s imp ly  

changes the  fo rm.  Ins tead o f  be ing  descr ibed as  s tock  or  

work  in  p rog ress ,  now i t ’s  descr ibed as  an  investment  in  

LMT.   There  is  no  loss  in  the  company there  is  no  loss  in  

the  f i scus.  We had the  issue tha t  i s  p resented to  me by 

invest iga to rs  i s ,  there  are  under l y ing  ag reements  or  

reasons o the r  than what  was presented to  me and tha t  in  

i t se l f  i s  a  p rob lem.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  there  anyth ing  you want  to  add  in  

re la t ion  to  t he  p rocess fo l lowed in  te rms o f  wh ich  Dene l  

purchased the  major i t y  sha reho ld ing  o f  LMT?  Any 

comment  as  to  whether  i t  was regu lar  o r  i r regu lar  in  your  

v iew?  

MR MHLONTLO:    There  was a  genu ine  –  a t  leas t  based on  

the  fac ts  tha t  were  presented and  wou ld  be  the  essent ia l  

message w i th in  the  PFMA app l i ca t ion  tha t  there  was a 

capab i l i t y  tha t  resu l ted  –  res ided w i th in  LMT tha t  was  

requ i red  by  Dene l .  I f  you  go back to  Mr  Mkhwanaz i ’s  20 

tes t imony yesterday,  he  a lso  s ta ted  tha t  even way  back in  

2002 there  was a  v iew tha t  there ’s  capab i l i t y  s i t t ing  in  

Dene l ,  LMT and I  th ink  there  was  another  th i rd  company,  

there  was a  presenta t ion  by  DLS,  tha t  here ’s  a  company 

tha t  has a  capab i l i t y  tha t  complements  ou r  capab i l i t y  and i f  
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i t  were  to  –  i f  a  pos i t ion  tha t  has been,  sor t  o f ,  pu t  ou t  

there  tha t  Dene l  cou ld  take  th is  company a t  zero  cost  and 

i t  wou ld  enhance  i t s  ab i l i t y  to  m i t iga te  any r i sk  t ha t  a re  

l i ke ly  to  be  there  on  …[ ind is t inc t  16 .31 ] .   So,  tha t  

acqu is i t ion ,  as  a  process,  my concern  as  a  CFO at  the 

t ime,  was tha t ,  i f  you  br ing  onboard  a  company w i th  

f inanc ia l  d i f f i cu l t ies ,  somet imes there  are  o ther  i ssues and  

reputa t iona l l y,  there  cou ld  be  o ther  l iab i l i t i es  tha t  a re  no t  

as  c lea r,  perhaps  what  we shou ld  be  do ing  ,we shou ld  be  

do ing ,  so r t  o f ,  an  asset…[ ind is t inc t  17 .01 ]  o f  sor t s  and you 10 

cou ld  look a t  tak ing  the  employees and buy ing  the  p lan t  

tha t  you requ i re  fo r  the  purpose.   Of  course  tha t  was not  

the  v iew tha t  won the  day and as  a  par t  o f  tha t  EXCO I  

a l ign  w i th  what  p reva i led  a t  the  end.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now o f  course ,  you u l t imate ly,  

res igned some years  ago f rom Dene l  in  c i rcumstances  

you ’ve  descr ibed  to  the  Cha i r.  By  the  t ime tha t  you le f t  as  

Group Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i cer,  d id  you have a  v iew and an  

unders tand ing  o f  whethe r  the  LMT acqu is i t ion  was good or  

bad fo r  the  Dene l  Group,  par t i cu la r ly  f rom a  f inanc ia l  20 

perspect ive?  

MR MHLONTLO:    A t  the  t ime i t  wasn ’ t  so  c lea r,  they had  

secured a  huge o rde r  f rom overseas and they had rece ived  

an advance payment ,  i t  seemed as i f  the  fu tu re  o f  the 

bus iness wou ld  go  in  the  d i rec t ion  tha t  had been presented 
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ou t  o f  appra is ing  and mot iva t ing  fo r  i t .   I t  had some 

cha l lenges in  the  shor t - te rm though .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And the  process in  wh ich  the  

invest iga to rs  have put  cer ta in  th ings to  you and asked to  

comment  on  processes and so  fo r th ,  do  you have any  

d i f fe ren t  v iew now as to  whethe r  LMT was a  good th ing  or  

a  bad th ing  f rom a  Dene l  po in t  o f  v iew,  f inanc ia l l y?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I t  p robab ly  wasn ’ t  a  good dec is ion ,  there  

were  ce r ta in  assumpt ions tha t  were  made and one  o f  the  

assumpt ions was tha t ,  Dene l ’s  o rder  book,  a t  the  t ime,  was 10 

growing.   LMT’s  order  book had a  h is to ry  o f  g rowing but  

had s tar ted  dec l i n ing ,  they had the  capab i l i t y  they were  no t  

a  b ig  bus iness.   Even our  g rowth ,  as  a  company,  they 

wou ld  then comp l iment  what  we were  do ing ,  they  wou ld  

become sub-cont rac to rs  to  a  number  o f  our  p rogrammes.   I f  

you  now,  look  a t  i t ,  where  Dene l  i s  a t  cur ren t ly  where  the  

order  book is  dw ind l ing  and i t  cer ta in ly  hasn ’ t  worked out  

as  the  way i t  was  env i saged.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  thank you,  I ’d  l i ke  to  move  

away f rom the  LMT acqu is i t ion  and the  advance payment ,  20 

Cha i r,  i f  I  may re fer  the  w i tness to  h is  second s ta tement  

wh ich  is ,  in  fac t ,  an  a f f idav i t  on  page 576,  you w i l l  tu rn  to  

tha t  p lease,  Mr  Mhlont lo .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no  tha t ’s  f ine .   Before  you do so ,  I  

jus t  want  to  ask  th is  quest ion  because I  don ’ t  want  to  



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 62 of 231 
 

fo rge t  i t .   A t  the  t ime o f  your  suspens ion ,  a re  you  ab le  to  

te l l  me what  Dene l ’s  f inanc ia l  s i tua t ion  looked l i ke?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Yes,  Cha i r,  I ’ l l  answer  jus t  now.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’ l l  be  happy i f  you  can te l l  me tha t  

because we hear  what  Dene l ’s  s i tua t ion  is  now and I  heard  

ev idence f rom Ms Van Rensburg  who was the  Cha i rperson 

o f  the  Board  tha t  was before  the  Board  tha t  came in ,  in  

2015 before  the  Board  tha t  was Cha i red  by  Mr  Man tsha,  my 

reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  she sa id ,  a t  tha t  t ime when her  Board ,  

i t ’s  te rm ended,  when i t ’s  te rm ended,  they had a  p lan  to  10 

take  Dene l  to  h igher  he igh ts  and  every th ing  was look ing  

very  good and so  on  and so  on  but  you might  be  ab le  to  

g ive  me your  own unders tand ing  o f  what  Dene l ’s  s i tua t ion  

was when –  a t  the  t ime you were  suspended.  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cha i r,  Dene l ,  in  the  f inanc ia l  yea r  ended 

March 2014 posted revenue a t  R4 .5b i l l i on  w i th  a  opera t ing  

pro f i t  o f  R282mi l l ion ,  tha t  i s  2014.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That ’s  the  2013/2014 f inanc ia l  year?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

MR MHLONTLO:    I f  we look a t  year  2015/2014 they posted  

a  R399mi l l ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  was go ing  h igher.  

MR MHLONTLO:    Yes,  then in  2016 they posted  the  

number  o f  R605mi l l ion .   Th is  was a  company tha t  had a  



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 63 of 231 
 

h is to ry  o f  s ign i f i can t ly  underper fo rming.   Came 1992 -  

…[ ind is t inc t  22 .27 ]  in  1992 had a  capt ive  market  wh ich  was  

the  South  A f r i can Government  and w i th  i t s  own pro jec ts  

and p rogrammes and the  indust ry  surv i ved a t  the  back o f  

tha t .   A f te r  1992,  co ld  war,  no-one is  f igh t ing  w i th  no-one  

then the  bus iness rea l l y  s t rugg les  a  lo t  and i t  –  and a 

number  o f  CEO’s  were  appo in ted ,  a  number  o f  genera l  

s t ra teg ies  were  pu t  together  and those s t ra teg ies  evo lved 

f rom be ing  a  decent ra l i sed  bus iness in to  cen t ra l i sed  

bus iness,  evo lved f rom in t roduc ing  a  …[ ind is t inc t  23 .16 ]  to  10 

be  100% owned bus inesses  in  d i f fe ren t  f ie lds ,  

i t ’s…[ ind is t inc t  23 .21 ]  i t  had bus inesses even in  the  –  tha t  

was p roduc ing  soya beans and b reakfas t  ce rea ls  and d id  

some p las t i c  mou ld ing ,  i t  was in  IT,  i t  was in  every th ing .   

They went  th rough the  p rocess o f  ge t t ing  r id  o f  those  

bus inesses s t reaml in ing  themse lves in  cer ta in  s t ra teg i c  

bus inesses br ing  onboard  equ i ty  par tners  and i t  –  there  

were ,  re t renchments ,  obv ious ly  pa r t  o f  the  game to  ensure  

a  pro f i tab le  en terp r ise .   We’ re  beg inn ing  to  see those 

resu l ts  coming th rough,  the  cash a t  the  bank was becoming 20 

s l igh t ly  b igger,  we ’ re  en joy ing  a  sound and a  very  s t rong  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  f inanc ia l  ins t i tu t ions .   Every  year  we ’d  go  

and meet  no  less  than 20 f inanc ia l  ins t i tu t ions  tha t  were  

suppor t ing  th is  company,  bu t  i f  I  then,  look  a t  the  numbers  

beyond tha t ,  i f  I  look  a t  2017 i t ’s  more  l i ke  a  break-even,  i f  
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I  look  a t  the  year  2018 there ’s  a  loss  o f  about  a  b i l l i on ,  i f  I  

look  a t…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    2018,  a  loss  o f  about?  

MR MHLONTLO:    2018 a  loss  o f  about  a  b i l l i on  and  then i f  

I  look  a t  2019 the  loss  o f  c lose  to  R2b i l l i on .  

CHAIRPERSON:   So ,  f rom 2017/2018 f inanc ia l  yea r  i t  

s ta r ted  go ing  down,  okay,  thank you,  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i t  looks  l i ke  once –  i t  looks  l i ke  when 

i t  s ta r ted  go ing  down i t  went  down qu i te  sharp ly.  10 

MR MHLONTLO:    Indeed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.   May I  then ask  the  

w i tness to  now re fer  to  page 577 ,  th is  i s  in  your  second  

s ta tement  o r  a f f idav i t ,  Mr  Mhlont lo .   Now,  th i s  dea ls  w i th  

the  award  o f  the  cont rac t  to  VR Laser  fo r  p la t fo rm hu l l s .  

Now you ’ve  se t  ou t  in  some deta i l  what  was in i t ia l l y  

p roposed to  you wh ich  was tha t  there  shou ld  be  an award  

to  VR Laser  and  i t  appears  tha t ,  in i t ia l l y,  you had  doubts  

about  tha t ,  cou ld  you te l l  the  Cha i rperson how th is  came 20 

about ,  how you became aware  tha t  th is  was the  i n ten t ion  

and what  your  a t t i tude was?  

MR MHLONTLO:    In ,  a round June ,  Maybe Ju ly  the  CEO of  

DLS,  Dene l  Lan System b rought  a  memorandum 

…[ in tervenes] .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  Mr  Burger?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Mr  Burger,  b rought  a  memorandum in  

wh ich  he  –  the  memorandum summar i ses a  p rocess tha t  

they had fo l lowed  to  pu t  ou t  the  hu l l  tender  and i t  spe l t  ou t  

tha t  th ree  compan ies  had tendered fo r  tha t  wh ich  is  LMT,  

DCD and las t l y  VR Laser.   The memo c r i t i c i ses ,  

ex tens i ve ly,  the  qua l i t y  and capab i l i t y  o f  LMT,  appra i ses  

the  qua l i t y  o f  VR Laser  and the  numbers  were  tabu la ted  in  

there  tha t  VR Laser  i s  o f fe r i ng  two hundred and s i x ty,  o r  

there  about  m i l l ion ,  the  lowest  tender,  I  th ink ,  was about  10 

one s ix ty  one o r  there  about  f rom LMT and in  be tween was 

the  DCD and the  recommendat ion  was,  tha t  they w ished to  

p lace  the  orde r  w i th  VR Laser.  I  re jec ted  tha t  s t rong ly,  

there ’s  no  –  no  mat te r  to  what  ex ten t ,  techn ica l l y,  and the  

qua l i t y  be ing  good,  i t  cannot  be  acceptab le ,  in  my v iew,  

where  the  p r ice  d i f fe rence between the  second,  a t  leas t ,  

was l i ke  someth ing  be tween R80mi l l ion  and R100mi l l ion ,  

a lmost  and I  opposed tha t ,  I  re jec ted  tha t .   I t  fu r ther  –  tha t  

pos i t ion  was seconded o r  suppor ted  by  the  Group COO,  Mr  

Jan Wesse ls  who a lso  was on the  same page as  me on  20 

tha t ,  because,  a t  tha t  po in t  we became pr ivy  to  tha t  

p rocess and LMT be ing  an in te rna l  Group company,  we 

spec i f i ca l l y  requested tha t  there  be  a  meet ing  be tween 

ourse l ves,  wh ich  is  Mr  Jan Wesse ls ,  myse l f ,  Mr  Burger  and 

Mr  Ne l ,  even though we had no  in ten t ion  o f  say ing ,  you  
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know,  th is  i s  no t  about  to  be  awarded to  you  or  no t  

because they had ra i sed a  number  o f  techn ica l  concerns 

we wanted to  unders tand,  you know,  what  a re  –  a re  there ,  

in  rea l i t y,  techn ica l  i ssues and a lso  i f  there  are ,  to  what  

ex ten t  those can be mi t iga ted .   Whether  i t  wou ld  mean tha t  

DLS –  how DLS can suppor t  the  process so  tha t  the  

techn ica l  i ssues cou ld  fa i l  …[ ind i s t inc t  29 .25 ] .   My concern  

f rom a  f inance s tandpo in t  i s  tha t  i f  you  award  the  bus iness  

in te rna l l y,  you are  depr iv ing  the  Group –  the  money 

because i t  cou ld  invo l ve  the  money w i th in .   The debate  in  10 

the i r  –  there  was a  ve ry  s t rong  emphas is  by  DLS tha t  

techn ica l  i ssues are  so  mater ia l  tha t  they wou ld  –  i t  wou ld  

r i sk  the  en t i re  Hoefys ter  p ro jec t  i f  eventua l l y  i t  wou ld  be  

p laced w i th in  LMT.   They went  on  to  show a  le t te r  f rom UM 

about the work that  LMT had done and earl ier had issues.   

So i t  became a b ig issue.   There were a number of  opt ions 

that  were put  in there.   What about  i f  you award the work to  

LMT but  LMT sub-cont racts some aspects to VR Laser of  

which LMT was not  amenable on that  opt ion and I  recal l  

wr i t ing an emai l  to Mr – Dr Nel  to the effect  that  any money 20 

whether i t  is a smal l  money because his argument was that  

that  model  would not  rea l ly ensure a good prof i tabi l i ty for his  

business.    

And I  then pointed out  that  any money should be 

welcome – any prof i t  whether i t  is hal f  a mi l l ion or whether i t  
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is 10 mi l l ion you should be able to move on f rom there.   And 

that  as an opt ion.   At  the very end – or  dur ing the process 

somehow the – the memorandum got  back into – into us in  

October 2014 the pr ice had reduced.   

There was aspect  that  says there would be some 

other work that  wi l l  be given to  LMT and given the last  po int  

that  was raised very st rongly was look you – you head off ice 

you can real ly te l l  us up to a point  in terms of  who we should 

work wi th but  i f  you are going to  hold us accountable for  

performance – project  performance you cannot rea l ly fu l ly 10 

dictate the – in  terms of  who at  the overal l  we should go 

wi th.    

From where I  am si t t ing wi th the pr ice having reduced 

with a possibi l i ty  that  a port ion of  some of  the work in  the 

bigger Hoefyster  plat form would go to LMT I  ended up 

support ing the memorandum which was not  for my 

memorandum was for the CEO to s ign.    

Okay because commercia l ly i t  should have been 

addressed – i t  seemed as i f  LMT would get  some bi t  of  work 

and I  s igned.   On the day I  s igned the Supply Chain 20 

execut ive was not  at  work – was on leave and my 

understanding for  where I  am s i t t ing his issues were fai r ly 

common to my issues.    

The issue was overal l  the pr ice which was out  of  l ine 

and when got  into i t  a certain level  and I  was qui te sat isf ied 
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to sign i t  off .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now what was the outcome of  the 

discussions where you had voiced your object ions to the 

business going other than to LMT?  Was that  resolved? 

MR MHLONTLE:   The misgivings were not  so much about 

LMT versus VR I  barely in those days knew who was behind 

VR Laser and when I  only learnt  more when I  was 

suspended.  I t  was more about the – the understanding I  had 

about  the capabi l i ty of  LMT.   My understanding some design 

work of  the very same product  had been done by LMT.  I  10 

was… 

CHAIRPERSON:   And was i t  a lso about  a pr inciple  namely 

on your understanding i f  a company that  is part  of  the group 

can give us a cer tain product  or certain services we should 

not  go outside of  the group unless there is real ly  proper 

just i f icat ion? 

MR MHLONTLE:   Precisely Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now your  aff idavi t  has referred to the 

issue of  pr ice and the commission has already heard 20 

evidence that  in relat ion to the tender to which LMT and VR 

Laser and another  tenderer had responded that  in i t ia l ly there 

was approximate ly a R100 mi l l ion di fference.   LMT was 

tendering approximately  for R160 mi l l ion whereas VR Laser 

was approximately R260 mi l l ion.   Now did that  have any 
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bearing on your view that  there were concerns that  LMT 

should not  be awarded the tender? 

MR MHLONTLE:   My – my chal lenge with those in i t ia l  

numbers was big a gap in  pr ic ing and I  was of  the st rongest  

v iew that  you would rather be – even i f  i t  meant that  there 

were – there was a lot  of  support  we needed to give the LMT 

assuming that  support  was worth R10 mi l l ion for argument  

sake.   We wi l l  ra ther be giving support  to LMT and V and 

then award the work to LMT.  So the pr ice was my ser ious 

issue and the second part  was the group considerat ion.   I f  10 

there is  a subsidiary or a  div is ion wi thin the group that  can 

produce the product  why would you take the product  

outside?   

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now d id you eventual ly  get  persuaded 

to approve the award to VR Laser? 

MR MHLONTLE:   The – i t  is not  necessari ly approving 

because approving set  elsewhere.   I  needed to maybe not  to 

be saying I  am opposing i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You – you decided at  some stage not  to  

persist  in opposing or in object ing? 20 

MR MHLONTLE:   The opposing as a process went  on for 

three months f rom roughly around June to October  and in 

that  process we met the key people wi thin the LMT and DLS 

we went on to meet wi th Kgomotso who is an investor wi thin 

LMT and what was at  the cent re of  the conversat ion was a 
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very c lear message that  we would want the work to go to 

LMT.  I f  DLS has issues can they speci fy what those issues – 

can LMT rect i fy the issues?   

At  the end of  the – and also that  was LMT 

considerat ion was a pr ice considerat ion.   At  the very end the 

pr ice is now reduced.  LMT at  least  in the understanding was 

that  LMT would get  doors and f rames which the nether part  

of  the work as the actual  package and therefore at  that  point  

wi th a thi rd element of  a very strong point  that  was being 

made that  says,  we desi re to go wi th VR Laser as a d ivis ion.   10 

I f  you are now stopping us you know from going wi th our 

suppl ier having met your pr ice requi rement then we cannot  

be held technical ly responsible for  any shortcomings i f  the 

work is not  done to the standard that  we want which we do 

not  bel ieve that  LMT would do.    

And on that  basis – when those arguments were on 

the table and I  had to back off .   But  what is interest ing just  

the last  po int  that  the very same program that  obviously VR 

Laser was advanced as the solut ion today is eight  year late.   

So the – I  mean I  would have been drawn into the par t  now i f  20 

I  had insisted on my posi t ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  the argument that  you al lude to which 

seems to have u l t imately  e i ther persuaded you not  to insist  

on opposing or  object ing at  a  certa in  level  one can 

understand i t .    
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But  namely i f  they – i f  the management at  DLS were 

going to  be accountable for the performance one can 

understand at  a certain level  i f  they say wel l  you know do 

not  ho ld us accountable i f  you ins ist  that  we use an ent i ty 

that  we have concerns about.   A l low us to use an ent i ty that  

we have got  conf idence and in that  event  i f  anything goes 

wrong you can hold us accountable conf ident ly.    

But  at  the same t ime one says why did they want 

your views?  Because i f  the posi t ion is that  a decision lay 

wi th them and – and i t  anyway you were expressing your  10 

views and you were not  saying that  you are going to take 

away whatever power they had to make a decision.   So I  

have those two react ions to their  argument.    

I t  is – at  a certain level  i t  is l ike i t  was to say shut  

up.   Shut  up because we are the ones who wi l l  be held 

accountable in the end?  But  then i f  you do not  want our 

views because they do not  agree wi th your views why did 

you want to hear f rom us?  That  is the two react ions I  have – 

I  have to the argument.   I  do not  know i f  you want  to say 

anything about the two react ions.  20 

MR MHLONTLE:   I  th ink Chai r  they would say we have 

l istened to you part icu lar ly in th is case because you queried 

the pr ice.  Now the pr ice has reduced.  You have queried why 

are we taking the work outside.   We have scratched around 

we have found the other work that  we wi l l  g ive to the ent i ty 
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wi th in the group.   This is a hef ty cr i t ical  issue we bel ieve we 

should – by that  part icular company because he has the 

competency.   They are going to say we met you hal fway.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   Wel l  certainly they can say they do – 

they did something.   But  I  would have thought that  when they 

do that  the parts  of  argument that  says look we wi l l  be held 

accountable do not  insist  on your views when we are going 

to be held accountable.    

I  would have thought that  they wi l l  s imply say look we 

have gone a long way to t ry and accommodate your concerns 10 

in the l ight  of  a l l  of  th is you know.   Do you st i l l  have a 

problem?  You know.  And i f  the concerns have – i f  you think 

that  the concerns have been adequately addressed you 

might  say no look that  is f ine.   But  i t  is  just  that  they say 

look we are the ones ul t imately  accountable.   But  i t  might  be 

much of  a muchness.   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.   Now Mr Mhlont lo you 

have referred in your aff idavi t  to the views of  Mr Mlambo.   

He was the Group Execut ive for Supply Chain is that  r ight? 

MR MHLONTLE:   Correct  Chai r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Was he in the hierarchy of  Denel  was 

he junior to you? 

MR MHLONTLE:   In the st ructure he was report ing to  me.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   He reported to  you? 

MR MHLONTLE:   Hm.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  take you in another bundle not 

the one in f ront  o f  you.   Just  put  that  one in f ront  o f  you to  

the side please.   Chair  may I  refer him to a bundle that  was 

presented – was admit ted by you previously when Mr 

Mlambo gave evidence and Ms Malahle la i t  is – should be 

headed Denel  Bundle 1.   I f  you could open that  please Mr 

Mhlont le.   May I  take you please to page 791.   So for  the 

record i t  is Denel -01-791.   Mr Mhlont le may I  ask were you 

able to hear the evidence of  Mr Mhlont lo two weeks ago? 

MR MHLONTLE:   I  only heard the f i rst  part  where he was 10 

going into detai ls around this part .   I  could not  l isten to him.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.  Now he referred in his evidence 

at  page 791 to this emai l  that  came from him.  I t  was 

addressed to Mr Saloojee as wel l  as to yoursel f  and Jan 

Wessels COO.  I t  is dated the 9 t h September 2014 and I  am 

going to summarise the contents before I  ask you to 

comment on i t .  

 He says:  

“ I  have managed to review DLS’s 

submissions pertaining to  the 20 

abovement ioned subject . ”  

And you wi l l  see in the headl ine the subject  is the 

awarding of  the manu – of  hul l  manufactur ing contract  to VR 

Laser Services.   And then he raised certain issues.   He says:  

“The fol lowing issues paint  an unacceptable 
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p icture f rom a process,  fa i rness and 

object ive point  of  v iew.”  

The f i rst  paragraph refers to the tender documents 

not  sent  – being sent  to al l  the bidders simultaneously.   The 

second is that  there were separate engagements for  

c lar i fy ing sessions wi th individual  bidders rather than al l  at  

the same t ime.  

The thi rd relates to the BBBEE status where LMT’s 

BBBEE status was disregarded because i t  was not  ver i f ied 

whereas the VR Laser cert i f icate was accepted and rated a 10 

few days af ter the closing date.    

In other words that  they were not  t reated equal ly.   

Then the fourth point  he says this  i f  I  may read i t  into the 

record.   I t  says:  

“ In the submission”  

And his evidence was that  th is was the submission 

that  came before him and others in senior management 

request ing approval  for th is award to VR Laser.   He says:  

“ In the submission i t  is c la imed that  LMT’s 

quote is too low and unreal ist ic.   The 20 

di fference between LMT’s quote and the VR 

Laser quote is almost  R100mil l ion.   Af ter 

quest ioning Stephan Nel  on the accuracy of  

his quote that  is  of  course is  the – was the 

then head of  LMT – on the accuracy of  his  
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quote he offered to come and present  the 

facts to demonstrate that  i t  is based on 

real ist ic  quotes.   Furthermore he claimed 

that  LMT had made the hul l  before under 

Pat r ia ’s cont ract . ”  

And then 5.  

“ In  my meet ing wi th Stephan Burger  

yesterday he of  course was DLS’s CEO at  

the t ime he indicated that  VR Laser had 

offered to reduce the quote f rom around 10 

R262.4 mi l l ion to R195.0 mi l l ion wi th an 

exclamat ion mark.   Does that  not  te l l  a  

disturbing story about  the in i t ia l  offer on the 

basis of  these f indings and other facts i t  is  

my considered opinion that  the submission 

f rom DLS be rejected since LMT has the 

capabi l i ty to make the hul l  th is issue should 

have been discussed further before going out  

on tender.”  

Now do you recal l  Mr Mhlont lo receiving this emai l  20 

that  was addressed to you and Mr Saloojee and Mr Wessels? 

MR MHLONTLE:   Yes I  do.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And did you read i ts contents and did 

you take them ser iously? 

MR MHLONTLE:   The contents were – were read.   One 
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aspect  that  i t  ta lks to is a pr ice – there is LMT – there is our 

process issues which al l  of  these issues were taken into 

account before that  f inal  memorandum was signed off .    

But  more important ly in the meet ing this is  the very  

emai l  was asked to what extent  these issues have been 

cleared and there was a posi t ion that  I  do not  ful ly recal l  

e i ther i t  said the matter was ei ther c leared or was in the 

process of  being clear wi th Dennis i t  is a pi ty that  on the day 

he was not  at  work when I  s igned i t .   But  when I  s igned that  

memorandum i t  never at  a l l  meant that  these issues needed 10 

not  to be closed out .    

Mater ia l ly f rom where I  am si t t ing the pr ice was 

signi f icant .   The fact  that  i t  had reduced i t  was important .   

There are issues in my aff idavi t  that  I  am covering that  are 

saying how i t  go to reduce is also another matter al together 

to which I  was not  pr ivy to  in terms of  how pract ical ly i t  

reduced.  But  the pr ice had reduced,  LMT seemed as i f  i t  

was going to get  another package and those were mater ia l  

and there was a broad point  that  says,  Dennis has issues to  

what extent  are you ei ther addressing or can you address 20 

these issues?  My understanding was that  these issues 

would be addressed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Do you know whether they were 

addressed sat isfactor i ly? 

MR MHLONTLE:   I  -   I  mean of  what happened obviously 
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af ter awarding that  work give or take October 2014 I  do not  –  

never got  a feedback real ly that  we sat  down with  Dennis 

and mysel f  and say you know there has these issues been 

ful ly addressed? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Do you… 

MR MHLONTLE:   But  last ly Chai r  the memorandum of  

October 2014 that  we in i t ia l led i t  had the Supply Chain at  

least  div is ional  execut ives signing that  off  which went a long 

way in ensuring that  i f  we were g iven assurance that  these 

issues would be addressed we had fai th that  i t  would – they 10 

would be addressed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am going to come back to Mr 

Mlambo’s role and responsibi l i ty  and the concerns and 

whether they were resolved.   I  would l ike to  just  focus before 

we move onto that  just  for a moment on the reduct ion of  

pr ice.    

Now Mr Mlambo made a comment  obviously fe l t  i t  

important  enough to raise i t  in a let ter and used exclamat ion 

marks etcetera to  emphasise his feel ing of  real  concern that  

there was in i t ia l ly  approximate ly R100 mi l l ion di fference and 20 

i t  is s igni f icant .   We are not  – we are not  ta lk ing about th is  

being R100 mi l l ion compared to a R100 bi l l ion contract .   This 

was R100 mi l l ion between approximately R160 mi l l ion 

tendered by LMT and about R260 mi l l ion tendered by VR 

Laser and Mr Mlambo seems to f ind i t  very d isturb ing that  
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VR Laser could be so way above LMT in the f i rst  p lace yet  

LMT is not  going to get  the business.    

But  secondly he is d isturbed ser iously disturbed by 

the fact  that  when there were discussions – sorry that  there 

were discussions between Denel  and VR Laser and that  

resul ted in i t  br inging i ts pr ice down f rom R260 mi l l ion to 

R195 mi l l ion.    

Now what he suggested in his emai l  and as he 

explained to the Chai r  two weeks in his evidence,  oral  

evidence is that  he was especia l ly disturbed about that .    10 

That  is – how can you get  a  tenderer  who is ser ious deal ing 

wi th a publ ic inst i tut ion such Denel  presumably giv ing a 

compet i t ive pr ice i f  i t  is actual ly a genuine fai r  compet i t ion 

compet i t ive process not  engineered and not  manoeuvred to  

favour one.    

How can i t  come in wi th R260 odd mi l l ion and then be 

persuaded just  a few weeks later oh wel l  yes we wi l l  change 

i t  by about  R70 mi l l ion to br ing i t  down to R195 mi l l ion?  

Those are the concerns that  Mr Mlambo expressed in h is 

emai l  br ief ly and of  course he has elaborated that  on his oral  20 

– in his oral  evidence.   Was that  a matter of  considerable or  

any concern to you as Mr Mlambo’s boss? 

MR MHLONTLE:   I t  was a huge concern.   I  – when the 

memorandum was brought to me and brought to the COO th is 

is the issue that  led to that  few months of  back and forth.   
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Pr ice for me was to say no matter how good the qual i ty could 

be that  bet ter  qual i ty cannot  be R100 mi l l ion more 

expensive.    

And then there were engagements,  there were 

workshops,  there were clar i f icat ions.   Lots of  emai ls were 

exchanged between my off ice and DLS and even LMT for 

that  matter  where these issues were have been voiced out .   

My stance has been leaning on the side of  ensuring that  you 

wi l l  save the money for the f iscus.    

So – so but  at  the end of  the day wi th a huge 10 

pressure f rom the divis ion that  had a responsibi l i ty to 

execute this project  wi th the pr ice having reduced and with 

the LMT being – becoming very clear  that  would be catered 

for  i t  was only on that  basis that  I  s igned the memorandum.  

But  also in the meet ing was to say but  by the way there are 

process issues,  there are certain  issues that  Dennis has 

ra ised we wi l l  extend a view – raise those issues or address 

those issues.    

And there was an assurance that  they would be 

at tended – or they ei ther were being at tended to or had been 20 

at tended to.   But  the cent ral  to h is emai l  and his issues were 

al igned to what were my issues.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now apart  f rom the fact  that  VR Laser  

was about R100 mi l l ion more in i ts tender compared wi th 

LMT the fact  that  i t  was given an opportuni ty to negot iate a 
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reduct ion,  a major  reduct ion f rom about R260 down to 

R195mil l ion was that  in your view acceptable f rom a legal  

and part icular ly procurement point  o f  v iew to actual ly engage 

in negot iat ions? 

MR MHLONTLE:   Even in a tender process you would have 

your cr i ter ia,  your cr i ter ia would talk to whatever maybe 

qual i ty,  would talk  to a t imel ines or ta lk to al l  the factors that  

you – that  you deem cr i t ical .   And you would also have a 

pr ice would be and everything else.   The – even that  you 

looked at  al l  of  those issues and you t ick,  t ick,  t ick for me i t  10 

remains the issue around the pr ice was now reduced and the 

LMT was now being considered.   But  I  am get t ing to your 

point  i f  at  some point  you would go in what you cal l  best  and 

f inal  offers and that  process you go to al l  those who have 

tendered.    

Now let  us say in terms of  qual i ty because of  

concerns LMT was no longer a feature because they fel l  

short  on qual i ty you would then go to VR Laser and go to the 

next  suppl ier go into a best  and f inal  offer and then they – 

then you then have i t  for me.   20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now that  was not  done here Mr Mlambo 

has test i f ied.   Do you know whether that  was done?  

Whether both VR Laser and LMT were inv i ted to  give a 

rev ised best  and f inal  offer? 

MR MHLONTLE:   What I  – what the invest igators have 
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shown me are the emai ls that  have been exchanged between 

the DLS management and VR Laser.   I t  – which suggest  that  

that  process was in al l  l ikel ihood I  th ink more internal  emai ls  

between management wi thin DLS which suggests that  they 

may only have gone to VR Laser which renders the process 

unfai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes I  mean presumably let  us assume 

for a moment and I  am not  sure of  necessar i ly i t  would 

comply wi th Treasury regulat ions but  let  us assume for a  

moment that  i t  is permissible once tenders have been 10 

submit ted and open that  i t  is permissible for  an ent i ty l ike 

Denel  to go back to the tenderers and say,  would you l ike to 

rev ise your tenders?   

The evidence that  has been presented before the 

Chair  has been that  only VR Laser was approached.  Mr 

Mlambo has also expla ined that  i t  is permissible i f  for  

example a tender has been awarded so the decis ion has 

been made to award a tender to a part icular ent i ty then i t  

may be permissible once the decision has already been 

made for the ent i ty to go back to the tenderer  and say,  would 20 

you be prepared to br ing down your pr ice maybe we can 

push up quant i t ies or whatever  to make i t  worth your whi le.   

So there is a lat i tude and I  bel ieve the Treasury regulat ions 

bear him out  on that .    

But  what appears to have happened and that  Mr 
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Mlambo has commented about i t  here is that  VR Laser was 

approached when i ts pr ice was so much higher than LMT’s 

despi te  that  where their  –  the scores that  they received f rom 

the evaluat ion commit tee were less than 1% di f ference 

where LMT was going to save Denel  R100 mi l l ion or  so that  

VR Laser is then approached on i ts  own and said would you 

l ike to  br ing down your pr ice and they say yes we wi l l  br ing i t  

down by R60 mi l l ion or so.    

Now i t  seems that  that  offer – that  opportuni ty was 

not  given to LMT.  Who knows maybe i t  would have been 10 

prepared to reduce i ts ended pr ice by R60 or so mi l l ion to  

br ing i t  st i l l  R100 mi l l ion below VR Laser ’s revised pr ice.   

But  did you bel ieve that  th is issue of  offer ing VR Laser on i ts  

own the opportuni ty to revise i ts pr ice were you aware at  the 

t ime that  that  was i r regular as seemed to be hinted at  by Mr 

Mlambo? 

MR MHLONTLE:   I t  is also hinted by mysel f  in my own 

aff idavi t  to say i f  you are to offer best  and f inal  you got  to 

have to  g ive i t  to the tender – tenderer that  you maybe 1 or 2 

or  3  that  you have short l isted in order to just  a step before 20 

you make your f inal  decision.   And i f  that  process was 

afforded only to VR Laser not  to number 2 in terms of  the 

rat ings,  LMT was number 3 instead of  not  giv ing i t  to your 

number 2 as wel l .   And also,  i f  you look at  the issue of  

qual i ty,  that  I  deal  a  lot  wi thin my aff idavi t  that  there was a 
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concern f rom a technical  point  of  v iew, they would not  be 

able to produce the product .    

 So let  us take for  the purposes of  th is session that  LMT 

had fal len out  al ready but  you would needed to have given 

the opportuni ty  to  both tender number 1 and tender number 

2.    

 And I  had no knowledge that  they only had go onto one 

suppl ier.   And i t  – I  have l iked as I  s i t  at  home as I  got  

presented the evidence,  is obviously,  they were the only 

ones that  were g iven the opportuni ty,  rendering the process,  10 

once again,  i r regular.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So were you not  aware at  the t ime 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MHLONTLO :    No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . . that  in fact  LMT was not  given a 

simi lar opportuni ty? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Chai r,  I  want  to  make this point .   In my 

aff idavi t  I  deal  at  length that  DLS had rated LMT negat ive ly 

on technical  aspects,  went on to  produce evidence that  came 

from the UN(?) for some of  the work that  they have done for  20 

the UN.  

 And then given that  – and the issue of  the fact  that  they 

would be accountable for the product ,  i t  narrows the 

suppl iers real ly to  one VR Laser to suppl ier number two.    

 And i f  I  was the one running the process,  I  would have 
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then go on and do best ,  a f inal  offer,  to the two suppl iers.   I t  

served no purpose for LMT to register(?) their  pr ice because 

they were low anyway.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So i f  they were prepared to  go even 

lower,  that  surely  should have served your purposes as a 

state ent i ty  t ry ing to avoid asking for yet  another  bai lout  

f rom government,  surely? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Wel l ,  precisely.   I  am point ing out  that  I  

was not  aware of  that  communicat ion,  how i t  unfolded.   

Some of  the emai ls going so as to  far  as to say I  wi l l  get  VR 10 

Laser pr ices reduced.  I  wi l l  use other means to get  to them.  

Now to me, i t  sounds as i f  VR Laser  was too close to DLS 

and those aspects were not  as vis ib le at  the t ime of  s igning 

that  memo.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now, Mr Mlambo then raises al l  

of  these issues in the emai l .   Ul t imately,  you came to be 

persuaded to sign the revised memo at  a stage when you 

bel ieved that  these issues had been addressed.   Is that  

r ight? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Did you ever have a discussion 

wi th Mr Mlambo ei ther by emai l  or  in person and he,  of  

course,  reported to you,  to ask him:  These quest ions that  

you have ra ised that  are ser ious that  I ,  Mr Mhlont lo,  actual ly 

shares some concerns about.   Dennis – Mr Mlambo, are you 
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– have your concerns been addressed,  have they been 

resolved?  Have you ever discussed that  wi th him? 

MR MHLONTLO :    I  would think that  in our  normal  

engagements,  we would have – I  would have brought  him to 

speed around what we had done but  I  do not  recal l  

speci f ical ly a session where I  took this emai l ,  went  on a 

point(?) my point .   You see.   To say al l  issues are resolved.    

 But  I  guess,  we were both execut ives.   Maybe i t  is where 

we missed doing that .   E i ther  I  should have gone to him or  

he should have come to me and then we can look and solve 10 

these issues.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Would you agree that  Mr Mlambo, 

al though he was genuine to  you,  he st i l l  occupied a re lat ively 

senior posi t ion wi thin Denel? 

MR MHLONTLO :    In terms of  the Execut ive for Supply Chain 

was a relat ively new posi t ion.   Execut ives for Supply Chain,  

i f  i t  d id not  come into existence la te in 2012,  i t  would have 

come late in 2015.    

 So the posi t ion – and maybe by the t ime he lef t  Denel  

had real ly matured into a wel l -understood role given i ts own 20 

powers.   But  perhaps in him facing(?) and there was also a 

bi t  of  f inding f i t .   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  would you not  agree that  where he 

has been appointed,  he was a lready then the Group 

Execut ive for Supply Chain?  I f  he report ing to you has 
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ra ised wi th  you and the Group CEO and others concerns in 

the emai l ,  would you agree that  they needed to be taken 

ser iously? 

MR MHLONTLO :    I  had fundamental  issues that  I  made the 

point  that  they were taken ser iously.   And these issues – 

these issues and my issues are not  mater ia l ly adverse.   And 

that  does . . . [ indist inct ]  [Speaker not  c lear]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  I  accept  that  you shared many of  

the concerns that  he raised.   Can I  ask you please,  in the 

same bundle,  that  is  st i l l  Bundle 1.   Chai r,  the one that  you 10 

have just  been handed up.   Page 612.   In fact ,  the document  

starts at  page 604.   Let  us start  there.    

 And the Chair  has al ready heard the evidence of  Ms 

Malahlela who was the then Head of  Supply Chain in the 

ent i ty DLS and she ind icated that  she was inst ructed to 

prepare th is revised memorandum despi te  her own concerns 

and misgivings about the procurement process.    

 But  she,  on the inst ruct ions of  the DLS Execut ive,  

prepared this  and this mot ivated for the approval  of  the 

award of  the p lat form Hul l  Cont ract  of  VR Laser Serv ices.   20 

And i f  I  can take you to page 612,  that  appears to be your 

signature at  the food of  the page.  Is  that  r ight? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  was dated the 

16t h of  October 2014.  And so you signed.   You did not  give 
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f inal  approval  to  i t  yoursel f  because that  needed to be 

approved by Mr Saloojee as we see on the top of  the next  

page.   You were part  of  the sl ight ly lower ranks wi thin the 

organisat ion who were expected i t  to ei ther recommend or 

not  recommend approval .   Is that  correct? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you recommended approval  by 

Mr Saloojee.   And the analysis is set  out  of  the tender 

process and the evaluat ion and why i t  was submit ted or  

recommended that  VR Laser rather than LMT should be 10 

awarded the contract .    

 Now i t  is interest ing to see the dates on which you 

signed that .   That  is the 16t h of  October 2014.   That  was 

about f ive or s ix weeks af ter Mr Mlambo’s emai l  that  I  took 

you to ear l ier  at  page 791 and that  is the 

9 t h of  September 2013.   

 So am I  correct  in understanding your evidence a bi t  

ear l ier to the Chai r,  that  af ter Mr Mlambo raised his concerns 

in his emai l ,  many of  which you shared,  you were engaged in 

a process where you understood those concerns were 20 

ul t imately remedied,  at  least  suff ic ient ly,  to be persuaded to 

recommend this? 

MR MHLONTLO :    The speci f ic meet ing that  s igned this  

memo, i t  was one of  the i tems that  got  discussed whereas 

the pr ice is now reduced whereas there is an indicat ion of  
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another package that  wi l l  got  LMT, the quest ion was,  has a l l  

Dennis’ issues been addressed?  Because my fundamental  

issue was the pr ice.   My fundamental  issue was the work 

that  were going to  LMT.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now ment ion was made by 

Mr Mlambo of  the fact  that  in terms of  the Delegat ion of  

Author i ty,  any contract  to be awarded with more than two 

hundred mi l l ion had to be approved by the ful l  head off ice 

board,  the Denel  SOC Limited Board.   Is that  correct? 

MR MHLONTLO :    I  now need to be ref reshed . . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.  

MR MHLONTLO :    . . . to the Delegat ion of  Author i ty.   But  as 

far as I  am aware,  the Delegat ion of  Author i ty  worked in 

cascading order where zero to a certain amount.   I t  wi l l  be 

the d ivis ion f rom a certain amount to a certain amount,  i t  wi l l  

be Dennis Mlambo.  Above a certain amount i t  wi l l  be mysel f .   

Above a certain amount i t  would be the CEO.  And I  do not  

recal l  in those years they acquisi t ioned any speci f ic  

acquisi t ion that  needed to go to the board.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   But  he has given evidence in  20 

re lat ion to that  speci f ical ly.   I f  I  could ask you,  in the same 

bundle,  to turn to page 757?   

MR MHLONTLO :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    This is part  of  the Delegat ion of  

Author i ty  which starts at  page 752,  the tab le.   And then at  
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757,  5.1.   Do you have that? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Ja,  I  have that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So that  gives,  as you put  i t  a cascade 

of  levels.   So anything below or equal  to f i f ty mi l l ion would 

have to be approved to a certain  level .   Between f i f ty  mi l l ion 

and two hundred mi l l ion,  at  another level .   That  would be 

approval ,  the A in a column headed GCE.  The A accord ing to  

the PS approval .    

 So that  means,  that  anything between f i f ty mi l l ion and 

two hundred mi l l ion would have to  be approved by the DCE.  10 

That  was Mr Saloojee at  that  stage,  correct? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And in the r ight-hand column,  i t  says 

Group Supply Chain Manager pr ior consul ta t ion on 

procurement above twenty mi l l ion.    

MR MHLONTLO :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Group Supply Chain Manager,  in fact ,  

was meant to read Group Supply Chain Execut ive.   Mr 

Mlambo gave evidence.   Do you have a di fferent  v iew on 

that? 20 

MR MHLONTLO :    In fact ,  i f  I  look at  th is,  i t  actual ly  

suggests that  i t  escaped.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am sorry.   Just  say that  again? 

MR MHLONTLO :    I  am saying that  i f  I  look at  th is  

. . . [ intervenes]   
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLONTLO :    . . . i t  means that  i t  fe l l  exact ly in the DCO 

approval  because i t  was one ninety- f ive in the end.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  I  am not  asking you that .   

Sorry,  Mr Mhlont lo.   Perhaps you could just  indulge me to 

answer the quest ions that  I  am put t ing to you.   I  am get t ing 

to the point  in the moment about  where the one ninety-f ive 

fel l .   I f  you could just  indulge me.  The last  category is over 

two hundred mi l l ion.   The approval  no longer was rested in 

the DCE but  now had to be approved by the board,  correct? 10 

MR MHLONTLO :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And i t  says in  the r ight -hand column, a 

report  out l in ing the process fol lowed to invi te a short l isted 

as suppl iers and evaluat ion and scores of  the short l isted 

suppl iers of  recommendat ions of  the Tender Commit tee to be 

tabled at  the board for approval .    

 Now let  us go to your  point  about  the hundred and 

ninety-f ive.   Do you have any comment on the fact  that  i t  just  

seems rather interest ing,  perhaps coinc idental ,  that  VR 

Laser in i t ia l ly  tendered at  two hundred and sixty odd mi l l ion 20 

who was now persuaded in a process that  you have 

acknowledged was not  fa i r  because LMT was not  given the 

same opportuni ty,  to revise i ts pr ice.  

 I t  does so qui te  dramat ical ly and then just  happens to 

br ing i t  down just  below the requi rement for the ent i re board 
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approval .   Do you have any comment on that  or am I  reading 

too much into i t?  

MR MHLONTLO :    I  mean,  there could be two 

interpretat ions.   I t  could be your very view.  I t  could be the 

view that  is appl icable.   Or i t  could be coincidental .   I t  is 

di ff icul t  to say.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR MHLONTLO :    But  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now Mr Mhlont lo,  let  us go back 

to the issue that  we were debat ing ear l ier about  the 10 

informat ion that  you got  because Mr Mlambo had raised 

concerns.    

 You had your own concerns which coincided wi th  the 

substance of  Mr Mlambo’s concerns.   And then when you 

signed the recommendat ion,  as we seen,  i f  you go back to 

page 612.   That  was f ive or s ix weeks af ter Mr Mlambo’s 

emai l  and you were given assurances.  

 Now I  just  want  to take you back to your evidence 

ear l ier.   Are you saying that  Mr Mlambo did not  take part  in a 

meet ing that  took place in October  when you were ul t imately 20 

persuaded to jo in in the recommendat ion of  VR Laser? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Mr Mlambo on that  day,  on that  week,  I  

th ink was on leave.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   I  do not  know i f  you heard 

Mr Mlambo’s evidence two weeks ago but  certa inly the Chair  
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d id.   But  Mr Mlambo said.   He understood that  his advice 

given in his emai l  that  the award to VR Laser would not  go 

ahead – should not  go ahead because of  the concerns that  

he raised,  many of  which were shared by you.  

 He understood that  management would act ing on that  

and consistent  wi th that  and he found to his surpr ise that  at  

th is meet ing in October just  f ive weeks later,  th is  was in fact  

approved.   Recommended and approved despi te his 

concerns which were not  resolved.  

 Did you. . .   I  do not  know i f  you heard that  evidence.   But  10 

the clear  effect  of  h is  evidence seems to be.   He is employed 

to do the job.   He is employed to advice senior execut ives,  

including yoursel f  and Mr Saloojee that  there is a ser ious 

problem in di fferent  aspects as is set  out  in his emai l  and 

that  i t  should not  be awarded to VR Laser.  

 Now I  accept ,  of  course,  that  Mr Mlambo did not  have 

the f inal  say.   I t  was subject  to approval  ei ther by the board 

i f  i t  was over two hundred mi l l ion or by the Group Chief  

Execut ive.  

 But  he clear ly had a feel ing that  – of  being offended and 20 

undermined that  behind his back,  as i t  were,  a decision is  

taken to approve the very thing that  he had st rongly 

recommended should not  be approved because there were 

ser ious i rregular i t ies.    

 Now he was not  consul ted,  he said,  before the decision 
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was taken.   He was not  asked or i t  was not  – nobody came 

back to him and said:   Mr Mlambo, on your  point  in 

paragraph 2 you are complete ly wrong.   You have 

misunderstood the facts.    

 Or on point  number 3,  we have actual ly resolved i t .   We 

have actual ly inv i ted LMT to revise i ts offer,  for example.   

None of  that  was done.  Were you aware that  that  was not  

done with Mr Mlambo? 

MR MHLONTLO :    I  am going to,  Chai r,  go back to the 

process.   That  around June/July of  2014,  a memo came to 10 

my off ice.   A memo I  rejected on the core grounds which,  as 

I  understand i t ,  Mr Mlambo raised.    

 A ser ies of  workshops and conversat ion took place.   A 

lot  of  emai ls which endeavoured to  ensure that  LMT ended 

up wi th th is work on the basis that  i t  is wi thin the group.  

 And also,  at  the very end,  the qual i ty issues were raised 

by DLS and when we met on this day three months down the 

l ine,  the pressure was huge and the point  was made to say 

that  i f  we delay this aspect  any further,  i t  would begin to  

impact  the Hoefyster Project .   20 

 And a number of  the issues that  I  had raised had been 

mit igated and there was a speci f ic  quest ion posed to say:   

Yes,  Dennis had a Supply Chain process related issues to  

what extent  those have been raised,  had been addressed.   

And then there was assurance that  e i ther the – I  cannot  
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qui te recal l  whether ei ther had been addressed or in the 

process of  being addressed. 

 Dennis – Mr Mlambo was an execut ive wi thin the Group 

of  Execut ives.   His inputs would be considered but  h is input  

is not  the f inal  input .   And I  th ink that  is important .    

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink the point  that  Mr Kennedy seeks to  

canvas wi th you is not  that  Mr Mlambo’s view or input  was 

f inal .   I  bel ieve i t  is s imply that  approval  was given wi thout 

his issues being addressed.   I  th ink that  is the point .    

 To say,  i f  the f inal  author i ty to  approve rests wi th 10 

somebody else,  that  is f ine.   But  i f  I  have raised issues and 

they you to make issues by vi r tue of  the posi t ion that  I  hold 

or the job that  I  am doing.    

 At  least ,  somebody needs to engage me on these 

issues.   I f  there is  engagement and we do not  agree.   Maybe 

that  is f ine.   But  what are the answers to  my quest ions that  

should be addressed.   That  is my understanding.   

Mr Kennedy might  indicate. . .    

 That  is my understanding of  the level  at  which he is  

ra is ing i t  because that  is  also what  I  would expect .   I f  you 20 

are counted among the people who must be consul ted and 

you take a di fferent  v iew f rom everybody,  at  least  there must  

be an engagement or somebody must  address your  

concerns.   I t  does not  mean that  they have to agree wi th you 

but  you must  have that  engagement at  least .    
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 Otherwise,  you might  feel  l ike,  so whatever input  I  make 

does not  matter or whereas you might  th ink some people are 

just  going through emot ions because maybe they have got  

some predetermined outcome that  they are pursuing.    

 Because i f  somebody says here are the problems to 

fol lowing this route and others fol low i t .   At  least  they must  

be able to say these are our  arguments against  his  

arguments.   Are you able to say anything on that? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Chai r,  i f  I  look at  my concern and look at  

his concern.   Look at  the issue of  one aspect  of  i t  around 10 

qual i ty that  I  could not  ta lk to – being in f inance I  would not  

ta lk to whether the qual i ty is . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MHLONTLO :    . . . is appropriate or not .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MHLONTLO :    To the extent  I  am provided wi th evidence 

around qual i ty that  almost  excludes LMT.  There is not  a hel l  

of  a lot  I  would be able to do there.   The pr ice,  which was a 

concern to me, had reduced.   

 There was an ind icat ion that  even though qual i ty is an 20 

issue and therefore they cannot be t rust  wi th th is package, 

that  there is another package that  would go to LMT.   I t  was 

on that  basis that  I  had f ined.  

 My understanding was of  mater ia l  aspects or what 

Dennis was concerned with  had been addressed.   But  I  a lso 
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put  the quest ion to the divis ional  leader of  DLS to say:   By 

the way,  as you are now converging us in th is room to s ign.   

Have you – are you – have you addressed or  are you going 

to ensure that  Dennis’ issues are addressed?   

 And I  am saying,  i f  we then did not  necessari ly  at  some 

point  raised an eye,  s i t  down on an emai l  on a point  by point ,  

i t  is our faul t ,  both of  us as nei ther the two of  us had done 

that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Because as I  understand i t ,  and you have 

made the point  two t imes or  more,  to say there was ser ious 10 

overlap between your issues and his issues or they may 

have been substant ia l ly the same.   

 And i t  seems to me form what you are saying that  you 

got  persuaded, part ly because you were told ei ther that  his  

issues had been addressed or they were being addressed 

plus the issue of  the pr ice and then the qual i ty.   Those. . .   

Otherwise,  substant ia l ly,  you and him were on the same 

side.  

MR MHLONTLO :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   Okay.   And one does not  know 20 

whether i t  so happened that  the meet ing happened when he 

was away or whether i t  was engineered [ laughing]  to  be l ike 

that  because i t  is. . .   Wel l ,  maybe i t  should not  say i t  is  

st range.    

 Here is somebody that  is qui te ser iously opposed to th is 
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th ing and this crucial  meet ing happens when he is not  there.   

But  i t  maybe that  i t  was coincidence.   I t  is just ,  a lso i t  is 

st range that  i f  –  even when he comes back,  he f inds that  his  

issues have not  been addressed,  you know.   

 I t  might  have been di fferent  i f  – when he came back he 

found that  when he looks at  the minutes i t  is c lear that  

somebody said:   Wel l ,  th is  is our  response to this  and that  

and that .    

 But  ja.   Okay.   Thank you.   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   I f  I  can just  for  10 

completeness refer to you page 785?   

MR MHLONTLO :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Page 785 appears to be another emai l  

f rom Mr Mlambo which in fact  was sent  before the one that  

we have looked at .   I  am not  go ing to go Chair  through the 

detai l  of  i t  but  th is ,  again,  is a let ter  f rom Mr Mlambo.   

 In th is case,  addressed pr imari ly to  Mr Stephan Burger,  

CEO of  DOS but  he copied in Ms Malahlela and yoursel f ,  as 

wel l  as Mr Wessels,  Teubes and Saloojee.    

 And this raises s imi lar sort  of  issues.   Can I  just  go back 20 

for a moment Mr Mhlont lo to the issue about LMT and i ts 

qual i ty and rel iab i l i ty.   You have ment ioned that  there were 

concerns raised that ,  for example,  LMT had caused the 

embarrassment because i t  had produced vehicles for the 

Uni ted Nat ions,  which turned out  to have typical  safety 
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problems.  And other wi tnesses have given evidence in 

re lat ion to that .    

 But  are you aware that  in the evaluat ion of  the tenders,  

LMT was not  rejected?  I t  was actual ly scored on the basis 

of  i ts technical  capabi l i ty.   I t  d id not  score as high ly as VR 

Laser but  i t  was not  found to be so bad that  i t  could not  be 

used by Denel .   Are you aware of  that? 

MR MHLONTLO :    No,  I  was not  aware of  that .   But  what,  

obviously,  in ampl i fy ing the problem in t ry ing to make the 

problem appear maybe big.   That  was evidence that  was 10 

produced to us by the divis ion and a lot  more in th is regard.   

Chai r,  the divis ion concern must  answer for i tsel f .    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  but  i t  seems that  some in the 

divis ion,  not  everybody,  but  some in the divis ion of  DLS 

seem to be saying:   Wel l ,  we have got  to  g ive i t  to VR Laser 

because they are only people who can do the job properly,  

technical ly because LMT is real ly not  rel iable.  

 But  that  was not  a view shared by others.   And in fact ,  

there was the further issue about  LMT being acquired by 

Denel .   So i t  was now going to be in-house.   I t  could now be 20 

control led by management and i t  was being assisted in terms 

of  an advance payment for another  cont ract  that  i t  was st i l l  

working on.  

 So i t  seems that  Mr Mlambo may have had some 

substance when he said:   But  why are we not  giv ing i t  to 
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LMT especial ly when i t  is going to cost  so much less and 

where technical  issues can be managed? 

 Was that  something you went into or was that  something 

on which you fe l t  you were guided by other people to a point  

that  you were sat isf ied? 

MR MHLONTLO :    I f  we consider my aff idavi t .   I  am very 

st rong on this very point  that  I  wanted this  work to go to  

LMT.  At  the end of  the day,  Denel  in those days operated in  

decent ral ised sector.   Divis ions had to account  for their  own 

revenue and had to account  in terms of  the project  execut ion 10 

and complet ion.  

 And even though I  was so st rong on that ,  I  do say in  my 

aff idavi t ,  that  wi th al l  the pleas and begging,  I  was not  

successful .   And at  some point ,  I  had to let  the process go.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is the posi t ion that  i f  you had the power 

rested in you to make a decis ion,  you would have made a 

di fferent  decis ion?  In other words,  you would have given i t  

to LMT but  you kind of  deferred to the people in the 

part icular div is ion.   Or what is the posi t ion? 

MR MHLONTLO :    Chai r,  i f  I  was both the CFO of  the group 20 

and I  happen to be the MD of  that  div is ion,  I  would have 

given i t  to LMT without  a doubt .   Reasoned(?) wi th  speci f ic  

mit igat ions,  I  would have had to put  in place.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Chai r,  may I  just  ask a few more 
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quest ions just  to complete this l ine? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I f  i t  wi l l  be acceptable.   I  see i t  is one 

o’clock but  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja-no,  that  is f ine.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  promise just  to ask a few.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then we should be able to move on 

f rom this.   What  I  f ind  impor tan t ,  Mr  Mhlont lo ,  i s  tha t  th is  

was not  a  dec i s ion  tha t  was vested  in  the  d i v is ion .   We 10 

have a l ready looked a t  the  de legat ion  o f  au thor i t y.   I f  i t  

was vested  in  the  d iv is ion  i t  wou ld  have le f t  to  Mr  S tephan  

Burger  and i t  i s  qu i te  c lear  f rom the  documents  tha t  Mr  

S tephan be l ieved on ly  VR Laser  shou ld  be  g i ven th i s  

cont rac t  desp i te  the  arguments  aga ins t  –  tha t  were  ra ised  

by  va r ious peop le  inc lud ing  yourse l f  bu t  sure ly  the  reason 

fo r  de legat ing  the  au tho r i t y  o f  –  fo r  an  amount  o f  so  much 

to  the  Group CEO based on the  recommendat ions o f  i n te r  

a l ia  yourse l f  as  Group CFO was tha t  th is  was a  mat te r  o f  

such impor tance  because so  much money o f  the  Group ’s  20 

money,  wh ich  is  o f  course  pub l i c  money,  was be ing  spent .   

I t  was not  le f t  to  Mr  Burger.   So do we not  have a  s i tua t ion  

where  you e f fec t i ve ly  seem to  be  say ing  to  the  Cha i r,  

un less  I  am misunders tand ing  your  ev idence,  you seem to  

be  say ing  I ,  as  Group CFO,  when I  was asked to  make a  
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recommendat ion ,  I  wou ld  have l i ked  to  have recommended 

LMT but  I  was persuaded to  ra ther  recommend VR Laser  

desp i te  a l l  my se r ious concerns and the  reason why I  was  

persuaded to  recommend was  s imp ly  tha t  the  head  o f  the  

d iv is ion  wants  VR Laser.   Whereas the  head o f  the  d iv is ion  

d id  no t  have the  power  vested  in  you,  sure l y  you were  

there  togethe r  –  I  am not  suggest ing  you a lone,  Mr  

Sa loo jee  and o thers ,  sure ly  you were  there  as  a  sa feguard  

fo r  Dene l ’s  in te res ts  to  ensure  tha t  i t  was not  jus t  a  

d iv is iona l  head s teamro l l ing  you and get t ing  the i r  way to  10 

pre fe r  an  en t i t y  such as  VR Laser  bu t  you had to  be  

sa t is f ied  tha t  the re  were  good reasons and i f  there  were  

no t  good reasons ,  i f  there  were  concerns l i ke  you to  your  

c red i t  had tha t  they needed to  be  proper ly  answered befo re  

the  dec is ion  cou ld  go  the  way tha t  Mr  Burger  wanted.  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cha i r,  the  recommendat ion  f rom myse l f  

as  to  the  process to  p roceed to  go  the  overa l l  app rova l  i s  

in fo rmed by  a  number  o f  cons ide ra t ions on  my s ide .   One,  

the  pr ice  had reduced to  a  number.    

Second ly,  i t  was  a  package tha t  wou ld  go  to  LMT.   20 

Th i rd ly,  there  were  var ious techn ica l  i ssues tha t  were  

po in ted  to  be  the  issues and I  had – there  was no way o f  in  

par t i cu la r  o f  go ing  aga ins t  those techn ica l  i ssues tha t  were  

appo in ted ,  a t  leas t  based on the  in fo rmat ion  tha t  was  

before  myse l f  a t  the  t ime.  



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 102 of 231 
 

 So  i f  I  then have  a  le t te r  tha t  say  as  th i s  company  

wou ld  do  th is  work ,  there  is  th is  le t te r  f rom a  c l ien t  tha t  

s ta tes  the  fo l low ing th ings,   then as  a  d iv i s ion ,  we  

eva lua ted a t  a  po in t  in  t ime,  th is  le t te r  has come and is  

such tha t  we are  go ing  to  en t rus t  th is  to  LMT.   Even tha t  

cor respondence in  te rms o f  le t te r,  p r ice  hav ing  come down,  

the  fac t  tha t  there  wou ld  be  o ther  work  go ing  to  LMT,  

persuaded me su f f i c ien t ly  to  be  ab le  to  say –  to  g ive  i t  

s ign -o f f .    

 And i f  we look a t  the  o ther  aspects  tha t  I  have now 10 

become aware  o f ,  now obv ious l y  i f  I  was aware  o f  those 

fac ts  a t  tha t  po in t ,  there  was no way I  wou ld  have s igned i t  

o f f .   I  fee l ,  Cha i r,  tha t  rea l l y  I  have put  my pos i t ion  around 

the  mat te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  –  i t  seems to  based on your  

answer  you a re  conced ing  the  po in t  tha t  Mr  Kennedy 

makes but  you seek to  de fend your  dec is ion  on  i t s  own 

mer i t s ,  leav ing  ou t  the  issue o f  de fer r ing  to  the  d iv i s ion ,  i s  

tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I t  i s  cor rec t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l ,  one f ina l  quest ion  i f  I  may?  Mr  

Mlambo’s  emai ls  e f fec t i ve ly  were  say ing  th is  p rocess has 

no t  been fa i r.   You seem to  have conf i rmed tha t  the 

process was not  fa i r  in  a t  leas t  the  respect  tha t  VR Laser  
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was g iven the  on ly  chance to  amend i t s  p r ice .   E ffec t i ve ly,  

o f  course ,  i f  a  tender  p rocess i s  no t  fa i r,  i t  i s  con t rary  to  

the  Const i tu t ion ,  Sect ion  217 wh ich  says tha t  any s ta te  

en t i t y,  such as  Dene l ,  has to  fo l low a  p rocess wh ich  is  fa i r,  

equ i tab le ,  compet i t i ve ,  e tce tera .   Cost -e f fec t i ve  too .    

 Now was Mlambo,  who repor ted  to  you,  was he not  

r ing ing  a  be l l ,  an  a la rm be l l ,  say ing  th is  p rocess cannot  be  

awarded to  VR Laser  because i t  i s  un fa i r  and you  wou ld  

have known su re l y,  Mr  Mhlont lo ,  as  a  char te red accountant  

and a  sen ior  execut ive  o f  a  s ta te  en t i t y  tha t  i f  there  was an  10 

unfa i r  p rocess in  a  tender  award ,  wh ich  you were  be ing  

asked to  recommend,  i t  wou ld  f i rs t l y  be  un lawfu l  and 

second ly,  i t  wou ld  be  sub jec t  to  lega l  cha l lenge in  a  H igh  

Cour t .   Were  you not  recommending someth ing  tha t  you 

had a l ready been warned by  Mr  Mlambo and wh ich  you 

shared h is  fee l ings  shou ld  no t  be  awarded p rec i se l y  

because o f  tha t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cha i r,  I  recommended th is  fo r  overa l l  

app rova l  on  the  bas i s  o f  th ree  po in ts  tha t  I  have ar t i cu la ted  

w i th  the  fu l l  unders tand ing  tha t  the  mat te rs  tha t  had been  20 

ra ised had e i ther  been fu l l y  addressed or  in  the  p rocess o f  

be ing  addressed.   There  i s  abso lu te ly  no  o ther  in fo rmat ion  

tha t  was ava i lab le  to  me o the r  than those po in ts .   I  then 

ind ica te  tha t  as  I  was a t  some po in t  dur ing  th is  course  o f  

th is  year  o r  the  l as t  yea r  invest iga ted  po in t ing  ou t  in te rna l  
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communica t ion  tha t  had taken p lace w i th in  DLS tha t  

ind ica te  tha t  th is  bus iness was too  c lose  to  DLS and the 

process cou ld  ac tua l l y  have been i r regu la r.   I t  i s  up  to  DLS 

d iv is iona l  manager  who must  take  a  s tand a t  some po in t  

and account  fo r  th is .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r,  wou ld  th is  be  a  conven ien t  

t ime to  take  the  ad jou rnment?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  le t  us  take  the  lunch ad journment ,  

we w i l l  resume a t  ten  past  two.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Ten past  two.   Thank you,  Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  le t  us  con t inue.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I f  I  may jus t  

comple te  these quest ions on  th i s  top i c .   We a re  s t i l l  

dea l ing  w i th  the  hu l l  con t rac t  tha t  was awarded  to  VR 

Laser.   A re  you aware  tha t  apar t  f rom Mr  Mlambo,  who was  

the  Group Execu t ive  in  charge o f  supp ly  cha in  a t  head 

o f f i ce ,  Ms Malah le la  w i th in  the  d iv is ion  DLS had a lso  20 

ra ised concerns about  the  compl iance w i th  p rocurement  

and a lso  whethe r  i t  was appropr ia te  to  go  ou ts ide  LMT? 

MR MHLONTLO:    Cha i r,  I  was not  aware  o f  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You ment ioned a  meet ing  wh ich 

cu lm inated in  the  document  tha t  we see a t  page 612 
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bea r ing  your  s ignature .    

MR MHLONTLO:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  the  16  October  and i f  you 

look on  –  th is  i s  the  mot iva t ion  tha t  you s igned  o f f  as 

approv ing  the  recommendat ion  or  endors ing  the  

recommendat ion  o f  the  award  o f  the  cont rac t  o f  VR Laser.   

Do you see a t  the  foo t  o f  the  page 611 Ms Malah le la ’s  

name and s ignatu re  appear?   611.   Can you see tha t?   Was 

she present  in  a  meet ing  as  fa r  as  you can reca l l?  

MR MHLONTLO:    She was not .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    She was not?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The memo was brought  by  Mr  Burger  

a l ready bear ing  the  s ignatu res .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  who was i t  a t  tha t  mee t ing  who 

gave you the  assurance tha t  the  procurement  and o ther  

concerns tha t  Mr  Mlambo had ra i sed and tha t  you  la rge ly  

agreed w i th .   Who was i t  a t  tha t  meet ing  who pe rsuaded 

you tha t  a l l  o f  these concerns had been sor ted  ou t?   Was  

tha t  Mr  Burger?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Mr  Burger  p resented the  memo bear ing  20 

the  s ignatures ,  g iv ing  assurance tha t  the  d iv is iona l  supp ly  

cha in  was comfo r tab le  and when a  spec i f i c  quest i on  was 

posed about  Mr  Mlambo’s  quer ies ,  my sense  –  my 

reco l lec t ion ,  no t  hundred pe rcen t ,  many years  ago now,  

was tha t  those are  e i ther  be ing  addressed or  have a l ready  
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been addressed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You see,  a  concern  m ight  a r ise  where  

Ms Malah le la  who occup ied  a  sen ior  pos i t ion  w i th  DLS as  

the  head o f  supp ly  cha in ,  he  is  obv ious ly  pa id  a  sa la ry  

appropr ia te  w i th  those respons ib i l i t i es ,  where  she has  

ra ised concerns  w i th in  d iv is iona l  leve l  tha t  were  no t  

b rought  to  your  a t ten t ion ,  she was e f fec t i ve l y  pushed in to  a 

s i tua t ion  where  she had to ,  she was ins t ruc ted  by  the  DLS 

board ,  to  p repare  th is  rev ised recommendat ion  to  –  th is  

p roposa l  to  mot iva te  fo r  the  award  o f  the  cont rac t  to  VR 10 

Laser.   That  was aga ins t  her  own adv ice  and 

recommendat ions  and then a t  head o f f i ce  leve l ,  wh ich  is  

supposed to  superv ise  and ensure  tha t  the  d iv i s ions  do  not  

ac t  ou ts ide  the  law and outs ide  government  po l i cy  and  

outs ide  Dene l  po l i cy  and so  fo r th ,  when Mr  Mlambo,  the  

head o f  supp ly  cha in  management  a t  head o f f i ce ,  l i kewise  

ra ised these concerns.   I  can  unders tand you were  no t  

aware  o f  Ms Ma lah le la ’s  concerns.   Does i t  cause you 

concern  now to  hear  tha t  Ms  Malah le la  had  ser ious 

ob jec t ions to  the  award  o f  th is  cont rac t  to  VR Laser  tha t  20 

you were  no t  made aware  o f?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  am actua l l y  concerned tha t  Ms 

Malah le la  had concerns,  we had qu i te  a  reasonab le  

re la t ionsh ip ,  tha t  she never  b rought  those to  my a t ten t ion .   

Now i t  sounds l i ke  ser ious concerns and I  am concerned  
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no t  on ly  fo r  Ms Malah le la  bu t  a lso  the  emai l s  tha t  were  

shown to  me by the  invest iga tors  and my overa l l  conc lus ion  

on  th is ,  once aga in ,  there  was too  much c loseness between  

th is  d iv i s ion  and  the  supp l ie r  and the  d i v is ion  concerned  

must  answer  as  to  why th is  happened.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Indeed you are  r i gh t  tha t  i t  must  

answer  and Mr  Burger  w i l l  be  ca l led  to  tes t i f y  in  t he  next  

few days and we w i l l  cer ta in ly  be  ask ing  h im some o f  these 

quest ions.   What  I  am concerned about ,  though,  i s  th is .   A t  

th is  meet ing ,  was there  anybody f rom supp ly  cha in  e i the r  10 

a t  d iv is iona l  o r  head o f f i ce  leve l?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The meet ing  tha t  was ca l led  a t  sho r t  

no t ice  when Mr  Burger,  you know,  came wi th  th is  memo,  

compr i sed o f  Mr  Burger,  Mr  Wesse ls ,  myse l f  and Mr  

Sa loo jee  and is  no t  ou t  o f  the  ord inary.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry  and i t  was not?   Jus t  speak up  

p lease?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  am say ing  tha t  the  meet ing  tha t  took  

p lace,  i t  was w i th  Mr  Burger  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  no  I  heard  tha t  b i t ,  jus t… 20 

MR MHLONTLO:    Mr  Jan Wesse ls ,  myse l f  and Mr  Sa loo jee  

to  cons ide r  th is  memo and is  no t  ou t  o f  the  ord inary,  we  

wou ld  meet  on  va r ious issues.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  my quest ion  was,  was anybody 

f rom supp ly  cha in  management  there?  
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MR MHLONTLO:    There  was nobody f rom supp ly  cha in  bu t  

the  s ignatures  tha t  a re  in  the  memo were  su f f i c ien t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And d id  you ra ise  w i th  Mr  

Burger  o r  anybody e lse ,  was i t  you  who ra ised the  issues  

tha t  Mr  Mlambo had ra ised to  t ry  and get  reassurance tha t  

they had been addressed?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  am not  cer ta in  who ra ised the  issue 

but  a l l  I  know is  tha t  the  issue was  d iscussed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And were  you sa t is f ied  f rom Mr  

Burger  –  was i t  Mr  Burger  who  sa t is f ied  you tha t  the  10 

quest ions o r  concerns ra ised by  Mr  Mlambo had been 

proper ly  addressed?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You see,  what  concerns me,  jus t  a t  

the  leve l  o f  governance and ensur ing  tha t  th ings a re  done 

proper ly  i s  tha t  you have a  memo submi t ted  to  you tha t  

s ta r ts  o f f  w i th  a  recommendat ion  f rom Ms Malah le la  who  

has g iven ev idence tha t  she was bas i ca l l y  fo rced to  do  th is  

by  he r  bosses who inc luded Mr  Burger.   Mr  Burger  does not  

seem to  have conveyed tha t  to  you and then,  on  top  o f  i t ,  20 

Mr  Mlambo had  ra ised to  your  knowledge a  number  o f  

concerns tha t  you shared.   Mr  M lambo was not  there  to  

speak fo r  h imse l f .   Ms Malah le la  was not  there  to  speak fo r  

herse l f .   So you,  r igh t ly,  Mr  Mhlont lo ,  to  you r  c red i t ,  were  

concerned a t  leas t  about  the  concerns ra i sed  by  Mr  
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Mh lon t lo  (s ic )  and ra ised by  yourse l f  bu t  what  t roub les  me 

is  tha t  Mr  Burger  jus t  s imp ly  sa id  do  not  wor ry,  a l l  o f  th is  

has been so r ted  ou t  when c lear l y  i t  i s  no t  the  case.   Mr  

Mlambo gave ev idence tha t  they were  no t  sor ted  ou t .   Ms 

Malah le la  gave ev idence tha t  they were  no t  so r ted  ou t .   

Ne i ther  o f  them was inv i ted  to  the  meet ing ,  i t  may  be that  

Mr  Mlambo was away a t  tha t  t ime.    

Can you jus t  exp la in  to  me about  the  u rgency o f  the  

mat te r?    

We have a l ready heard  ev idence f rom some  10 

w i tnesses tha t  in  de fence cont rac ts  i t  f requent ly  happens 

tha t  these th ings  are  mat te rs  tha t  take  many years .   We 

know in  fac t  in  respect  o f  the  Hoefys te r  p ro jec t  tha t  i t  i s  

a l ready many years  beh ind  schedu le .   Th is  i s  no t  an  

indust ry  tha t  has  to ,  jus t  fo r  example ,  dea l ing  w i th  Cov id  

pa t ien ts  tha t  need vent i la to rs  ton igh t ,  these th ings take  

ages.   Can you jus t  exp la in  to  the  Cha i r  why i t  was – why  

th is  meet ing  was convened?  I  am not  say ing  you a re  

respons ib le  fo r  tha t  bu t  do  you unders tand why th is  

meet ing  was convened as  a  mat te r  o f  such urgency and,  as  20 

i t  happens,  Mr  M lambo is  no t  p resent  and Ms Malah le la  i s  

no t  p resent?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Mr  Mlambo or  Ms Malah le la  be ing  no t  

p resent  wou ld  no t  be  a  b ig  i ssue because there  w i l l  be 

many o ther  i ssues tha t  ge t  debated a t  execut ive  leve l  
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w i thout  Mr  Mlambo o r  Ms Malah le la  be ing  there .   But  le t  

me get  back to  the  spec i f i c  quest ion  tha t  you are  pos ing .   

Th is  memo was p resented to  myse l f  a round the  end o f  June 

or  beg inn ing  o f  Ju l y  wh ich  I  had  [ ind is t inc t ]  09 .14  tha t ,  

hav ing  re jec ted ,  tha t  a  number  o f  var ious workshops and  

conversa t ions took p lace where  we were  seek ing  to  see i f  

LMT cannot  become par t  o f  th is  p rocess and be awarded to  

LMT and in  tha t  p rocess i t  d id  c rea te  tens ions ,  qu i te  

f rank ly,  because  we were  pu t t ing  our  foo t  down wi th  

regards to  i ssues o f  p r ice ,  w i th  regards to  i ssues  o f  LMT 10 

not  be ing  cons idered and th ree  months  down the  l ine  the  

d iv is ion  comes back a f te r  var ious  in te rac t ions and  g ives 

cer ta in  assurances and based on those assurances th is  

memo is  s igned o f f .  

 What  we know today,  we d id  no t  know i t  in  2014  

when th i s  was be ing  done.   Bear  in  m ind tha t  Hoefys te r  

had jus t  been –  I  th ink  i t  had been awarded a t  tha t  s tage,  

p robab ly  was less  than a  year  tha t  th is  p rogramme had  

been awarded and there  was a  speed a t  wh ich  the  –  a t  

wh ich  Hoefys ter  wou ld  be  produced.   A t  leas t  tha t  i s  how 20 

we unders tood  i t  back then,  tha t  necess i ta ted  th is  

par t i cu la r  f ina l i sa t ion  o f  the  memo.   At  leas t  tha t  i s  how we 

unders tood.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Do you …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Th is  meet ing ,  those who a t tended i t ,  do  

they fa l l  in to  a  cer ta in  ca tegory  t ha t  cou ld  have jus t i f ied  

leav ing  ou t  persons who had been  a l lowed to  cont r ibu te  to  

the  debate  such  as  Ms Malah le la .   Was i t  sa id  maybe i t  

was a  meet ing  o f  the  execut ives  or  was there  a  bas is  

known to  you tha t  may have been respons ib le  fo r  Ms 

Malah le la  to  be  l e f t  ou t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The meet ing  took p lace l i te ra l l y   -  Mr  

Burger  wa lked in  w i th  the  memo,  went  to  my o f f i ce  and  10 

asked i f  we cou ld  converge.   We met  a t  Mr  Jan Wesse ls ’ 

o f f i ce ,  the  CEO,  Mr  Sa loo jee ,  in  a t tempt  to  – was  inv i ted  

in to  the  meet ing ,  even bus iness  deve lopment  execut ive  

was inv i ted  to  the  meet ing ,  Mr  Zwelakhe Mpep i .   Those 

were  the  execut ives  tha t  met  over  th is  and there  were  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    From how you desc r ibed i t  i t  seems l i ke  

i t  was a  rush - rush meet ing .  

MR MHLONTLO:    I t  was a  meet ing  tha t  was …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  happened w i thout  much not ice  and i t  20 

was l i ke  le t  us  meet  and d iscuss th is  qu i ck ly  o r  someth ing .  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cha i r,  i t  happened a long those l ines .  

CHAIRPERSON:    A long those  l ines ,  yes .   Okay.   Mr  

Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Look ing  back,  Mr  
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Mh lon t lo ,  i f  you  had known what  you know now f rom what  

ev idence has come out ,  such  as  th rough what  the  

invest iga to rs  have shown you,  wou ld  you have s igned a t  

th is  meet ing  to  recommend the  award  o f  the  cont rac t  to  VR 

Laser?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cer ta in ly  no t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And do you fee l  tha t  you were  m is led  

by  anybody to  an  ex ten t  tha t  tha t  induced you,  persuaded  

you wrong ly  to  s ign  approva l?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The process is  compromised.   I f  you  10 

beg in  to  read someth ing  tha t  says I  w i l l  con tac t  tha t  

spec i f i c  supp l ie r,  I  w i l l  use  o ther  channe ls  to  ge t  to  them,  

suggest ing  tha t  there  i s  a  re la t ionsh ip  tha t  i s  beyond the  

normal  bus iness  re la t ionsh ip .   And once aga in ,  as  I  

ind ica ted  ear l ie r,  i f  you  go to  best  and f ina l  o f fe r,  you  

wou ld  have fo l lowed a  process o f  shor t  l i s t ing ,  you w i l l  be  

look ing  a t  those shor t  l i s ted  supp l ie rs  to  see what  wou ld  be  

the  f ina l  p r ice  tha t  you w i l l  go  w i th .   And i t  happens –  I  

mean,  I  cont inue to  be  in  bus iness  today,  i t  happens eve ry  

day,  bu t  there  is  a  p rocess.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Spec i f i ca l l y  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  Mr  Kennedy ’s  quest ion  is  

whethe r  you fee l  tha t  anybody in  tha t  meet ing  m is led  you 

in  any way,  as  you s i t  there?  

MR MHLONTLO:    The aspect  tha t  has d isc losed to  me 
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today,  tha t  there  were  meet ings ou ts ide  the  process then  

lands to  one th ing ,  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  you were  no t  to ld  about .  

MR MHLONTLO:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And spec i f i ca l l y  in  re la t ion  to  the  

procu rement  i ssues,  do  you fee l  you were  m is led  by  Mr  

Burger  o r  anybody e lse  in to  a  be l ie f ,  a  wrong be l ie f  tha t  

these concerns had been proper ly  reso lved?  

MR MHLONTLO:    A t  the  end o f  tha t  meet ing  I  had the  10 

unders tand ing  tha t  e i ther  the  issues were  in  p rocess o f  

be ing  reso lved adequate l y  o r  were  a l ready reso lved and 

tha t  s ta tement  ce r ta in ly  based on Mr  Mlambo’s  ev idence in  

th is  commi t tee ,  was not  t rue .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  you ra ise  w i th  Mr  Burger  the  

spec i f i c  quest ions po in t  by  po in t  tha t  Mr  Mlambo had  

ra ised in  h is  ema i ls  to  you?  Fo r  example ,  tha t  the  tenders  

had not  been sen t  ou t  to  the  peop le  a t  the  same t ime and  

the  fac t  tha t  there  had been separa te  ind i v idua l  quest ion  

and answer  sess ions w i th  tenderers  ra the r  than the  20 

s tandard  p rac t ice  requ i red  by  the  supp ly  cha in  

management  po l i cy  tha t  eve rybody shou ld  be  t rea ted  the 

same meet ing .   D id  you ra i se  any o f  those quest i ons w i th  

Mr  Burger?  

MR MHLONTLO:   No,  my s ign ing  o f  the  recommendat ion  to  
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the  CEO for  ove ra l l  approva l  i s  based on th ree  d i f fe ren t  

i ssues,  as  I  a r t i cu la ted  a  l i t t le  ear l ie r  on ,  the  issue tha t  the  

pr ice  had now reduced.   Even i f  Mr  Mlambo d id  no t  have 

any concern  I  wou ld  s t i l l  have had the  concern .   I  had a  

respons ib i l i t y  to  ensure  tha t  the  f inances o f  the  company 

are  used economica l l y  and I  wou ld  have had an issue 

around the  l eve l  o f  the  pr i ce ,  a t  leas t  p re l im inary,  i t  was i f  

we are  go ing  to  pay tha t ,  I  wou ld  have had the  issue  

around LMT and  a lso  to  look  to  see i f  there  was  no way  

tha t  LMT wou ld  be  par t  o f  th is ,  whethe r  we put  cer ta in  10 

mi t iga t ions in  p lace  and so  my issues and tha t  o f  

[ ind is t inc t ]  16 .59  are  complement ing  each o the r,  to  a  la rge  

degree are  the  same,  bu t  I  had my own fundamenta l  

concerns on  the  process.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Look ing  back,  w i th  the  benef i t  

h inds igh t  wh ich  we a l l  know is  f i f t y / f i f t y,  bu t  look ing  back  

w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t ,  do  you now fee l  tha t  perhaps 

you,  qu i te  apar t  f rom o thers ,  do  you th ink  tha t  perhaps you  

shou ld  have been more  de ta i led  and more  enqu i r ing  to  be  

sa t is f ied  tha t  a l l  o f  the  var ious issues ra i sed  by  Mr  20 

Mlambo,  no t  jus t  the  ones tha t  you focused on,  bu t  a l l  o f  

them were  compl ied  w i th  o r  reso lved,  ra the r?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  suppose when you work  as  a  team,  

wou ld  expect  a l l  o f  us ,  the  execut ives ,  who are  cont r ibu t ing  

towards or  work ing  towards the  same goa l .   So when you 
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sp l i t (? )  and look ing  a t  the  d i v is ion ,  look  a t  the  leadersh ip ,  I  

expected to  p lay  the i r  pa r t ,  I  p lay  my par t .   Now wi th  

h inds igh t ,  yes ,  you r igh t ly  say  and many o the r  fac tors  tha t  

we now know tha t  we d id  no t  know back then,  I  mean,  one  

wou ld  have been more  c i rcumspect  on  [ ind is t inc t  –  

d ropp ing  vo ice ]  

 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  no t  exact ly  the  reason why  

you shou ld  be  more  c i rcumspect?   That  i s  exact ly  why,  fo r  

example ,  the  de legat ion  vests  the  au thor i t y  to  approve th is  10 

sor t  o f  cont rac t  o f  a lmost  200 mi l l ion  a t  head o f f i ce  leve l ,  

no t  the  d iv is iona l  leve l?    You see ,  I  unders tand your  po in t  

tha t  you –  we were  a l l  work ing  as  a  team and  we are  

en t i t led  to  expec t  tha t  we are  a l l  work ing  fo r  the  same 

goa l ,  a re  you in  fac t  ab le  to  say tha t  everybody w i th  the  

benef i t  o f  h inds igh t ,  tha t  eve rybody in  tha t  meet ing  was  

ac tua l l y  work ing  fo r  the  same goa l?   In  re t rospect  do  you  

not  fee l  perhaps  there  is  a  poss ib i l i t y  tha t  some a t  tha t  

meet ing  may have been t ry ing  to  man ipu la te  you and the  

process to  ensure  tha t  VR Laser  was g iven a t  a l l  cos ts?  20 

MR MHLONTLO:    Cha i r,  w i th  what  you know,  tha t  i s  no t  in  

d ispute ,  there  a re  many fac ts  tha t  a re  suggest ing  tha t  th is  

par t i cu la r  d iv i s ion  was too  c lose  to  tha t  company and I  say  

tha t  c lear l y  in  my a f f idav i t ,  tha t  th is  cou ld  have been 

s taged,  to  say the  least .   But  there  were  ce r ta in  aspects  
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tha t  I  looked in to  and those aspects  were  ones tha t  

enab led  me to  pu t  my s ignature .   Bear ing  in  m ind,  I  was 

not  the  overa l l  approver,  bu t  I  w i l l  i n  a  sense say,  one o r  

two issues tha t  a re  c r i t i ca l  to  me,  I  th ink  had been 

addressed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  no t  a l l  o f  the  issues ra i sed by  Mr  

Mlambo,  no t  so?  

MR MHLONTLO:    There  was a  spec i f i c  unders tand ing  

around Mr  Mlambo’s  i ssues.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  me te l l  you  what  I  unders tood your  10 

immedia te  past  answer  to  mean to  Mr  Kennedy ’s  quest ion .   

I  unders tood you  to  be  say ing  there  can be no doubt  o r  

there  i s  no  doub t  in  your  m ind tha t  e i the r  there  was o r  

there     may have been some manipu la t ion  o f  p rocesses  

when you look a t  the  t ransact ion  w i th  the  knowledge tha t  

you have now.   Am I  r igh t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  what  you  are  say ing .   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I  jus t  want  to  

comple te  the  quest ion ing  in  re la t ion  to  your  ear l i e r  po in t  20 

tha t  you were  a l l  par t  o f  team work ing  fo r  the  same 

ob jec t i ve .   P resumably  you are  ta l k ing  about  the  ob jec t i ve  

be ing  the  best  se rv ice  tha t  you can prov ide  fo r  Dene l  in  i t s  

in te res ts  th rough a  proper  p rocurement  p rocess tha t  f rom a 

techn ica l ,  f inanc ia l  bus iness po in t  o f  v iew is  go ing  to  ge t  
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the  best  so lu t ion ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    That  i s  indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And wou ld  you agree tha t  Mr  Mlambo 

was mot iva ted  by  tha t  ob jec t i ve?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  w i l l  say  yes,  indeed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   What  I  want  to  sugges t  to  you 

is  Mr  Mlambo was e f fec t i ve l y  to  an  ex ten t  s ide l ined,  tha t  i f  

Mr  Mlambo had been taken more  ser ious l y  in  the  concerns  

tha t  he  ra ised and tha t  you had pe rhaps been more  care fu l  

in  sc ru t in is ing  what  Mr  Burger  gave you as  an  assurance 10 

tha t  a l l  o f  those concerns had been reso lved,  tha t  perhaps  

you cou ld  have s topped the  award  o f  the  who le  con t rac t  o f  

VR Laser  by  Dene l ’s  Land Systems ent i t y.   I s  tha t  fa i r  to  

say?  

MR MHLONTLO:    No?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  no?  

MR MHLONTLO:    No.   I  go t  p resented w i th  a  memo,  we 

have got  peop le  w i th  ce r ta in  sk i l l  se ts  w i th  ove r  20  years  

exper ience o f  assembl ing  veh ic les ,  des ign ing ,  engag ing  

w i th  c l ien t s ,  they  have done and car r ied  ou t ,  you know,  b ig  20 

–  executed b ig  p ro jec ts  in  the  past  and those ind iv idua ls  

w i th  tha t  background w i th  a  h is to ry  o f  exce l len t  work  fo r  

the  count ry,  p roduce a  memo,  they br ing  i t  to  me,  I  query  

the  aspects  tha t  I  fee l  tha t  a re  ou t  l ine .   They go away,  

come back,  those were  –  tha t  a re  ou t  l ine  have been 
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add ressed and represented to  me to  say Mr  Mlambo ra ised  

cer ta in  i ssues and those cer ta in  i ssues we are  address ing .   

Your  spec i f i c  i ssues have now been ad jus ted  and then 

under  those c i rcumstances I  wou ld  have been comfor tab le  

even i f  you take  me back to  2014.   However,  knowing what  

I  now know,  tha t  there  was someth ing  wrong  in  the  

process.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Be fore  I  leave th is  top ic  o f  the  award  

o f  the  cont rac t  fo r  the  hu l l s ,  I  jus t  want  you to  re fer  –  so  

can you put  away the  bund le  1  tha t  we have been  look ing  10 

a t  and I  wou ld  l i ke  you to  go  back to  bund le  7  wh ich  

conta ins  your  a f f idav i t .   I f  I  can  ask  you in  bund le  7  to  tu rn  

to  your  a f f idav i t  a t  page 580?   

MR MHLONTLO:    Page?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    580.   A t  the  top  o f  th is  page,  

parag raph 3 .18 ,  you re fer  to  emai ls  tha t  were  shown to  you 

by  the  invest iga tors ,  DLS in te rna l  emai ls  tha t  you say you 

were  no t  p r i vy  to .   They were  d iscuss ing  de ta i l s  o f  the  

tender  and then you say in  paragraph 3  a t  19 :  

“Based on emai ls  ev idence VR Laser  Serv i ces  was  20 

too  c lose  to  DLS and the  who le  process m ight  have 

been c reated fo r  and jus t  to  favour  them.   These 

emai ls  rendered the  tender  i r regu lar.   Had I  know 

th is ,  I  wou ld  have even opposed  the  award  much  

more . ”  
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I s  tha t  your  cur ren t  s ta te  o f  m ind?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  thank you.   Now the  f ina l  po in t  

on  th is  top ic  tha t  in te res ts  me  is  3 .20 .   You re fer  to  

someth ing  tha t  happened du r ing  the  Dene l  Annua l  Women’s  

Day funct ion  in  2014 and you rece ived a  ca l l  f rom Ci ty  

Press.   Women’s  Day is  in  ear l y  August ,  hey?  I  th ink  i t  i s  

the  9  August .  

MR MHLONTLO:    We had a  funct ion  in  the  m idd le  o f  

August .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  the  m idd le  o f  August  was the  

funct ion  and you rece ived a  ca l l  f rom Ci ty  Press.   Was tha t  

a  C i ty  Press journa l i s t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And what  were  you asked?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  was asked a  quest ion  tha t  i s  i t  t rue  

tha t  the  tender  fo r  –  o r  re la t ing  to  Hoefys ter  wou ld  be  

awarded to  VR Laser  o r  p rocurement  wou ld  be . . .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR MHLONTLO:    Ja .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And how d id  you respond?  

MR MHLONTLO:    My response was fa i r l y  s tandard  to  say 

tha t  any work  tha t  we put  ou t  there  fo l lows a  procu rement  

p rocess,  so  there  wou ld  be  no one  a t  any po in t  who  wou ld  

jus t  know who wou ld  be  awarded  what  w i th  and when the  
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quest ion  was posed,  i t  was a f te r  Hoefys te r  had been  

awarded to  Dene l  and my unders tand ing  was tha t  there  

was go ing  to  be  a  comprehens ive  p rocess around p ieces(? )  

o f  work  wou ld  be  put  ou t  to  the  market .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  thank you.   Cha i r,  w i th  your  

leave,  may we move to  the  next  top ic?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Which  i s  dea l t  w i th  f rom paragraph 4  

on  page 580 and I  p ropose to  dea l  w i th  th is  ve ry  b r ie f l y.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  i s  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  the  BAE Land  

System South  A f r i ca .   Now the  BAE is  a  re ference to  the 

Br i t i sh  de fence ent i t y,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  so ld  a  subs id ia ry  tha t  was 

known as Land Systems South  A f r i ca ,  a lso  re fer red  to  in  

the  papers  as  LSSA,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now you gave ev idence yeste rday  

and th is  morn ing  about  the  c i rcumstances o f  your  20 

suspens ion  and the  bas is  on  wh ich  you were  to ld  t ha t  they 

were  cons ider ing  your  suspens ion  was tha t  you and your  

co l leagues,  Mr  Sa loo jee  and Ms  A f r i ka ,  had mis led  the  

board  i n  re la t ion  to  i ssues concern ing  the  acqu is i t ion  o f  

LSSA.   I s  tha t  what  they a l leged?  
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MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  th is  i s  the  very  company tha t  you  

are  a l leged to  have g iven them mis lead ing  in fo rmat ion  

about .  

MR MHLONTLO:    R igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cor rec t .   Now,  Mr  Mhlont lo ,  you have 

g iven ve ry  he lp fu l  de ta i l  in  your  a f f idav i t  f rom page  580 to                      

587  dea l ing  w i th  the  background re la t ing  to  the  acqu is i t ion  

and whether  there  was anyth ing  wrong in  re la t ion  to  tha t .   

Now o f  course  u l t imate ly  i f  your  d isc ip l ina ry  enqu i ry  had 10 

been he ld  you wou ld  have had an  oppor tun i ty  to  pu t  a l l  o f  

th is  up  be fore  the  d isc ip l inary  enqu i ry.    

How much o f  i t     may u l t imate ly  be  re levant ,  i f  a t  

a l l ,  fo r  purposes o f  the  Commiss ion  w i l l  be  fo r  the  l earned 

Cha i rperson to  dec ide  in  due course  but  can I  jus t  ask  you 

to  g ive  by  way  o f  jus t  b road  summary your  overa l l  

ev idence,  summary o f  your  ev idence overa l l  as  to  whethe r  

there  was anyth ing  improper  o r  i r regu la r  o r  un lawfu l  o r  bad 

f rom a  bus iness po in t  o f  v iew in  re la t ion  to  the  acqu is i t ion  

o f  LSSA f rom your  perspect ive ,  f rom your  knowledge.  20 

MR MHLONTLO:    Cha i r,  th is  bus iness had opera ted  in  

South  A f r i ca  fo r  many years ,  i t  had produced some o f  the  

m i l i ta ry  veh ic les  tha t  a re  heav i l y  u t i l i sed  by  our  SANDF.   I t  

had produced the  veh ic les  tha t  were  used in  the  Midd le  

East  by  the  Amer icans dur ing  var ious so r t  o f  wars  and so  
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on .   Th is  company was brought  to  our  a t ten t ion  by  ABSA 

tha t  i t  was be ing  d isposed.   My in i t ia l  react ion  was in i t ia l l y  

I  thought  I  wou ld  even meet  ABSA to  d iscuss i t  because 

Dene l  was not  acqu is i t i ve  a t  tha t  s tage but  ou t  o f  ensur ing  

tha t ,  you know,  we had a  bus iness re la t ionsh ip  w i th  them 

so we were  matched w i th  them  I  b r ie fed  the  CEO who 

under took to  b r i e f  var ious s takeho lders  be fore  they can 

take  any v iew whatsoever,  and there  was a  pos i t i ve  or  

suppor t  tha t  i t  i s  someth ing  tha t  we must  look  a t  c lose ly  

because in  the  event  tha t  there ’s  somebody bought  o f f  by 10 

o ther  compan ies  tha t  a re  ou ts ide  the  S ta te  there  cou ld  be  

cer ta in  vu lne rab i l i t ies  tha t  cou ld  be  there  w i th in  ou r  fo rces  

and ant i ,  and we looked in to  tha t ,  went  and v iewed the  

premises o f  the  company . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  a t  the  end,  we 

ins t i tu ted ,  va lua t ion  was ins t i tu ted ,  due d i l igence,  we wro te  

PFMA app l ica t ions to  the  Min is t ry.    

 A f te r  a  p ro t rac ted  15 month  per iod  there  was a  

PFMA approva l ,  a f te r  var ious requests  o r  va r ious  se ts  o f  

in fo rmat ion  and presenta t ion ,  due d i l igence was done by  

the  banks outs ide  o f  our  own due d i l igences and  i t  was  20 

then a  bus iness tha t  was then bought .   There  a re  a  few 

th ings tha t  were  l inked to  th is  p rocess.    One was tha t  the  

funder,  wh ich  was Nedbank,  the  in -p r inc ip le  funder  as  we 

were  pu rsu ing  th is  oppor tun i ty.   When i t  came to  ac tua l l y  

jus t  about  to  conc lude the  dea l  they became uncomfor tab le  
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and the i r  po in t  was in  th is  fund ing  s t ruc ture  we had  

inco rpora ted  ABSA,  the  co - funder,  and they fe l t  tha t  the  

secur i t ies  tha t  had been prov ided fo r  them ve rsus what  had 

been prov ided fo r  ABSA were  no t  on  par  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  

bas is ,  they were  no t  equa l  and they wanted us  to  ex i t  

ABSA and use ou r  own resources to  fund.   The a l te rna t ive  

wou ld  be  they a re  no  longer  go ing  to  cont inue to  fund.  

 A t  tha t  po in t  our  Cha i r  o f  the  Board  engaged  

d i rec t l y  w i th  the  execut ives  o f  Nedbank and the  ag reement  

was tha t  there  wou ld  be  a  sor t  o f  b r idg ing  f inance  fo r  f i ve  10 

months  to  a l low a  proper  res t ruc tur ing  o f  the  fund ing ,  and  

one o f  the  th ings  tha t  s tood out  in  the  approva l  f rom the  

Min is te r  was the  fac t  tha t  we needed to  ensure  tha t  there  

was an equ i ty  pa r tner  as  a  pa r t  o f  the  s t ruc ture  in  t e rms o f  

the  ownersh ip ,  no t  on ly  100% Dene l  bu t  there  is  an  equ i ty  

par tnersh ip .  

 So the  pos i t ion  by  Nedbank ta lked  to  in  one way o r  

the  o ther  the  fac t  tha t  there  was anyway a  rev is i t  o f  the  

shareho ld ing  o f  the  en t i t y.   The equ i ty  par tnersh ip  process  

o f  our  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  sess ion  fo r  equ i ty  par tne rsh ip  s ta r ted  20 

and there  was a  pre l im inary  v iew tha t  tha t  shou ld  be  a  UAE 

company . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  and tha t  a l l  was par t  o f  the  

handover  p rocess to  the  new Board ,  whereas the  new 

Board  d id  no t  car ry  tha t  th rough.  

 When we le f t  we had not  fu l l y  res t ruc tured the  
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fund ing ,  because  we were  runn ing  out  o f  t ime we had 

ar ranged tha t  the  fund ing  o f  Nedbank be ex tended to  

March 2016,  you w i l l  see  the  ev idence in  the  pack,  bu t  the  

one las t  th ing  is  tha t  ABSA was a lso  exp lor ing  to  take  ove r  

the  ove ra l l  fund ing ,  ins tead o f  the  fund ing  be ing  ha l f /ha l f  

jus t  take  over  the  who le  fund ing  but  a  load o f  i ssues w i th  

the  bank ing  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  th is  ins t i tu t ion  arose when we  

were  suspended .   We had an unbe l ievab le  mature  

re la t ionsh ip  w i th  f inanc ia l  ins t i tu t ions ,  no  one dea l  can be  

conc luded w i thout  a  f inanc ia l  i ns t i tu t ion  beh ind  i t  to  10 

suppor t  i t  in  the  fo rm o f  guarantees e tce tera ,  e tce te ra .   We 

wou ld  have comprehens ive  engagement  w i th  f inanc ia l  

ins t i tu t ions ,  and  when those re la t ionsh ips  fe l l  apar t  

obv ious ly  the  ins t i tu t ion  su f fe red .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you ,  now LSSA once i t  was 

purchased was then incorpora ted  in to  the  group as  par t  o f  

DVS is  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  and there  was an ag reement  

be tween DVS and VR Laser  fo r  a  s ing le  source  supp ly  o f  20 

par t i cu la r  i tems.    As  I  unders tand  i t  Mr  Mhlont lo  tha t  took 

p lace a f te r  your  suspens ion ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  have no knowledge o f  i t  so  i t  must  

have happened a f te r  I  le f t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Now I  wou ld  l i ke  to  come to  
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page 594,  r igh t  near  the  end o f  your  a f f idav i t ,  to  dea l  w i th  

the  f ina l  i ssue i f  I  may,  and you  were  asked to  answer  

quest ions about  a l leged in te r fe rence by  the  Guptas  and  

the i r  assoc ia tes .   Now you ment ioned ear l ie r  tha t  in  2014 

around mid-August  2014 you got  the  s t range ca l l  f rom the  

C i ty  Press journa l i s t ,  d id  the  jou rna l i s t  ment ion  anyth ing  

about  the  Guptas? 

MR MHLONTLO:    No.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Were  you aware ,  so  i t  was jus t  about  

two months la te r,  a f te r  the  C i ty  P ress journa l i s t  spoke to  10 

you s t range ca l l ,  d id  you par t i c ipa te  in  the  meet ing  where  

you jo ined w i th  your  co l leagues in  s ign ing  the  

recommendat ion  o f  the  mot iva t ion  to  appo in t  VR Laser  fo r  

the  hu l l  con t rac t ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    When you were  par t  o f  tha t  meet ing  

were  you aware  tha t  the  Guptas  or  any o f  the i r  assoc ia tes ,  

such as  Mr  Sa l im Essa had any shares or  in te res ts  in  VR 

Laser?   

MR MHLONTLO:    I  d id  no t ,  bu t  I  wou ld  imag ine  even i f  I  20 

d id  i t  wou ld  no t  have mat te red.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  bu t  you d id  no t  a t  tha t  t ime? 

MR MHLONTLO:    No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You were  asked to  comment  about  

your  knowledge  o f  the  Guptas  and the i r  assoc ia tes ’ 
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invo l vement  and your  contac t  w i th  them,  d id  you have any  

bus iness t ransact ions a t  a l l  to  you r  knowledge a t  the  t ime 

tha t  you were  s t i l l  Group Ch ie f  F inanc ia l  Off i cer,  wh ich  

invo l ved to  your  knowledge the  Guptas  o r  the i r  assoc ia tes?  

MR MHLONTLO:    Not  d i rec t l y,  I  mean tha t  cou ld  be  w i th in  

the  group,  some bus iness I  wou ldn ’ t  know.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  were  you aware  o f  tha t  o r  no t  a t  

the  t ime?  

MR MHLONTLO:    No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That ’s  why my quest ion  was spec i f i c ,  10 

were  they i nvo lved to  your  knowledge a t  the  t ime .    Now 

you were  asked as  to  what  contac t  you may have had w i th  

the  Guptas  or  the i r  assoc ia tes  and you ’ve  ment ioned th ree  

th ings i n  your  a f f idav i t  on  page 594.   The f i rs t  i s  a  v is i t  to  

Dene l ’s  o f f i ces  by  –  in  May/June  2013 by  Mr  Hower,  Mr  

Wi l l iams,  and a  th i rd  ind iv idua l  who came to  meet  your  

Group CEO,  Mr  Sa loo jee  and  your  then bus iness  

deve lopment  execut ive ,  Mr  Ntshepe.   Do you remember  

who the  th i rd  ind i v idua l  was?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  th ink  the  f i rs t  was Pat ience,  I  don ’ t  20 

know what  the  su rname was.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Pa t ience?  

MR MHLONTLO:    I  suspect .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay and were  you invo lved in  tha t  

meet ing ,  d id  you unders tand why those ind iv idua ls  came to  
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Dene l ’s  o f f i ces  to  meet  Mr  Sa loo jee  and Mr  Ntshepe? 

MR MHLONTLO:    Not  rea l l y,  bu t  when the  meet ing  was –  

the  meet ing  was  rough ly  about  30  m inutes ,  a t  the  end o f  

tha t  meet ing  as  I  was coming ou t  o f  my o f f i ce  to  go  fo r  

lunch I  was ca l l ed  in  and in t roduced to  them and they  

ind ica ted  tha t  they had been to  us  or  Dene l  to  look  fo r  

bus iness oppor tun i ty  and the i r  unders tand ing  was tha t  I  am 

qu i te  in f luent ia l  and wou ld  . . . [ ind is t inc t  –  d ropp ing  vo ice ] .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now your  a f f idav i t  re fe rs  spec i f i ca l l y  

to  a  subscr ip t ion  fo r  Dene l  to  subscr ibe  to  the  New Age 10 

newspaper  and take  up adver t i s ing  space.   Was tha t  

d iscussed w i th  you a t  the  t ime? 

MR MHLONTLO:    So  the  meet ing  tha t  was sa id  wou ld  be  

schedu led  fo r  the  fo l low ing week  i t  was schedu led ,  the  

same th ree ind iv idua ls  came to  see myse l f  and the  

Communica t ions Execut ive  and they pu t  to  us  tha t  they 

were  look ing  fo r  bus iness oppor tun i t ies  and one i f  the  area  

wou ld  be  the  New Age newspaper  tha t  we cou ld  subscr ibe  

s im i la r  to  the  SAA and s im i la r  to  the  va r ious government  

depar tments  and  th is  i s  what  they pu t  to  us ,  and tha t  20 

meet ing  wasn ’ t  –  d idn ’ t  a r r i ve  a t  anyth ing  because we sa id  

to  them we f i rs t  o f  a l l  wou ld  need to  know,  do  a  l i t t le  b i t  o f  

homework  ourse l ves,  how many  bus inesses they were  

buy ing ,  how many s ta f f  we were  buy ing  and whatever  o ther  

newspapers .   I f  we were  to  subscr ibe  fo r  New Age i t  w i l l  be  
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w i th in  the  contex t  o f  our  normal  consumpt ion  o f  newspaper  

and we asked o ther  quest ions,  t yp ica l l y  what  i s  your  

c i rcu la t ion ,  who is  the  reader  o f  your  paper  and to  what  

ex ten t  can tha t  be  benef ic ia l  to  us .  

 For  example  i f  they  were  to  say a  lo t  o f  youth  who  

are  good sc ien t i s ts  o r  eng ineer ing  s tudents  are  read ing  

th is  k ind  o f  paper,  someth ing  tha t  we might  have looked a t  

because our  mandate  inc luded ensur ing  tha t  we do  recru i t  

young eng ineers  and nur tu re  those in to  sen ior  –  you know 

to  become proper  good eng ineers ,  so  we asked those 10 

bus iness pr inc ip le  quest ions and the  meet ing  came to  an 

end w i thout  –  we  sa id  look we cannot  commi t  to  anyth ing ,  

we must  f i rs t  do  our  own homework ,  we do meet  in  fu tu re  

whatever  m ight  happen wou ld  be  in fo rmed by  these  

pr inc ip les ,  how they have been –  o r  answered.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A r is ing  f rom those d iscuss ions d id  

you la te r  dec ide  to  do  any bus iness w i th  the  New Age  

newspaper,  e i t her  by  way  o f  subscr ip t ion  o r  

adver t i sements?  

MR MHLONTLO:    So what  happened in  about  a  week o r  20 

two a f te r  tha t  I  rea l i sed tha t  in  my d ia ry  there  was an 

inv i ta t ion  to  Sahara  Compute rs  fo r  lunch,  I  went  ove r,  I  

thought  somebody e l se  w i th in  the  group was supposed to  

be  coming,  bu t  I  mean they had the  guys tha t  I  had met  

on ly  once a  l i t t le  b i t  more  fo rmal  because we had a  30  



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 129 of 231 
 

m inu tes  or  so  meet ing ,  I  had prev ious met  them for  f i ve  

m inutes ,  I  though t  somebody e l se  was coming.   When I  go t  

to  Sahara  Computers  i t  was the  th ree ,  two gent lemen,  p lus  

Pat ience,  p lus  a  four th  person who I  ba t t le  to  loca te  who  

might  have been and a  gent leman o f  Ind ian  descent .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry,  jus t  p lease speak up a  l i t t le .   

MR MHLONTLO:    A gent leman o f  Ind ian  descent .   We met ,  

we sa t  a round a  b ig  tab le  and he was cha i r ing  the  meet ing  

and he d id  make  re ference to  the  fac t  tha t  they had met  

w i th  me,  h is  guys  had met  w i th  me and have they re f lec ted  10 

on what  they are  look ing  fo r  and –  wh ich  I  conf i rmed tha t  I  

had re f lec ted ,  I  have done,  I  have now had a  look a t  a  

number  o f  Bus iness Day newspapers  tha t  I  am buy ing ,  the  

S tar  tha t  I  am buy ing  and any o ther  newspaper  tha t  I  am 

buy ing ,  I  am buy ing  no more  than 36 cop ies  o f  a l l  o f  those  

newspapers  and  the  bus iness uses the  newspaper  on  a  

shar ing  bas i s ,  they pu t  them in  a  common a rea 

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  and  then they rea l l y  were  look ing  fo r  what  

was the  way fo rward  and I  regurg i ta ted  the  same po in ts  

tha t  we had made wi th  them,  to  say look to  the  ex ten t  tha t  20 

the  newspaper  enhances what  we are  about  in  te rms o f  our  

mandate  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  the  c i rcu la t ion  makes  sense,  

any o ther  serv ices  tha t  you are  se l l ing  shou ld  be  w i th in  the  

contex t  o f  our  own mandate .    We must  a lso  fu r ther  take  

in to  account  the  issues o f  budget  and i t  must  be  someth ing  
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tha t  we a lways wanted,  no t  jus t  because you ’ re  se l l ing  i t ,  

and a f te r  th is  long-winded meet ing  because essent ia l l y,  

and I  am ra is ing  those k ind  o f  po in ts  because the  meet ing  

becomes a  l i t t le  b i t  long-winded,  a t  the  end I  sa id  to  them 

cou ld  i t  be  poss ib le  fo r  them to  reduce the i r  request  in to  

wr i t ing  and I  never  heard  f rom them s ince then,  bu t  what ’s  

re levant  a lso  is  the  fac t  tha t  when  they were  exp la in ing  the  

sor t  o f  bus iness or  the  empi re  they were  t ry ing  to  c rea te  in  

th is  count ry  i t  inc luded se t t ing  up  ANN7,  a t  tha t  po in t  ANN7 

was  no t  –  was s t i l l  be ing  bu i l t ,  the  s tud ios  were  be ing  bu i l t  10 

and I  was taken a round in  te rms o f  where  the  s tud ios  wou ld  

be  and what  sor t  o f  fo rmat  o f  te lev is ion  wou ld  be  used  

wou ld  be  more  a l igned to  some –  cur ren t  a f fa i rs  p rog ram 

as apparent ly  there  i s  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  somewhere  in  Ind ia  

tha t  fo l lows tha t  k ind  o f  cur ren t  a f fa i rs ,  so  –  and I  was 

promised,  wh ich  happened,  I  was promised tha t  I  wou ld  be  

the  f i rs t  –  I  wou ld  be  among the  f i rs t  peop le  who w i l l  be  

inv i ted  to  the  s tud ios  once the  s tud ios  are  up  and runn ing  

to  come and ta lk  about  Dene l ,  so  I  never  heard  f rom them 

o ther  than tha t  inv i te  was to  come and ta l k  about  Dene l  in  20 

ANN7 wh ich  I  went  there  and d id ,  and tha t  was the  las t  

t ime I  heard  f rom them.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r,  we have no fu r ther  

quest ions fo r  th is  w i tness.  

 Thank you.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you ve ry  much.   Thank you Mr  

Mhlont lo  fo r  coming to  g i ve  ev idence,  we apprec ia te  i t  very  

much.   I f  we need you to  come back we w i l l  ask  you but  fo r  

now you are  excused.  

MR MHLONTLO:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Cha i r  thank you,  our  next  w i tness is  I  

unders tand ava i l ab le  and ready to  s ta r t ,  and tha t  i s  Mr  

Zwalakhe Ntshepe.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  you may  ca l l  h im as soon as  Mr  10 

Mhlont lo  has le f t  the  w i tness cha i r.    A re  you go ing  to  need 

me to  ad journ  or  i t  w i l l  be  smooth  w i thout  ad jou rn ing? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am sor ry  Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    A re  you go ing  to  need me to  ad journ  

be fore  Mr  Ntshepe or  eve ry th ing  w i l l  be  smooth  we don ’ t  

need to  ad journ?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  don ’ t  th ink  so ,  a l though the  p rev ious 

week somebody wanted to  san i t i se  the  a rea,  I  don ’ t  know i f  

tha t  may –  you may want  to  ad journ  wh i le  tha t  i s  done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe I  w i l l  ad journ  fo r  f i ve  m inu tes .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 
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ADV KENNEDY SC:  Chair thank you we are ready for the 

next  wi tness.   I t  is  Mr Zwelakhe Ntshepe.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  just  indicate Chair  that  he is  

legal ly represented and my learned f r iend Mr Zed Feni  – F-e-

n- i  – Advocate Feni  inst ructed by Tlale – Tla le At torneys I  

beg your pardon i f  I  got  i t  wrong.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Is present  Mr Feni  is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   You want  to just  place yoursel f  on 10 

record Mr Feni .  

ADV FENI:   Chai r  – may i t  p lease you Chair  I  conf i rm my 

appearance for Mr  Ntshepe.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .   Thank you.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r  for you guidance.   We 

are deal ing now with the aff idavi ts  that  appear in Bundle – 

Denel  Bundle 8 under the Exhib i t  number W23.  There is a  

main aff idavi t  and then a – a supplementary aff idavi t  and I  

would ask wi th your leave.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   To take the wi tness to  that  once he has 

been sworn in.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   P lease administer  the oath or aff i rmat ion.  

REGISTRAR:   P lease state your fu l l  names for the record.  

MR NTSHEPE:   My name is Zwelakhe [?]  Ntshepe.  
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REGISTRAR:   Do you have any object ions to taking the 

prescr ibed oath? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  do not .  

REGISTRAR:   Do you consider the oath to be b inding on 

your conscience? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes I  do.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Do you swear that  the evidence you wi l l  

g ive wi l l  be the t ruth;  the whole t ruth and nothing else but  

the t ruth;  i f  so please raise your r ight  hand and say,  so help 

me God.  10 

MR NTSHEPE:   So help me God.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You may be seated Mr Ntshepe.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes Mr Kennedy you may proceed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.   Mr Ntshepe thank 

you for assist ing the commission’s legal  team earl ier in  

providing two aff idavi ts in i t ia l ly requested by the 

invest igators and thank you for assist ing us as the legal  

team in a recent  consul tat ion.   I f  I  can ask you in the bundle 

that  is in f ront  of  you – the f i le in f ront  of  you do you have i t  20 

open at  page 497 the beginning of  your aff idavi t  and i f  you 

look at  the top lef t  pr inted in black you wi l l  see Denel -08-484 

is the t i t le page and in fact  your  aff idavi t  starts  I  bel ieve at  

497,  is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now before your aff idavi t  what has 

been included is a ser ies of  quest ions that  you were sent  by 

the invest igators.   Can I  take you to page 486?  That  is the 

beginning of  a let ter that  comes f rom the commission sent  to  

your at torneys Tla le At torneys,  is that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And they ra ised a number of  issues,  

quest ions under speci f ic topics in  a l ist  of  quest ions f rom 

page 488,  is that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So for  example the f i rst  topic paragraph 

1 on page 488 is Denel  Asia? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You then responded as they requested 

in a form of  an aff idavi t  that  starts at  page 497 and you then 

deal  wi th the – page 497 paragraph C you say:  

“ I  deposed to the aff idavi t  in response to the 

l ist  of  quest ions contained in a let ter and I  do 

so in an aff idavi t  format as a resul t  of  a 

request  to respond in such a manner. ”  20 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The l ist  of  quest ions is the one that  we 

have just  looked at ,  is that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So when you say for example on page 
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498 paragraph 1 ad paragraph 1 that  is obviously the legal  –  

the lawyers terminology ad paragraph 1 that  is a reference to 

paragraph 1 of  a l ist  of  quest ions that  you received f rom the 

invest igators? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And may I  ask is that  your signature 

that  appears on page 522?  The f i rs t  s ignature on page 522.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  ask have you been through this  

aff idavi t?  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes I  have.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And are you sat isf ied that  i t  is contents 

are correct  save in one respect  you make a correct ion of 

some detai l  in the second aff idavi t  which we wi l l  come to.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Apart  f rom that  part icular aspect  that  

you have corrected in your supplementary aff idavi t  you 

conf i rm that  the contents of  the -  th is aff idavi t  are t rue and 20 

correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right  thank you.   And then before I  ask 

for  i t  to be formerly admit ted Chair  may I  just  complete the 

process of  the second aff idavi t  page 523 is another let ter 
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f rom the commission the act ing secretary of  the commission 

523 to 525 and that  was a request  by the commission for  

c lar i f icat ion of  some issues that  you have raised in your f i rst  

aff idavi t ,  is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you then were requested to  provide 

a supplementary aff idavi t  to deal  wi th that  and may I  take 

you then to page 526 is that  the beginning of  your  

supplementary aff idavi t?  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i f  I  can take you please to page 

531 is that  your  signature above the typed name Z N 

Ntshepe? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And again this was signed in f ront  of  a  

Commissioner of  Oaths l ike the f i rs t  aff idavi t ,  is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And have you been through the 

contents of  th is supplementary aff idavi t?  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes I  have.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Were both of  your aff idavi ts done with  

the assistance of  your legal  team? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   Thank you.   May I  ask you say 

you have been through this supplementary aff idavi t  are you 
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sat isf ied and can you assure the commission’s Chairperson 

under oath that  the contents are t rue and correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  can conf i rm and to say that  they are t rue 

and correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right  thank you.   Chai rperson we would 

then former ly move for your leave to admit  these two 

aff idavi ts.   The one start ing at  page 497 together wi th the 

quest ions which are fol lowed by the aff idavi t  as wel l  as the 

supplementary quest ions and the supplementary aff idavi t  

that  starts at  page 526.  We would ask that  the f i rs t  lot  be 10 

admit ted as Exhib i t  W23 and the documents that  appear f rom 

page 523 as Exhibi t  W23.1.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay I  th ink we wi l l  have to  separate the 

quest ions f rom the aff idavi ts.   The f i rst  a ff idavi t  you propose 

should be admit ted as Exhibi t  W23? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   W23? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   I  suggest  that  we do i t  th is way and 

i f  i t  is f ine wi th you that  the let ter appearing at  page 486 we 20 

make i t  W23.1.   And then the – i t  has got  an annexure so 

that  wi l l  be that  let ter plus the annexure.   And then that  the 

aff idavi t  which responds to those quest ions be Exhibi t  23.2.   

Would that  be f ine and then… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   We wi l l  do the same when we go to the 

other one.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  f ine? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   The let ter  start ing at  page 386 

together wi th the annexure thereto is  admit ted as Exhibi t  

W23.1 and the aff idavi t  of  Mr Zwelakhe Ntshepe start ing at  

page 497 is admit ted as Exhibi t  W23.2.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Point  – wel l  ja 23.2.   And then we go to  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Page 523 Chair.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The next  – ja that  is 523.   The let ter 

start ing at  page 523 is admit ted as Exhibi t  W23.3 and then 

the aff idavi t  of  Mr Zwelakhe Nthlanganison [?]  Ntshepe 

start ing at  page 526 is admit ted as Exhibi t  W23.4.   Is that  

f ine Mr Kennedy? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay al r ight .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A lr ight  thank you Chai r.   Mr Ntshepe 20 

you deal  f i rst  in  your  main aff idavi t  at  page 498 w ith the 

issue of  Denel  Asia and you refer  to the Minister o f  Publ ic 

Enterpr ises giving approval  for the Denel  Asia Joint  Venture 

in January 2016 with the format ion was af ter the approval  in 

January 2016.  And then you refer  to the concept and idea 
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being int roduced to you by Mr Riaz Saloojee.   He was at  that  

stage the Group CEO, is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then we know that  Mr Saloojee was 

suspended f rom the posi t ion and you then took over  as 

act ing Group CEO, is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right  when was that? 

MR NTSHEPE:   That  was in September – mid-September 

2015.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   2015.   And before that  you were 

what in business development? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  was – Group Execut ive Business 

Development inc luding new business development.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   And you then held the act ing 

GCEO posi t ion unt i l  you were appointed properly as proper 

GCEO, is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct  Si r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   When did that  appointment take effect? 

MR NTSHEPE:   That  appointment took place end of  2017 I  20 

think in December.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .    

CHAIRPERSON:   This posi t ion – I  am sorry – the posi t ion of  

Group Execut ive Business Development that  you held before 

Mr Saloojee was suspended is  that  in terms of  the 
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st ructur ing of  the Group 1 level  below that  of  Group CEO? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes correct ,  correct  Your Honour.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Perhaps logical ly Chair  I  should have 

taken him f i rst  to his background.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Perhaps Mr Ntshepe with the Chair ’s  

leave may I  take you to your supplementary aff idavi t .   You 

did not  deal  wi th i t  in your main aff idavi t  but  the 

invest igators then asked you to deal  wi th i t  in your 10 

supplementary aff idavi t .   I f  you – Chair  i t  is Exhibi t  W23.4 

and i f  I  can take you please to page 526?   Are you there?  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mr Ntshepe you refer  to your  

professional  journey start ing in 1982.  You worked at  Al fa 

Romeo and then you went to the Uni ted States to study and 

then you were a night  manager at  the New York Hi l ton and 

you worked as a stockbroker  in the USA.  You worked for the 

Counci l  of  Churches in  South Af r ica and then later  you were 

a senior consul tant  to Barry P ieterse and Associate – 20 

Associates.   Now i t  seems that  you started at  Denel  in 

September 1996,  is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   In  fact  I  started in November 1996.   Right  so 

when you say in  paragraph 10 i t  should be November not  

September 1996? 
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MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   To November 1997 you were an 

execut ive consul tant? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   At  Denel  Personnel  Solut ions,  is that  

r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay thank you.   And then i t  seems you 

moved up through the ranks.   You later became Chief  

Operat ions Off icer.   Would that  be of  Denel  Personnel  10 

Solut ions? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then la ter you became a senior  

market ing manager for Denel  SOC Limited and then you 

became Director Market ing Asia Paci f ic unt i l  June 2004.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then at  that  stage you became 

Group Execut ive Business Development and Corporate 

Affai rs.   That  is the top of  page 528 and that  is  when you 

took up the act ing posi t ion of  Group CEO and later  became 20 

Group CEO and then you say you resigned around May 2018.  

MR NTSHEPE:   I  res igned May 2018.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  

MR NTSHEPE:   With a month not ice.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .  



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 142 of 231 
 

MR NTSHEPE:   And – so my effect ive was i t  – res ignat ion 

was in June – end of  June.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A l r ight  thank you and then in 

paragraph13 you set  up your – set  out  your dut ies as when 

you were st i l l  the Development – Business Development 

Manager,  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A lr ight  thanks that  is  by way of  your 

background.  Now I  would l ike to go back to your main 

aff idavi t  page 498 paragraph 1 you start  deal ing wi th Denel  10 

Asia Joint  Venture.   And you have referred to your get t ing to  

know – I  am in the last  three l ines of  1.1.  

“ I  got  to  know about the concept around 

August  2015 at  that  t ime I  was st i l l  a Group 

Execut ive Business Development. ”  

Now i f  we go to  paragraph – page 507 paragraph 1.11 i t  

says:  

“A t r ip was taken ear ly around February 2015 

to India and t r ied to f ind partners as stated 

before the key ones were already taken 20 

etcetera.”  

Now in your supplementary aff idavi t  you deal  wi th the 

quest ion that  the invest igators ra ise about  when in  fact  you 

f i rst  became aware of  th is concept which you have now 

clar i f ied in your supplementary aff idavi t ,  is that  correct .  
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MR NTSHEPE:   I t  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I f  I  can take you now please to 527 – 

528 I  beg your pardon Chai r.   This is what you say at  the 

foot  of  the page 14.  

“Paragraph 3 of  the let ter addressed to me.”  

Now that  is the let ter f rom the invest igators correct?  Mr 

Ntshepe.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct  so.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    

“Raises an issue of  an al leged contradict ion 10 

in paragraph 1.1 of  the or ig ina l  aff idavi t  

where i t  is al leged that  I  stated that  the 

concept and idea of  Denel  Asia was f i rst  

int roduced to me by Riaz Saloojee in  

September 2015.   I t  is c la imed that  in a same 

period – in the same paragraph I  asserted 

that  I  got  to know about the concept around 

August  2015.   I  shudder to  th ink there is any 

contradict ion.   At  the t ime of  the format ion of  

the Denel  Asia I  was Group Execut ive 20 

Business Development and in August  2015 I  

got  to know of  the Joint  Venture through the 

grapevine and th is was ul t imately  off ic ia l ly  

int roduced to me by Saloojee around 

September 2015.”  
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MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Does that  c lar i fy the apparent  

dist inct ion that  the invest igators saw between August  and 

September? 

MR NTSHEPE:   In  my understanding yes i t  does.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A lr ight  thank you.   Now then you deal  

wi th another – another issue that  the invest igators raised in 

re lat ion to  t ravel l ing to India and here you seem to accept  

that  there was a mistake which you say was an honest  

mistake in your f i rst  aff idavi t  and you clar i fy that  here.   Now 10 

in your main aff idavi t  you indicated that  there was a t r ip to  

India and you gave the dates of  that .   And then there were 

problems with the dates relat ing to that .   Are the correct  

facts set  out  in the supplementary aff idavi t?  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Which say that  in fact  there were two 

t r ips not  one? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct  Si r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay and let  us just  –  let  us just  have a 

look whi le we are at  th is.   At  paragraph 18.  20 

“The t r ip we undertook in  February 2015 did 

not  include anybody f rom VR Laser.   I t  is  

only around March 2016 when we went to an 

exhibi t ion wi th VR Laser in Goa.  I t  is in 2016 

that  Denel  off ic ia l  used the VR Laser ai rcraf t  
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and not  in February 2015.   Late September 

2015 I  became the act ing Group CEO and the 

dut ies and responsibi l i t ies entrusted to Mr 

Saloojee fel l  on me that  includes al l  of  the 

processes includ ing the incorporat ion of  

Denel  Asia. ”  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So – so let  us go back i f  we may I  am 

sorry to be jumping around but  I  just  wanted to clear up 

those discrepancies f i rst .   Let  us get  back to page 498.   Now 10 

you have a lready ment ioned when you deal t  wi th your 

previous experience that  you were involved at  a more jun ior 

level  as far back as about  2004 where you deal t  on behal f  of  

Denel  wi th the Asian market  as part  of  your responsibi l i t ies.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now did you – did Denel  drop out  of  the 

Asian market? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes i t  d id.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then you refer in your aff idavi t  to  

the efforts that  were made in 2015.  There was now the thing 20 

that  Mr Saloojee indicated to you that  Denel  was now 

interested in developing business in  Asia.   Correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And in part icular a focus on India,  is  

that  r ight? 
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MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now did you go on your f i rst  t r ip to – 

that  you have ment ioned to India to look at  that  possible  

business? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .   We were three of  us and we in  

2015 around February/March and we went to several  

companies to see i f  we can be able to  work wi th them – 

Indian companies.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And – so that  was three of  you f rom 

Denel  – you and two col leagues? 10 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct  Si r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And anybody f rom VR Laser  get  

involved in that  t r ip? 

MR NTSHEPE:   In  2015 no.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   And when did you f i rst  become 

aware of  VR Laser ’s possible interest  in Denel ’s project  to 

look at  developing business in  Asia? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  became aware off ic ia l ly when i t  was 

presented to the board.   However I  became aware because I  

was very – working very close wi th the Chief  Execut ive we 20 

were very close that  Denel  Asia might  be a possibi l i ty of  a  

JV that  could be formed with VR Laser.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now you have ind icated in your  

aff idavi t  that  you got  to know about  the concept of  – of  the V 

– sorry the Denel  Asia Joint  Venture when Mr Saloojee 
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ra ised i t  off ic ia l ly in August  2015.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Off ic ia l ly I  mean in the sense that  when we 

were talk ing but  o ff ic ia l ly in  wri t ing to the board i t  was in the 

September board.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   September 2015? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now who was the – who was the person 

who real ly in i t iated the idea of  developing this  business in 

Denel?  Was i t  you or Mr Saloojee or who? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  cannot conf i rm who – on my side I  d id not  10 

develop i t  because in 2015 we went there to source other 

Indian companies because in India there is the requirement 

that  you must  buy and make in India and we were looking at  

Indian companies.   Unfortunately we found out  that  we were 

a bi t  late.   We were – so the concept of  going back to India 

came about because there was the understanding that  the 

banning of  Denel  in India has been l i f ted.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   When was Denel  banned? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  would say banned in  the form of  blackl isted 

around 2004.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Was this – and that  was about  the 

stage that  you lef t  the role that  you were in  Denel  t ry ing to  

promote business in Asia,  is that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And – so i t  was blackl isted?  Was i t  
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b lackl isted by whom?  By the Indian government,  the Indian 

Defence Force or who? 

MR NTSHEPE:   The – there is a  thin l ine of  separat ion 

between the Indian government and the Indian Defence 

Force.   I f  the Ind ian Defence Force does not  want to work 

wi th you there is no Indian company that  wi l l  be able to work 

wi th you especial ly government company.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And was that  black – what was the 

reason for the blackl ist ing? 

MR NTSHEPE:   There was an al leged accusat ion that  Denel  10 

has used Asians in India.   We were on the br ink of  securing 

a huge cont ract  o f  our count r ies in 80 vehicles very powerful  

vehicles sel l ing to India and we were in  the process – we 

were in the process of  get t ing the f inal isat ion through thei r  

own processes.   And then they – I  th ink the newspaper – the 

Argus in Cape Town or something l ike that  came out  wi th the 

story.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So was the blackl ist ing l i f ted? 

MR NTSHEPE:   In my understanding yes i t  was l i f ted 

because we were al lowed to come into India and we were 20 

al lowed to look at  possible partners in India.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   When was the blackl ist ing l i f ted? 

MR NTSHEPE:   This 20 – in around 2014/2015.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   So does that  explain the f i rst  

t r ip that  you took.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Once the b lackl ist ing was l i f ted the 

Indian market  was st i l l  a possibi l i ty and so you went to 

invest igate,  is that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you went  wi th two col leagues and 

then you came back and then i t  seems that  you then had the 

matter escalated to the top execut ive then i t  was taken to 

the board you say in paragraph 1.1 in September 2015.   Was 

i t  then approved by the board that  you could then proceed to 10 

invest igate this project  further? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   Now there was the second t r ip 

that  you took to Asia in 2016 you have indicated? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now before we get  to 2016 you have 

deal t  wi th in your  aff idavi t  f rom paragraph – f rom page 499 

with certain steps that  took place in  paragraph 1.5.   There is 

a step on the 28t h  October 2015 a pre-not i f icat ion to Minister 

Brown who is the Minister of  Publ ic Enterpr ises and then you 20 

got  so approval  f rom the Denel  Social  and Ethics Commit tee 

on 28t h October 2015.  And then there was a submission to 

the then Finance Minister,  Minister Nene on the 29t h October.   

And then there were meet ings and presentat ions etcetera.   

Now 157 on page 500 refers to a due di l igence report  by 
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ENS that  is the at torneys f i rm ENS,  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And the ir  forensic uni t  submit ted a due 

di l igence report .   What d id that  rela te to? 

MR NTSHEPE:   The due di l igence report  was related to the – 

the ci rcumstances and the – the ableness of  VR Laser to  be 

able to be a partner wi th Denel .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   To be a partner to Denel .  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   In what business?  The Asian business 10 

that  you were aiming to get? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes the Asian business correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Right .   Now at  what stage had VR 

Laser come onto the scene?  Why were they looking 

speci f ical ly at  VR Laser?  Who had ident i f ied VR Laser as 

being somebody worth consider ing to become your partner in  

the Denel  – in the – in the Denel  business that  you were 

want ing to expand into Asia? 

MR NTSHEPE:   In my knowledge VR Laser was ident i f ied by 

the previous CO from in the sense that  he d id say that  we 20 

were going to work wi th VR Laser very closely.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  was Mr Saloojee? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Now Mr Saloojee is  going – has 

al ready given evidence about I  th ink i t  was eighteen months 
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ago before the Chai r  and he has been asked to test i fy again 

later th is week to answer speci f ic al legat ions that  have been 

made by other wi tnesses such as yoursel f  and he has told us 

and he wi l l  te l l  the Chairperson on oath later th is week that  

he disputes that  he was the or ig in  of  the idea that  VR Laser 

should be brought in as the partner to Denel  for the Denel  

Asia business.   He says in fact  i t  was you who came up wi th  

the idea and that  you st rongly – st rongly promoted that  idea 

that  VR Laser should be the preferred ent i ty to be – come 

into the Joint  Venture.  10 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  d ispute that  vehement ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And… 

MR NTSHEPE:   Mr Sal… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes carry on.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Mr Saloojee int roduced me to Mr Essa wi th  

the understanding that  I  must  work very closely wi th him.  

And Mr Saloojee also informed me that  VR Laser is prepared 

to give about R100 mi l l ion into the new venture.   So we wi l l  

need to work and make sure that  th is new venture wi l l  

happen.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now… 

MR NTSHEPE:   So my duty was to  make as you wi l l  not ice 

that  my duty was more act ion or ientated in terms of  

market ing,  in terms of  new business development.   But  I  had 

no reason to bel ieve that  VR Laser is the – should be -  
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because I  d id not  know Mr Essa f rom anywhere.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Were you aware at  that  stage that  

Mr Essa was a business associate of  the Gupta brothers? 

MR NTSHEPE :    As t ime went  on,  I  real ised that  Mr Essa has 

a relat ionship wi th  the Gupta’s.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    When did you learn of  that ,  f i rs t?  Can 

you recal l  Mr Ntshepe?  I  know i t  is a long t ime ago.   I f  you 

cannot recal l ,  te l l  us but  can you? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  would not  recal l  exact ly or around what 

t ime that  happened because Mr Saloojee did say I  must  meet  10 

Mr Essa as of ten as I  can so that  I  can be able to get  him to 

be involved in the defence indust ry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    To get  into the. . .?  

MR NTSHEPE :    Defence industry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Defence indust ry? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    In general ,  or only in relat ion to the 

defence indust ry supplying to the Asian market? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Wel l ,  in i t ia l ly i t  was in general  and I  a lso 

think he encouraged Mr Essa to – v ia VR Laser  because VR 20 

Laser was owned by a di fferent  shareholders and I  th ink.   

And then later on,  he encouraged VR Laser that  they would 

be able to be our partner in – to go into the Asian market  

and that  was in 2016.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you have said two things that  you 
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th ink happened.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    The one is that  you think that  

Mr Saloojee encouraged Mr Essa to buy the shares in VR 

Laser and the second th ing that  you think he did was to 

encourage VR Laser now under Mr Essa to get  involved in  

the Asian market .  

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    On what basis do you think that  that  

happened?  You had to have knowledge yoursel f  of  what  10 

actual ly happened. 

MR NTSHEPE :    Mr Essa when he bought VR Laser in i t ia l ly,  

was to help to get  into the market  but  also because VR Laser 

had a very good product ,  was to supply Denel .    

 Secondly.   Mr Essa and Mr Saloojee were able to – in  

my understanding – were able to know the Gupta’s f i rst ly.    

 And secondly,  that  they made me to bel ieve that  we were 

able to run something in India and also to have a buffer 

between the Denel  Holdings and the Ind ian market .    

 So as i f  there are problems because we d id experience 20 

in problems in Ind ian before.   Then we wi l l  be able to  have a 

buffer company which is a subsidiary of  Denel ,  rather than 

Denel  Holdings.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you ment ioned a hundred mi l l ion.   

That  would be an investment by VR Laser once i t  was 
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acquired by Mr Essa.   Is that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE :    No,  no.   Mr Essa had al ready acqui red VR 

Laser South Afr ica.   The hundred mi l l ion would have been a 

contr ibut ion that  VR Laser  Asia.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So that  is also in existence a lready,  

VR Laser  Asia? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  do not  know when i t  was found but  in my 

understanding that  there was a concept of  VR Laser  Asia 

whereby they would have the hundred mi l l ion to contr ibute to  

the jo int  investment.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what  would be cont r ibuted,  i f  

anything,  by Denel ,  the jo int  venture? 

MR NTSHEPE :    What would be contr ibuted by Denel ,  f i rst ly  

was,  we knew the market  and we are out  of  the market  for  

more than ten years.    

 And secondly,  Denel  was able – we had the technical  

expert ise in terms of  we knew exact ly what India was looking 

for especial ly on the land system side.   And Denel  would 

have been a partner in terms of  being able to cont r ibute in 

the manufactur ing.    20 

 But  also VR Laser South Af r ica would also have 

contr ibuted in the hul l  manufactur ing because those i tems 

that  we were looking at  in Ind ia,  at  that  po int ,  in t ime were 

real ly – were vehicles.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So . . . [ indist inct ]  vehicles?  [Speaker 
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not  c lear]  

MR NTSHEPE :    Sorry? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Would Denel  then have contr ibuted i ts 

know-how but  i t  would not  have contr ibuted any actual  cash 

to a jo int  venture l ike a hundred mi l l ion f rom the VR Laser 

side? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Denel  would have cont r ibuted a product .   A 

not  f in ished product .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   And VR . . . [ intervenes]   

MR NTSHEPE :    The know-how would st i l l  be remaining in 10 

Denel .   VR Laser  would have cont r ibuted a hundred mi l l ion 

and largely what was to the – for the market ing purposes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you . . . [ in tervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l . . .   Sorry,  Mr Kennedy.   Before we 

move too far.   I  want  to take you back a l i t t le bi t .   You said i t  

was Mr Saloojee who introduced you to Mr Sal im Essa.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And that  he is the one also,  that  is  

 Mr Saloojee,  who off ic ia l ly to ld you about VR Laser  for  the 

f i rst  t ime.  Is that  r ight?  Or did I  misunderstand that  part?  20 

MR NTSHEPE :    No.   Mr Saloojee is not  the f i rst  person who 

told me about VR Laser.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Off ic ia l ly? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Off ic ia l ly when we were going to form a jo int  

venture.    
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Then i t  was him? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    From whom did you hear about  VR Laser  

for the f i rst  t ime i f  you are able to remember? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  have been in Denel  for more than 20-

years.   So I . . .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  by the way.   VR Laser had been there 

but  owned by other people for qui te some t ime.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay al r ight .  

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .   Correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  in terms of  associat ing VR Laser wi th  

Mr Sal im Essa,  when did you become aware of  that? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  became aware of  that  when – one t ime he 

asked me and a col league who used to be a Denel  board 

member,  to go and vis i t  VR Laser.   So the three of  us 20 

. . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    . . .went  to vis i t  VR Laser.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.  

MR NTSHEPE :    I t  was st i l l  owned by other individuals.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  was he st i l l  t ry ing to – was he 

explor ing the possibi l i ty of  acqui r ing? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  do not  know.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You do not  know? 

MR NTSHEPE :    The not ion was to  say:   Let  us go and vis i t  

th is great  company.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You see,  you said that  Mr Saloojee 

int roduced you to Mr Sal im Essa.  10 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    In his aff idavi t ,  he also said that .    

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    He said he int roduced you to – or he 

int roduced Sal im Essa to you.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  he said that  he,  in doing so,  one;  he 

was t ry ing to create a distance effect ively between himsel f  

and Mr Sal im Essa because Mr Sal im Essa – I  am put t ing i t  

in my own words – harassing him or pester ing him or t ry ing 20 

to put  pressure on him and he decided that  he should get 

him to deal  wi th you.  

 But  he says he warned you when he int roduced you,  

Mr Sal im Essa to you and said you are going to  be the 

contact  person or  the person that  Mr Sal im Essa would deal 
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wi th.  

 He says he warned you about his concerns wi th regard 

to Mr Sal im Essa and said be careful .   And I  th ink he said:   

Make sure that  whatever is done wi l l  be done in accordance 

with Denel  processes.    

 What do you have to say about that? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I t  is  not  correct  that  he int roduced him for 

the reason that  he wanted to have a distance because I  was 

paid by Denel  to do a real  job and I  cannot be – but  i f  he 

says that ,  then he was using me in appropr iately as an 10 

employee of  Denel  to put  a distance between Mr Essa and 

himsel f .  

 In my understanding and this was . . . [ indist inct ] .   He said 

to Mr Essa:   This is the. .   Zwelakhe,  th is is the market ing 

guy.   You can t rust  him.  You – he wi l l  –  I  would – as you 

would want to  get  into the market  of  defence.   We wi l l  work 

together and wi th him.   

 Yes.   But  I  do not  th ink that  he wanted to put  distance 

between himsel f  and Mr Essa.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  20 

MR NTSHEPE :    Because i t  wi l l  be incorrect .   In  fact ,  i t  is 

inappropriate for him to say that .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Therefore,  I  was being used.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  he says,  af ter some t ime, he began to 



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 159 of 231 
 

get  a feel ing that  the relat ionship between yoursel f  and 

Mr Essa was becoming too strong,  I  th ink.   That  is how I 

would put  i t .   He was get t ing concerned.   I  cannot remember 

whether he says he spoke to you about that  at  that  stage or  

not .    

MR NTSHEPE :    Chai r,  I  saw his aff idavi t  where he 

ment ioned al l  these th ings about me   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR NTSHEPE :    My job as business development is to get  

st rong relat ions in the defence envi ronment.   Trust  is very 10 

important ,  g lobal ly.   I  have. . .  

 As I  said I  have worked for a very long t ime in market ing 

and I  have created and been able to develop t rust  in the 

market  we operate especial ly in the Middle East  and South 

Afr ica in part icular wi th the defence force.    

 I  would,  therefore,  not  th ink that  I  would be involved in a 

si tuat ion whereby I  wi l l  be doing things wi th Mr Essa 

because we have – I  come close to  him, which he would not  

know.   

 Because I  used to report  to him at  – because he wanted 20 

to know what is happening,  every week.   I f  he wanted a 

distance,  why would he want to know every week? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   On page 499,  

paragraph 1.3,  you say you were appointed by the Board of  
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Denel  to be the Chai rperson of  VR Laser Asia.   Is that  

correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    We are not  ta lk ing here about  Denel  

Asia.   I t  is VR Laser  Asia.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    That  was already an exist ing company.   

Is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  correct? 10 

MR NTSHEPE :    I t  was exist ing in terms of  preparat ions here 

but  i t  was – what was exist ing then was the company that  – I  

th ink VR Laser Asia.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Ja.   But  not  owned by VR Laser South 

Afr ica.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So who was i t  owned by?  Was i t  not  

also owned by Mr Sal im Essa? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Mr Sal im Essa owns VR Laser,  in  my 

understanding,  VR Laser South Af r ica.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So who owned VR Laser  Asia? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  would bel ieve he did.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry,  say again? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  would bel ieve he did.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    He did? 
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MR NTSHEPE :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Mr Essa? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  th ink so,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   So what – were you not  aware 

when you were appointed as chai rperson of  th is company 

who actual ly owned i t?  

MR NTSHEPE :    I  was aware that  mister – I  mean, the mere 

fact  that  the names are simi lar,  there is a rela t ionship 

number one.   And number two.   The mere fact  that  I  was 

asked to be working very closely wi th Mr Essa,  I  would not  10 

be able to  start  another VR Laser Asia which has the name 

VR Laser wi thout  me being – Mr Essa being there,  being the 

owner of  the company.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  Denel  did not  own VR Laser Asia,  

correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    No,  they did not  . . . [ indist inct ]   

[Part ies intervening each other – unclear]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  was owned, i f  I  understand you,  by 

Mr Sal im Essa.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes,  yes.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now what I  am interested in is.   Why 

would you have been appointed then to chair  a company in  

which Denel  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR NTSHEPE :    No,  no.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . .d id not  own the shares.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    And who appointed you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  correct .   Your  aff idavi t ,  in fact ,  

says you were appointed by the Board of  Denel  SOC Limited.   

MR NTSHEPE :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    To say this Chairperson of  VR Laser  

Asia.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct ion here Chai r.   The correct ion is 

that  i t  should have been Denel  Asia.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Denel  Asia? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So this is another error in your 

aff idavi t?  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So you say in  paragraph 1.3,  where i t  

says you were appointed by Denel  SOC to be the 

chairperson of  VR Laser Asia. . . [ intervenes]   

MR NTSHEPE :    Asia.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .you say . . . [ intervenes]   

MR NTSHEPE :    I t  is Denel  Asia.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . i t  is Denel  Asia.  20 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes,  because VR Laser was owned by LSM. 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  there would have to be a 

supplementary aff idavi t .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    [Speaker not  c lear ]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I f  you can. . .   Yes,  the assist  the 

Commission in that  regard.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes,  help wi th your  . . . [ intervenes]   

[Part ies intervening each other – unclear]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    . . . l ia ise wi th  the legal  team who has 

al ready been work ing wi th your own legal  team.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now I  would l ike to go back to page 10 

500.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And maybe Mr Kennedy.   When was i t  was 

this happened when you were appointed as Chai rperson as 

Denel  Asia? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  th ink i t  was in 2017.  Maybe 2017, 

February/March.   Around there.   I  cannot speci f ica l ly  say.   

Yes.   Ja.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Thank you.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Can I  take you back to page 500, 20 

paragraph 157.   I t  is the ENS Forensic Uni t  Due Di l igence 

Report  that  you ment ioned looked at  the abi l i ty of  VR Laser  

to work as a jo int  venture partner wi th Denel  in i ts Asian 

operat ions.    

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now is i t  correct  that  the ENS Due 

Di l igence Report ,  in fact ,  ra ise some concerns? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And what were those concerns? 

MR NTSHEPE :    In my memo, one of  them was that  the 

people who we want to form a jo int  venture wi th our PEP’s(?) 

[Speaker not  c lear]   Meaning that  they are. . . [ intervenes]    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  is Publ ic ly Exposed Persons? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Publ ic ly or po l i t ical ly? 10 

MR NTSHEPE :    Oh,  pol i t ical ly,  ja.   Pol i t ical ly Exposed 

Persons.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And who were they referr ing to? 

MR NTSHEPE :    In my bel ief ,  because the owner of  VR Laser 

was Mr Essa.   So in my view that  was . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And did you understand their  concern 

to be that  Mr Sal im Essa was already in  the publ ic  domain,  

the publ ic knowledge,  media and so forth  – al ready a 

controvers ial  f igure? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes,  I  was aware.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    But  I  – for me, the business was separate 

f rom the indiv iduals.   How the publ ic v iews the individual .   

Many companies have done jo int  ventures wi th ind ividuals 

that  were perceived to be cont roversial .  
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CHAIRPERSON :    So are you saying that ,  to your  

knowledge, at  that  t ime Mr Sal im Essa would have fal len 

wi thin the category of  Pol i t ical ly Exposed Persons,  wi thin  

that  group of  people? 

MR NTSHEPE :    As per the def in i t ion of  ENS.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And that  def in i t ion necessari ly. . .   Does 

that  def in i t ion,  as you understand i t ,  necessari ly have some 

negat ive connotat ion to i t  or not?  Or i t  depends on each 10 

individual?   

MR NTSHEPE :    I  th ink largely i t  has a negat ive connotat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  has a negat ive connotat ion? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And you understood h im to,  at  that  t ime,  

to fa l l  wi th in that  – wi thin that  category? 

MR NTSHEPE :    I  understood that  he has been exposed to 

the pol i t ics of  th is  count ry.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   But  you – as far as 

you were concerned,  that  should not  disqual i fy them, i t  

should not  be a problem.  The mere fact  that  they were 

pol i t ical ly exposed or controversial ,  d id not  take away f rom 



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 166 of 231 
 

the fact  that  they were sui table business partners.   Is that  

r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE :    In fact ,  ENS said we can st i l l  go ahead.  

There is a way I  would be able to do that .  [Speaker not  

c lear]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Sorry,  just  repeat  Mr Ntshepe? 

MR NTSHEPE :    ENS . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja? 

MR NTSHEPE :    . . .said you – at  VR Laser,  they are PEP’s.   

However,  i t  is ab le – i t  is possible to form a jo int  venture 10 

wi th VR Laser.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Thei r  due di l igence,  what did i t  

reveal  about  VR Laser  in  terms of  negat ive things or  

Mr Sal im Essa that  Denel  may have needed to be careful  

about  or concerned about i f  you are able to remember? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.   I  remember,  one was the issue of  the 

close relat ionship wi th the Gupta’s.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.   And the – in my understanding,  the 

previous GCEO, he knew that .   I t  was not  . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Saloojee? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.   I t  is not  – i t  was not  news to him.  He 

knew i t .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.   And – however,  he encouraged me to 
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work wi th him.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    And that  for me, that  was a major th ing 

which I  thought was . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Obviously,  th is being 2015 because 

paragraph 1.5.7 of  your aff idavi t  says:  

“ In  December 2015, ENS provided a due di l igence 

report . ”  

 Obviously,  th is was qui te some t ime af ter the Waterkloof  

plane landing incident  that  had happened in 2013.  10 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Okay al r ight .   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   And then the 

previous paragraph 165 refers to the Minister of  DPE,  

grant ing Denel  approving in pr inciple to cont inue d iscussions 

wi th VR Laser.   Was that  Minister Brown at  that  stage? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   Thank you.   And then you get  in 

158 approval  f rom the Board of  Denel .   I t  is f inal  approval  of  

VR Laser as equi ty partner.   That  is the 20 

7t h  of  December 2015.   Is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    By that  stage,  you were al ready act ing 

as GCEO.  You were no longer just  as the Execut ive for  

Business Development.   You were now act ing GCEO.  Is that  



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 168 of 231 
 

r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now had any considerat ion or  

effort  being given at  the r isk point  to whether you should be 

looking at  any other person other than VR Laser or  was i t  

s imply VR Laser and nobody else? 

MR NTSHEPE :    In 2015,  as I  said,  ear ly 2015,  Chai r.   We 

went to Indian,  in  part icular to do the exercise to see who 

can we partner wi th in India in order to fu l f i l  the requirement 

of  . . . [ indist inct ]  [Speaker not  c lear]    10 

 We visi ted defence companies and we found out  

because we have been out  of  the market  that  they have 

al ready been – they have already associated themselves or 

found JB’s wi th other internat ional  companies and we were 

going to tender for the same products.    

 And therefore,  they to ld us that  that  we . . . [ indist inct ]  

[Speaker not  c lear]   Except  for one company that  was,  i f  I  

st i l l  remember,  BEML.  BEML was a state-owned company.    

 I t  was prepared to work wi th us but  at  a sub-cont ractor 

level  because they would – they – even the product  that  they 20 

were going to work wi th Denel  was not  thei r  product .   I t  was,  

i f  I  am not  mistaken,  a shack(?) product  . . . [ indist inct ]  

[Speaker not  c lear]  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Why was i t  necessary to  have a 

partner  at  al l?  Why could Denel  not  s imply do the work 
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i tsel f?  The produced the vehicles,  for example,  through one 

of  i ts div is ions such as,  for example,  LMT.  

MR NTSHEPE :    The vehicle is a special ised vehicle.   I t  is 

an 8 x 8.   And there is a huge vehicle that  can take the big,  

massive cannons.   And Denel  does not  have that  capabi l i ty 

to do that .   We have never produced a t ruck.   Even some of  

the t rucks that  you see on the road were never produced by 

Denel .   So we have never produced a t ruck.    

 So Denel  in certain areas i ts pr ice(?) sub-systems 

al ready exist ing in the market .   Or sub-systems that  the 10 

cl ient  to say that :   This is what we would l ike.   Whoever is  

going to bid for th is cont ract ,  th is is a sub-system we would 

l ike to see.    

 And Pat r ia was a good – is  a  good vehicle.   I t  is used 

global ly.   And the – in fact ,  there was another t ime when the 

TATA also had a t ruck in India but  – and once used the Denel  

for the cannon to do a demo in India.    

 And,  however,  there was – there were problems which in 

the end,  I  th ink there was no compat ib i l i ty at  that  point  in  

t ime.   20 

 But  the t ruck f rom BEML and BEML got  a t ruck f rom 

Czech Republ ic,  was the t ruck that  we bel ieved that  wi l l  be 

able to carry the big cannons,  which was the 155 mi l l imetre 

which weighs more than,  say,  15 tons or more.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now you ment ioned that  you needed a 
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partner  for  the reasons that  you have indicated and that  

when you went on your t r ips,  the two t r ips,  in 2015 and ear ly  

2016,  i t  became apparent  that  th is was now pret ty la te.   You 

could not  f ind an overseas partner that  would work for you.   

Is that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE :    In 2015? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    In 2015.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Because,  of  course,  when you went in 

March 2016 with VR Laser ’s people on thei r  company 10 

ai rcraf t ,  you had al ready formed Denel  Asia and entered into 

an arrangement wi th VR Laser,  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Now you deal  in some detai l  

wi th the process that  was fol lowed, how the board gave 

approval  and how there was a shareholders agreement,  

1510.   1.5.10.   There is a shareholders agreement concluded 

on the 10t h of  December 2015 between Denel  and VR Laser  

wi th some suspensive condi t ions.   And these suspensive 

condi t ions included approval  under Sect ions 51 and 54 of  the 20 

PFMA. 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  process was then fol lowed 

when you submit ted,  the next  paragraph,  on the 

11t h of  December.   Denel  submit ted a formal PMFA 
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appl icat ion to  Minister  Brown at  the DPE and 

Mr Van Rooyen.  He was by then the short- term Min ister of  

Finance.   Is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    R ight .   Now that  requi red a 30-day 

per iod to run and in  terms of  the relevant  sect ions,  i f  there 

was no response by the end of  the 30-day per iod f rom the 

minister ’s concern,  that  would be deem to be approval .   Is 

that  r ight? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes,  that  was my understanding.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then,  that  expi red on the 

10t h of  January.   And then you get  on the 13t h of  January,  at  

1.5.13 a let ter f rom the chairperson of  the board,  inst ruct ing 

you to proceed to incorporate Denel  Asia.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And the Chai rperson at  that  stage was 

Mr Mantsha.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   Why was he giving you the 

instruct ion?  Was that  not  something – was not  s imply an 20 

operat ional  matter that  you as act ing GCEO would know to 

do yoursel f?  Why did i t  come from the chai rman? 

MR NTSHEPE :    The mot ivat ion to form the jo int  venture,  

went to the board and i t  was approved by the board.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Now . . . [ intervenes]   
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MR NTSHEPE :    Secondly,  the issue of  correspondence with  

the min ister at  minister ia l  level  is,  in  terms of  protocol ,  is  

wi th the chai rperson of  the board,  not  wi th me.  I  correspond 

di rect ly wi th the DG.   

 And Mr Mantsha was able and he was avai lab le al l  the 

t ime when he knew about what was happening in terms of  

forming this jo int  venture.    

 And in  January,  he asked me,  in fact ,  in wri t ing to say 

that  the 30-days have passed.   Because Denel ,  in t ruth,  

Denel  never had money.   Never had money.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Never had money? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes!   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    For th is project  or. . .?  

MR NTSHEPE :    No,  no.   Denel  had never. . .   I  mean, i t  was 

never a sustainable company – prof i table company.   

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m? 

MR NTSHEPE :    As long as I  remember.   And I  do not  know 

why they are not  saying that .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  the . . . [ intervenes]   

MR NTSHEPE :    I  mean, you can look . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    . . . the Group CFO was here.   He told us 

something d i fferent .  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes!   And because i t  was a shock af ter I  

heard as Group Di rector Market ing or Group Execut ive got  

orders because in i t ia l ly,  they were only concentrat ing in  
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South Af r ica.   Then af ter the independence or af ter the 

set t lement in South Af r ica,  then they have a problem.  

Because South Af r ica had stocks(?)  and they could not  se l l .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  asked him the quest ion wi th 

reference to September 2015 when he and the other  

execut ives were suspended.  I  asked him what  the f inancia l  

posi t ion of  Denel  was at  that  t ime.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And then he – he told me about 1992 

when the years af ter that  but  then when i t  came to 2015 and 10 

the years that  came – the year – the fol lowing years up to,  I  

th ink,  2018 that  the f inancial  s i tuat ion of  Denel  was good but  

then in 2018 or in 2019,  i t  went  down.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes,  correct .   Correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So you do not  dispute that  part? 

MR NTSHEPE :    No,  I  do not  dispute i t .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.   No,  that  is f ine.  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  just  wanted to make sure.  

MR NTSHEPE :    No,  I  do not  dispute that .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  okay.   No,  that  is al r ight .  

MR NTSHEPE :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Okay.   Then,  just  to fo l low the 

sequence.   You then – so you get  that  instruct ion on the 

13t h of  January 2016 f rom Chairperson Mantsha.   And then 
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on the 29t h of  January 2016,  Denel  Asia was formed and 

incorporated in Hong Kong.   

 Now some people have suggested that  th is was al l  a  

very rushed process which you have denied in your aff idavi t .   

What is s igni f icant ,  i t  seems to me Mr Ntshepe.  

 That  i f  you look back at  the t imetable f rom 1.5.1 where 

you submit  a  pre-not i f icat ion about the format ion of  Denel  

Asia to Minister Brown and then you fo l low the var ious other 

processes.    

 I t  seems to have been remarkably quick,  part icular ly  for  10 

government which is not  always wel l -known for being very 

quick in some of  these procedures.   That  i t  real ly just  took a 

few months f rom beginning to end.    

 And a lready by the 29t h  of  January 2016,  you had 

actual ly formed the company in Hong Kong.  Correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .   The reason . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    You do not  f ind that  unusual ly quick? 

MR NTSHEPE :    No,  I  do not  th ink i t  is quick.   Other  

companies form joint  ventures wi thin a month,  pr ivate 

companies.   This took three months.    20 

 And I  have to say,  our  chairperson at  the point  in t ime,  

because he wanted to move Denel  forward and he bel ieved 

in th is JV.   

 And he said,  ,you have to work.   We used to have many 

board meet ings there.   And that  is why you see so many 
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days because I  would not  be able to the other act iv i ty 

wi thout  get t ing board approval .    

 And the three months for me – and internat ional ly,  I  

th ink. . .   In fact ,  in ternat ional ly,  i t  could be long,  you know.  I t  

is not  necessari ly that  i t  is a quick. . .    

 And another th ing is that  Denel ,  because i t  is a  

government company and then i t  must  be slow.   I  th ink that  

should not  be the standard that  we measure ourselves.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Unfortunately,  when i t  came to 

the actual  business that  was al ready been undertaken,  the 10 

Hoefyster Project ,  we know that  i t  was delayed by year af ter  

year af ter year,  i f  not  more than a decade.   

 Unfortunately,  the speed with which the Denel  Asia 

Project  was undertaken,  was not  a lways appl ied in pract ice 

for some of  the other in i t iat ives or undertakings.   Correct? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Chai r,  i f  I  can expla in on that  issue? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    The Hoefyster Project  was approved in 2008 

that  Denel  wi l l  do i t .   And Denel  was going to partner wi th  

Pat r ia.   And Patr ia was going to t ransfer i ts IP to Denel  in  20 

South Af r ica.    

 However,  we had two problems.  The f i rst  problem is that  

you needed a system, a gun.   A gun by i tsel f . . .   I  am sorry.   

Because this is a  mi l i tary business,  I  have to ta lk. . .   Ja.   I t  

was an American gun.    
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 And our defence force was not  very comfortable wi th 

that .   They said you must – you,  Denel  must  manufacture 

and make your own gun.   And to the accolade of  our  

engineers,  they were able to do that ,  number one.    

 And number two,  the – what do you ca l l  – the basel ine 

product  – basel ine before i t  is accepted.   There was a bi t  of  

development that  st i l l  had to be done, including the gun 

which took t ime and the clock was moving.    

 Mind you,  these are technical  issues.   These are not  

market ing issues.   And i t  takes t ime to mature and be able to  10 

say that  we can br ing the cl ient  to come and test  i t .   That  is 

i t .   So they took t ime.   

 I  am not  just i fy ing the long per iod that  they have but  I  

am just  explaining how the industry works.   I t  wi l l  take t ime 

but  of  course,  eleven years is a long t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Very long t ime.  

MR NTSHEPE :    I t  is a very long t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And i t  had massive f inancial  

impl icat ions,  not  so? 20 

MR NTSHEPE :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Sorry? 

MR NTSHEPE :    Chai r,  my . . . [ indist inct ]  [Speaker not  c lear]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE :    [ Indist inct ]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    Sorry? 

MR NTSHEPE :    A short  adjournment Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh.   Comfort  break.   Wel l ,  we are at  ten 

past  four.   Maybe we should take i t  and – but  we are going to  

have to stop at  quarter to six or thereabout.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Quarter to six? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you.   That  wi l l  be in order.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  so let  us take just  ten minutes and 

then we wi l l  resume.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON :    We adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  

CHAIRPERSON:    You may be sea ted Mr  Ntshepe.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Ntshepe,  you must  jus t  push the 

bu t ton  on  your  m icrophone p lease.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Kennedy,  d id  I  say  we w i l l  s top  a t  

quar te r  to  w i thout  say ing  quar te r  to  what  o r  d id  I  say. . .? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You sa id  quar te r  to  s i x  i f  I  heard  20 

cor rec t l y.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  a l r igh t ,  then i t  i s  –  I  thought  I  

jus t  sa id  quar te r  to  w i thout  say ing  when because I  was 

under  the  impress ion  tha t  we are  a f te r  f i ve ,  i t  was a f te r  

f i ve ,  bu t  i t  i s  no t  a f te r  f i ve  ye t .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    No.   I t  may fee l  l i ke  a  very  day bu t  i t  

…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes so  maybe  we w i l l  s top  a t  about  

twenty  two s i x  o r  thereabout .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Twenty  to  s ix ,  thank you.   We wi l l  t ry  

to ,  I  am hopefu l  we w i l l  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then i f  we have not  f in ished  we can 

s tar t  ear l y  tomor row,  as  we prev ious l y  d iscussed and then  

once we are  done w i th  h im then tomorrow’s  w i tness  can 

fo l low.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   May I  ask  i f  there 

i s  s t i l l  a  p rob lem in  the  a f te rnoon when Mr  Se leka,  my 

learned f r iend,  who ind i ca ted  may be heard  tomorrow,  

bu t . . .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  as  th ings s tand,  the  p lan  is  tha t  he  

w i l l  s t i l l  l ead tha t  w i tness  bu t  f rom what  he  has sa id  and 

f rom what  he  has to ld  me,  he  m ight  take  between th i r t y  

m inutes  and an hour,  so  the re  is  room fo r  us  to  cont inue  

sub jec t  to  tha t  hour.   So,  as  I  see i t ,  we cer ta in ly  cou ld  s t i l l  

go  up  to  f i ve .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wi th  Dene l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then i f  h is  w i tness cou ld  come a f te r  

tha t .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  wou ld  tha t  be  okay w i th  you in  te rms  

o f  su f f i c iency o f  t ime?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  I  hope tha t  we w i l l  be  ab le  to  

f in ish ,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r i gh t .   Cha i r,  may I  jus t  dea l  w i th  

a  few aspects  s t i l l  to  be  dea l t  w i th  in  re la t ion  to  Dene l  

As ia?   The product  tha t  you were  i n tend ing  to  ge t  VR Laser  

to  p roduce fo r  sa les  in to  the  As ian  espec ia l l y  the  Ind ian  

market ,  was tha t  the  armoured veh ic le  s im i la r  to  the  one  10 

tha t  VR Laser  was awarded the  cont rac t  fo r  Dene l  fo r  the 

South  A f r i can market?  

MR NTSHEPE:    In  my unders tand ing ,  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   But  the  Cha i r  has a l ready heard  

ev idence in  re la t ion  to  the  p rocu rement  o r  the  award  o f  

tha t  cont rac t  to  VR Laser  and  some wi tnesses have  

contended tha t  VR Laser  was not  the  on ly  one tha t  cou ld  

do  such a  produc t .   In  fac t  LMT in  tha t  tender  had not  on l y  

tendered to  p roduce those i tems,  i t  had been produc ing  

s im i la r  i tems p rev ious ly  and was ab le  to  do  so  much 20 

cheaper  than VR Laser.   Now I  am not  go ing  to  go  in to  the  

de ta i l  o f  tha t  award  a t  the  moment  because we are  

focus ing  on  Dene l  As ia  bu t  my quest ion  is ,  why wou ld  you 

be g i v ing  the  bus iness to  VR Laser  to  do  th i s  w i thout  

fo l low ing any sor t  o f  tender  p rocess fo r  the i r  marke t  and in  
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As ia  when in  fac t  there  were  o the rs  such as  your  own in -

house company LMT ab le  to  do  tha t  p roduct ion?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cha i r,  there  were  two reasons.   One,  we 

d id  no t  have R100 mi l l ion  to  s ta r t  a  market ing  company in  

Ind ia .   Before  our  bann ing (?)  i n  Ind ia  we w i l l  s tand over  

300 mi l l ion  in  jus t  in  the  market i ng  campaign,  Dene l ,  and  

we never  ge t t ing  –  ended up get t ing  a  cont rac t .   So the  

r i sks  o f  spend ing  a  lo t  o f  money in  Ind ia  because in  Ind ia  

you eva lua te  –  they eva lua te  a t  your  own r i sk .   In  o ther  

words  you can spend a  b i l l i on  rand in  ge t t ing  your  sys tem 10 

to  what  they need,  they can s t i l l  say  no  and they are  no t  

ob l iged to  pay you any money back.   F i r s t l y  –  so  there  no  

o ther  company tha t  was p repared to  have a  100  mi l l ion .   

Dene l  d id  no t  have a  100 mi l l ion  to  go  back to  Ind ia  a t  a  

po in t  in  t ime to  go  and s tar t  marke t ing .   A f te r  be ing  away  

f rom the  market  fo r  more  than 10  years .   That  i s  number  

one.  

 Number  two,  the  veh ic le  wh ich  Dene l  was go ing  to  

v ie  fo r  in  Ind ia  i s  s im i la r  bu t  no t  exact ly  l i ke  the  one in  

South  A f r i ca .   Number  one.    20 

 We were  a lso  go ing  to  no t  on ly  VR Laser  o r  Dene l  

As ia  a lone in  Ind ia ,  we were  go ing  to  have to  ge t  an  Ind ian  

company in  Ind ia  to  be  ab le  to  be  our  par tner  and tha t  

needed to  make sure  tha t  a lso  tha t  company w i l l  have to  

cont r ibu te  to  the  opera t ions o f  the  organ isa t ion  and  
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because by  buy and make Ind ia  means tha t  some 

techno logy w i l l  remain  in  Ind ia  and there fo re  the  Ind ians 

w i l l  want  to  make the  product  themse lves in  the  end,  l i ke  

we are  mak ing  the  Hoefys ter  ourse l ves because we got   

the  IP f rom Pat r ia ,  you know,  l i cence IP.  

 So i t  i s  two reasons.   One,  the  market ing  costs  

were  very  h igh  and LMT d id  no t  have the  money to  do  tha t  

and nor  d id  Dene l  and second ly,  was tha t  you a l so  needed 

to  ge t  an  Ind ian  company to  be  invo lved in  Ind ia  to  be  ab le  

to  do  tha t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  us  ta lk  about  the  f i rs t  reason.   

Why is  the  pos i t ion  no t  th is  tha t  i f  you  th ink  VR Laser  i s  

go ing  to  ass i s t  Dene l  by  in jec t ing  R100 mi l l ion  in to  the  

pro jec t ,  what  i s  wrong w i th  you s t i l l  pu t t ing  th is  ou t  to  

tender  because when they tender  they w i l l  inc lude tha t  

benef i t  and i f  there  i s  no  o ther  b idder  who is  ab le  to  do 

tha t  you wou ld  s t i l l  then go w i th  them but  you w i l l  then 

have gone –  compl ied  w i th  the  requ i rements  o f  

p rocu rement .   

MR NTSHEPE:    I  cou ld  be  wrong,  Cha i r,  bu t  my 20 

unders tand ing ,  when you want  a  par tner  to  do  bus iness,  

espec ia l l y  in  t he  corpo ra te  wor ld  because Dene l ,  though i t  

was a  s ta te  owned company,  had to  opera te  w i th in  the  

corpo ra te  Act ,  the  Companies  Act  and there fo re  you do not  

go  ou t  on  a  tender  –  l i ke ,  fo r  ins tance,  when we got  the  
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Rhe inmeta l l ,  Dene l ,  i t  d id  no t  go  ou t  on  a  tender,  i t  was  

Dene l  and Rhe inmeta l l  tha t  came in to  an  ag reement  tha t  

th is  i s  what  we a re  go ing  to  do .   I t  i s  no t  on ly  Rhe inmeta l l ,  

there  i s  a l so  Ze iss ,  Car l  Ze i ss ,  wh ich  was the  same th ing .  

 So I  d id  no t  see an anomaly  in  the  sense when VR 

Laser  was go ing  to  be  our  pa r tner  because we – the  issues 

is  compet i t i ve  advantage.   We be l ieved tha t  i f  we have VR 

Laser,  we –  number  one,  compet i t i ve  advantage in  te rms o f  

in  te rms o f  cash,  we d id  no t  have any cash.    

 And number  two is  tha t  the  l inks  w i th in  Ind ia ,  i t se l f .   10 

A l though we were  there  ten  years  ago,  we were  no t  there  

anymore ,  so  –  and the  compan ies  tha t  we knew were  

a l ready par tnered  w i th .   

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  you see,  I  am put t ing  to  you th is  

quest ion  because  when Mr  –  your  answer  to  Mr  Kennedy ’s  

quest ion  wh ich  was why d id  you not  fo l low procurement  

p rocedures you sa id  the  f i rs t  reason why you d id  no t  do 

tha t  was because VR Laser  was go ing  to  i n jec t  R100 

mi l l ion ,  you know?   So but  f rom what  you say now,  I  th ink 

what  you are  g iv ing  m ight  be  a  d i f fe ren t  reason but  20 

whethe r  i t  i s  va l id  o r  no t ,  tha t  can be looked a t ,  bu t  you 

are  now say ing  we l l ,  your  unders tand ing  …[ in tervenes]  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t ,  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    …when you  –  when Dene l  go t  in to  

par tnersh ip  w i th  anothe r  company then procurement  
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p rocedures wou ld  no t  app ly.   That  i s  what  you are  say ing .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Which  is  the  exper ience I  have,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   What  was the  

R100 mi l l ion  in tended fo r?   Market ing  costs?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  in i t ia l l y  i t  was –  tha t  was the  

concept ,  tha t  we  w i l l  spend R20 mi l l ion  pe r  year  fo r  f i ve  

years .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And d id  VR Laser  ac tua l l y  pu t  up  the  

R100 mi l l ion?  Was i t  spent?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    No,  no t  a t  a l l ,  there  was no cents  spent .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I s  tha t  because the  pro jec t  

co l lapsed?  

MR NTSHEPE:    In  my unders tand ing ,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Now you sa id  ea r l ie r  tha t  

Dene l  cou ld  no t  come up w i th  the  money,  R100 mi l l ion ,  and  

on ly  VR Laser  cou ld  come up w i th  tha t  sor t  o f  money.   D id  

you ac tua l l y  make enqu i r ies  th rough a  pub l i c  par t i c ipa t ing  

process to  f ind  ou t?   D id  you,  fo r  example ,  adver t i se  your  

in ten t ion  to  en ter  in to  a  jo in t  venture  w i th  a  su i tab le  20 

par tner  to  market  p roducts  in  the  As ian  market  and  say to  

the  marketp lace  a l l  po ten t ia l  compet i to rs ,  i f  you  are  

in te res ted  in  tender ing  we w i l l  g ive  you an oppor tun i ty   but  

p lease note  tha t  you w i l l  have to  pu t  up  a  R100 mi l l ion  fo r  

market ing  costs .   D id  you under take such a  p rocess? 
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MR NTSHEPE:    No,  we d id  no t  under take i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  why not?   You sa id  tha t  VR Laser  

i s  the  on ly  one w i th  tha t  sor t  o f  -   w i th  tha t  money.   But  

how do you know un less  you go out  on  a  pub l i c  tender  o r  

s im i la r  p rocess?  How do you know whether  the re  m ight  be  

anybody e lse  ou t  there  in te res ted  and ab le  to  do  i t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    As  I  have ind i ca ted ,  we have done th is  

be fore  and we have done i t  w i th  Rhe inmeta l l  and then we 

have done i t  w i th  Car l  Ze iss  and …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Done what  be fore?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    Jo in t  ventu res .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Jo in t  ventures ,  yes .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes and there  never  was a  pub l i c  tender.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  you see,  tha t  i s  a  d i f fe ren t  reason.  

You see,  you sa id  you d id  no t  go  ou t  to  open tender  

because VR Laser  i s  go ing  to  in jec t  R100 mi l l ion .   So Mr  

Kennedy says bu t  how d id  you know tha t  there  was not  

go ing  to  be  another  en t i t y  tha t  cou ld  the  same?  Then your  

answer  now is ,  we had never  done tha t  be fore  whenever  20 

we -  we are  a  jo in t  venture .   You see,  so  tha t  i s  a  d i f fe ren t  

reason.   But ,  o f  course ,  i f  tha t  i s  what  you in tend do ing  to  

say okay,  you unders tand Mr  Kennedy ’s  a rgument  bu t  here  

is  another  reason  tha t  in f luenced you,  tha t  i s  f ine .   I s  tha t  

what  you are  say ing?  
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MR NTSHEPE:    Cha i r,  i f  maybe I  can repeat?   We d id  no t  

go  ou t  on  a  tender,  we d id  no t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Why not?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  he  was  ask ing  the  reason why.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Why not  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you had in i t ia l l y  sa id  i t  was because  

o f  the  R100 mi l l ion .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then Mr  Kennedy sa id  bu t  i f  you  d id  

no t  check o ther  compan ies ,  how cou ld  you know tha t  there  10 

was no o ther  company wh ich  cou ld  do  the  same.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  we d id  no t  do  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then you sa id  we l l ,  whenever  in  the 

past  you have done jo in t  ventu res  you had never  gone out  

on  open tender.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.   No,  we have never.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you .   So the  next  quest ion  

must  be ,  Mr  Ntshepe,  the  fac t  tha t  you had never  done i t  

be fore ,  does tha t  mean tha t  you d id  no t  have to  do  i t  th is  20 

t ime?  I f  you had  a lways fo l lowed a  prac t ice  where  you d id  

no t  comply  w i th  any tender  requ i rements ,  tha t  i s  no  reason  

why you shou ld  no t  comply  w i th  i t  i f  the  law requ i res  i t .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  –  bu t  was i t  in  fac t  no t  expected  
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and requ i red  o f  you,  leav ing  as ide  what  your  p rac t ice  may  

have been,  whether  tha t  compl ied  w i th  the  law or  no t  

p rev ious ly,  was there  no t  a  requ i rement  a t  leas t  fo r  th is  

p rocu rement  where  you wou ld  be  procur ing  la rge  sca le  

supp ly  o f  very  expens ive  veh ic les  fo r  you to  se l l  in  the 

As ian  market?   The mere  fac t  tha t  you had never  compl ied  

w i th  a  tender  p rocess sure ly  was not  an  excuse  not  to  

comply  w i th  i t  aga in?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t  bu t  what  needs to  be  no ted is  th is .   

The defence market  opera tes  s l igh t ly  d i f fe ren t ly  f rom the  10 

o ther  i ndust r ies .   The tendency i s  tha t  when you  fo rm a  

jo in t  venture  or  a  par tnersh ip  you a l ready have to  ident i f y  

the  par tne r,  who  the  par tner  i s ,  and th is  i s  what  has 

happened befo re  bu t  i t  i s  t rue  tha t  i f  in  te rms o f  the  law or  

in  te rms o f  what  i s  requ i red  in  South  A f r i ca ,  I  th ink  tha t  i s  

where  one o f  the  th ings tha t  needs to  be  c la r i f ied  w i th  the  

de fence indust ry,  how do you go out  and fo rm – espec ia l l y  

i f  you  are  a  s ta te  owned company,  how do you fo rm  a  jo in t  

venture?  I f  you  fo l low the  normal  p rocesses,  no t  

necessar i l y  a re  you go ing  to  be  successfu l  in  do ing  tha t  20 

because i t  m igh t  no t  necessar i l y  be  the  par tner  because  

the  po in t  i s ,  m ight  no t  necessar i l y  be  the  pa r tner  tha t  

wou ld  he lp  you to  w in  because the  issue is  to  w in  the  

cont rac t .   I t  m igh t  no t  necessar i l y  –  I  am not  say ing  i t  i s  

no t ,  Cha i r.    
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 So  in  te rms o f  tha t ,  th is  has been  the  norm in  the  

de fence indust ry.   I t  m igh t  be  wrong,  I  concede,  bu t  th is  i s   

-  th is  has been  the  no rm and th is  i s  what  has been  

happen ing  in  –  fo r  a  very  –  no t  on l y  –  fo r  a  very,  ve ry  long 

t ime in  the  de fence indust ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You see,  i s  the  pos i t ion  no t  tha t  supp ly  

cha in  management  po l i c ies ,  Sect ion  217 o f  the  Const i tu t ion  

wh ich  ought  to  be  known by CEOs and h igh  rank ing  

o f f i c ia ls  o f  any s ta te  owned ent i t y  says whenever  you are  

go ing  to  p rocure  goods or  se rv i ces  you must  do  so  in  a  10 

manner  tha t  i s  fa i r,  tha t  i s  cos t -e f fec t i ve ,  b lah ,  b lah ,  b lah ,  

b lah ,  b lah ,  there fore  shou ld  you not  s imp ly  be  say ing  am I  

p rocu r ing  goods or  serv ices?  I f  I  am then I  know what  the  

law is  tha t  app l ies  and the  procedures tha t  I  must  fo l low.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r,  you …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And i f  you are  no t  go ing  to  be  p rocur ing  

goods or  serv ices ,  tha t  m ight  be  d i f fe ren t .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r,  bu t  you are  fo rm ing a  jo in t  

–  you a re  fo rm ing a  company.   Yes,  a  d i f fe ren t  company  

f rom the  ex is t ing  company.   And there fo re  the  opera t ions  20 

and the  manner  i n  wh ich  –  and the  ph i losophy beh ind  the  

fo rmat ion  o f  tha t  company is  no t  necessar i l y  in  l ine  w i th  

the  217 Procurement  Act  in  Sou th  A f r i ca ,  espec ia l l y  in  

de fence compan ies .   Th is  i s  what  I  am say ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t ,  o f  course ,  in  a  case such as  th is ,  
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the  idea was to  p rocu re  pa r t i cu la r  veh ic les  or  p roducts ,  i s  

i t  no t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    No,  i t  was not  to  p rocu re  any veh ic les  

made by  VR Laser  South  A f r i ca ,  whatever.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR NTSHEPE:    The des ign  w i l l  come f rom Dene l ,  the  

s tee lwork  we be l ieve  w i l l  come – because usua l l y  a l l  s tee l ,  

a lmost  a l l  s tee l  in  South  A f r i ca  i s  so ld  by  VR Laser  and 

then the  we ld ing  w i l l  be  done by  VR Laser  and tha t  a l so  

depends i f  you  w in  the  cont rac t  and you can on ly  w in  the  10 

cont rac t  i f  you  are  jo in t  –  you –  we have a l ready –  and we 

have a l ready fo rmed the  jo in t  ven ture  a t  tha t  po in t  in  t ime 

but  i f  i t  was jus t  a  pure  s t ra igh t  p rocu rement ,  I  can  

unders tand what  you are  say ing ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I f  I  may jus t  

comple te  w i th  one or  two quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  VR Laser  wou ld  no t  have gone 

in to  the  jo in t  ven ture  i f  i t  was not  go ing  to  der i ve  a  lo t  o f  20 

f inanc ia l  benef i t ,  no t  so?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And espec ia l l y  in  de fence market ,  i f  

th is  p ro jec t  had taken o f f .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  wou ld  have been ve ry  lucra t i ve ,  

no t  so ,  fo r  VR Laser?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And hopefu l l y  fo r  Dene l  as  we l l .  

MR NTSHEPE:    I f  i t  i s  lucra t i ve  fo r  VR Laser  i t  must  be  

lucra t i ve  fo r  Dene l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Now VR Laser  in  fac t  was  

tak ing  no t  jus t  the  l ion ’s  share  i t  was taken the  en t i re  R100  

mi l l ion  up f ron t  fo r  market ing  costs  to  ge t  the  pro jec t  o f f  the  

ground,  no t  so?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  wou ld  never  have done tha t  i f  i t  

was not  go ing  to  ge t  a  lucra t i ve  benef i t  a t  the  end.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  you were  market ing ,  you were  

in tend ing  to  market  the  j o in t  venture  i n  o rde r  to  ob ta in  

cont rac ts  f rom the  As ian  marke t .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Which  wou ld  then be –  wou ld  be  fo r  

goods tha t  wou ld  then be manufac tured by  VR Laser.  20 

MR NTSHEPE:    No,  the  goods wou ld  have been  

manufac tured because la rge ly  the  des ign  eng ineers  come 

f rom Dene l .   The goods …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Sor ry,  I  was ta lk ing  about  

manufac ture ,  no t  des ign .  
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MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Who wou ld  do  the  manufac tu re?  

MR NTSHEPE:    The manufac tur ing  la rge ly  wou ld  have 

been Dene l  because they cannot  make a  gun,  VR Laser.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    VR Laser.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  they wou ld  have been 

manufac tur ing  components ,  no t  so?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  ce r ta in  components .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Inc lud ing  the  hu l l s ,  no t  so?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    I f  we got  the  cont rac t ,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Bu t  no t  necessar i l y  a l l  the  hu l l s .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Bu t  I  th ink  they  w i l l  be  manufac tur ing ,  I  

mean tha t  wou ld  be  reasonab le  to  th ink  l i ke  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    But  i f  in  fac t  –  sor ry,  may I  jus t  s top  

fo r  a  moment?   The Const i tu t ion  tha t  the  learned  

Cha i rperson has  re fer red  you to  says in  Sect ion  217,  as  

the  Cha i r  pu t  to  you,  when an ent i t y  such as  Dene l ,  we are  20 

not  ta lk ing  about  a  p r iva te  company he re ,  we are  ta lk ing  

about  a  s ta te  en t i t y  such as  Dene l ,  i s  p rocu r ing  goods and  

serv i ces ,  i t  must  fo l low,  as  the  Cha i r  sa id ,  a  p rocess tha t  i s  

fa i r,  compet i t i ve ,  e tce te ra .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  does no t  say  except  where  i t  i s  

Dene l  and i t  does not  say  except  where  i t  i s  dea l i ng  w i th  

the  de fence indust ry  and i t  does not  say  except  where  i t  

does so  by  way o f  a  jo in t  venture .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    The Cons t i tu t ion  o f  course  is  our  

supreme law.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So i f  one accepts  tha t  Sect ion  217 o f  

the  Const i tu t ion  requ i res  Dene l  whenever  i t  i s  go ing  to  ge t  10 

in to  a  re la t ionsh ip  w i th  a  prov ide r,  in  th is  case a  prov ider  

in  a  jo in t  venture  –  and I  unders tand the  veh ic le  wou ld  be  

a  jo in t  ventu re ,  bu t  a t  the  end o f  the  day VR Laser  wou ld  

be  benef i t t ing  la rge ly  th rough the  product ion  o f  the  

re levant  i tems tha t  wou ld  go  in to  the  f in ished product .   So 

was i t  no t  appropr ia te  fo r  you i f  you  d id  no t  know th is  

a l ready because you had been fo l low ing the  prac t ice ,  was  

i t  no t  appropr ia te  fo r  you to  a t  leas t  take  adv i ce  and f ind  

ou t  i s  th i s  permiss ib le  under  l aw?  Can we do th i s  w i thout  

go ing  ou t  on  a  tender  o r  s im i la r  p rocess?  20 

MR NTSHEPE:    What  in fo rmed me to  cont inue w i th  th is ,  

Cha i r,  was the  p recedents  tha t  I  have seen befo re  in  the  

company.   The p recedents  –  and I  am jus t  quot ing  a  few 

jo in t  ventures  tha t  we have done.   We have done jo in t  

ventures  in  the  M idd le  East  and there  was no tender.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    No,  Mr  Ntshepe,  I  have no d i f f i cu l t y  

w i th  your  po in t .  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  do  no t  know those fact s .    

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  le t  us  assume tha t  you are  

cor rec t  and I  am not  suggest ing  anyth ing  to  the  cont ra ry,  

le t  us  assume tha t  there  were  ten  d i f fe ren t  jo in t  ventures  

be fore  th is  one,  i t  was a t  number  11 .   

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Was i t  no t  necessary  fo r  you,  

par t i cu la r l y  once  you were  a t  the  head o f  bus iness 

deve lopment  and  then as  Act ing  Group Ch ie f  Execut ive  to  

make su re ,  to  be  quest ion ing  in  your  m ind,  I  know tha t  the  

law has deve loped over  the  years ,  no t  on ly  w i th  

Const i tu t ion  adop ted in  1996 but  the  PFMA was adopted in  

1999 and then Treasury  regu la t ions keep coming out .   So 

what  we may have done in  the  past ,  a re  we up to  da te  w i th  

the  lega l  requ i rements?   You seem to  be  say ing  to  the  

Cha i r,  i f  I  unders tand you –  and  i f  I  am be ing  unfa i r  o r  20 

inco r rec t  in  my unders tand ing  p lease te l l  us ,  bu t  you seem 

to  be  say ing  because we have done i t  th is  way ten  t imes  

over ,  tha t  means we do not  have to  do  i t .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Two th ings  I  was say ing  to  the  Cha i r.   One 

is  tha t  tha t  i s  the  past .   Now in  the  present  go ing  fo rward ,  
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we d id  no t  do  tha t ,  we were  s t i l l  adopt ing  the  processes o f  

the  past ,  tha t  i s  what  I  am say ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You must  jus t  te l l  me i f  I  m isunders tand 

you.   I  unders tand you not  to  be  contes t ing  necessar i l y  the  

propos i t ion  tha t  p rocu rement  laws and supp ly  cha in  

management  po l i c ies  were  app l i cab le  and shou ld  have  

been fo l lowed,  I  unders tand you to  be  say ing  I  do  no t  know 

but  there  was a  prac t ice  tha t  had happened before  and  

because o f  tha t  p rac t ice ,  I  ac ted  in  accordance  o f  the  

prac t ice .  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  you  te l l  me tha t  Sect ion  217  o f  the 

Const i tu t ion  was app l i cab le ,  i f  you  te l l  me tha t  

p rocu rement  laws  were  app l i cab le ,  I  do  no t  know,  I  am not  

contes t ing  tha t ,  I  do  no t  know,  bu t  there  is  th is  p rac t ice  

tha t  had happened and I  fo l lowed i t .   A l l  I  can  say is ,  

based on tha t  p rac t ice ,  I  thought  i f  I  ac ted  in  accordance  

w i th  tha t  p rac t ice  tha t  was in  o rder  bu t  i f  you  te l l  me tha t  i t  

was ac tua l l y  wrong because procu rement  p rocedures 

shou ld  have been  fo l lowed,  I  accep t  tha t .  20 

MR NTSHEPE:    I  accept  i t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I f  I  may jus t  take  

you back to  page 499,  paragraph 1 .5  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course ,  I  am sor ry,  Mr  Kennedy,  you  
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may or  may not  take  th is  fu r the r  a t  some s tage,  o f  course  

there  wou ld  s t i l l  be  the  quest ion  o f  whether  somebody a t  

the  leve l  o f  Group CEO of  a  s ta te  owned ent i t y,  such as  

Dene l ,  whether  o r  no t  they wou ld  no t  be  expected to  know 

tha t  p rocurement  p rocedures or  laws are  app l i cab le .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  course ,  when one looks  a t  tha t  

quest ion ,  one w i l l  no t  fo rge t  the  p rac t ice  tha t  he  is  ta lk ing  

about  bu t  i t  does not  c lose  the  i nqu i ry,  so  –  bu t  you  dec ide  

whethe r  you take  i t  fu r ther  o r  no t .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   I f  I  can  jus t  p ick  

up  th is  quest ion  and then re turn  to  the  po in t  tha t  you have  

ra ised,  Cha i r,  w i th  the  w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    On page 499 you say in  parag raph  

1 .5 :  

“Accord ing  to  the  op in ion  wh ich  was sought  f rom 

sen ior  counse l  the  board  reso lved to  exp lo re  a  

su i tab le  equ i ty  pa r tner  w i th  the  As ia  Pac i f i c  reg ion . ”  

Now you have no t  p rov ided a  copy  o f  tha t  op in ion ,  we are  20 

not  su re  who the  sen ior  counse l  i s  o r  what  he  or  she may 

have been asked to  adv i se  on  o r  what  the  adv i ce  was.  Can  

you en l igh ten  the  Cha i r?  

MR NTSHEPE:    The i ssue was when  we were  no t  –  Cha i r,  

when we were  no t  ge t t ing  any rep ly  f rom Treasury,  so  we 
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wanted to  know,  the  board  wanted to  know i f  have we  

fo l lowed the  processes co r rec t l y.   So we went  to  sen ior  

counse l  and I  ment ioned a t  the  t ime,  when I  was  

consu l t ing ,  tha t  i t  was Mr  Bhana,  sen io r  counse l  Bhana,  

and th i s  i s  the  chrono logy o f  events ,  in  suppor t  o f  the  – 

because I  th ink  we went  to  cour t  here  and so  th is  i s  pub l i c  

knowledge.   I t  shou ld  be  in  the  pub l i c  paper.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  tha t  was a f te r  you had not  go t  a  

rep l y  f rom Treasury,  you then went  to  sen ior  counse l?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:     I s  there  no t  a  d i f f i cu l t y  in  what  you  

have jus t  sa id  because your  chrono logy ind i ca tes  in  1 .5  

tha t  you rece ived an op in ion  f rom sen ior  counse l  and  

accord ing  to  tha t  p resumably  because you were  g iven 

adv ice  in  tha t  op in ion  and on tha t  bas is ,  then the  board  

reso lved to  exp lo re  a  su i tab le  equ i ty  par tner  and what  then  

fo l lowed is  the  chrono logy in  151,  e tce tera ,  28  October  

2015,  29  October  and so  fo r th .   Treasury  was not  invo lved  

unt i l  much la te r.   In  fac t  i f  we get  to  your  own ch rono logy,  

you f i rs t  ment ion  Treasury  a t  the  top  o f  page 502 wh ich  i s  20 

para  15 .15 wh ich  dea ls  w i th  someth ing  tha t  occur red  long  

a f te r  the  board  meet ing  and tha t  was on the  5  February  

2016.   A t  le t te r  came f rom the  Nat iona l  Treasury ’s  Ch ie f  

D i rec tor  fo r  Supp ly  Cha in  Management  governance,  

Mon i to r i ng  and Compl iance to  Dene l  request ing  in fo rmat ion   



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 196 of 231 
 

to  de termine whe ther  government  p rescr ip ts  were  fo l lowed 

in  the  fo rmat ion  o f  Dene l  As ia .   So is  your  chrono logy no t  

back to  f ron t?    

 Your  chrono logy seems to  be  th i s ,  acco rd ing  to  your  

a f f idav i t ,  you go to  sen io r  counse l ,  you ask  fo r  adv i ce ,  you  

do not  ind i ca te  what  tha t  adv ice  is ,  and then you say on  

the  bas i s  o f  tha t  adv ice  the  board  reso lved to  exp lore  a 

par tnersh ip  f o r  the  As ia  Pac i f i c  reg ion  and tha t  i s  then  

fo l lowed by  a  who le  lo t  o f  s teps wh ich  inc lude the  

fo rmat ion  o f  the  company,  e tce tera ,  and on ly  the reaf te r,  a t  10 

the  end o f  2015,  beg inn ing  o f  2016,  you have now got  the  

30  day pe r iod  exp i r ing  where  the  Min is te r  o f  F inance,  the  

Min is te r  o f  Pub l ic  Enterpr ises do  not  ge t  back to  you and 

on ly  thereaf te r  does Treasury  f i rs t  ge t  invo lved.    

I  am suggest ing  to  you tha t  your  ev idence cannot  

be  r igh t ,  tha t  the  counse l ’s  op in ion  came a f te r  Treasury  

was approached.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  co r rec t .   I  migh t  be  then the  way we 

have put  the  1 .5 .   There  is  no  way tha t  we cou ld  have 

asked sen io r  counse l  to  fo rm a  jo in t  ventu re .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  jus t  repeat  tha t  las t  

sentence?  

MR NTSHEPE:    There  is  no  way tha t  we cou ld  have asked  

sen ior  counse l ,  an  independent  sen ior  counse l  i f  we can  

fo rm a  jo in t  ventu re  or  no t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  tha t  you –  wou ld  have been your  

own dec is ion .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Ja ,  tha t  had a l ready been done.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Ja ,  i t  was the  response to  –  now to  say 

tha t  Treasury  i s  no t  respond ing  to  whether  a re  they  say ing  

yes or  no .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  on  Sect ion  54  app l i ca t ions?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now you have not  p rov ided a  copy o f  

tha t  sen ior  counse l ’s  op in ion .   D id  tha t  sen io r  counse l  in  

fac t  g ive  you adv ice  to  do  w i th  p rocurement  p rocesses or  

d id  i t  dea l  w i th  o ther  i ssues?  

MR NTSHEPE:    I t  ac tua l l y  dea l t  w i th  the  issue o f  –  I  th ink  

i t  dea l t  w i th  o ther  i ssues,  in  par t i cu la r  the  issue o f  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Sect ion  54?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  wh ich  we went  to  –  I  th ink  we went  to  

cour t  to  see i f  we  can get  an  answer  f rom Treasury.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  i t  d idn ’ t  dea l  w i th  whether  you are  

no t  here  to  comply  w i th  p rocurement  p rocesses?  

MR NTSHEPE:    No,  no  to  ge t  an  answer,  because we 

a l ready had submi t ted  the  app l i ca t ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No,  I  am ask ing  s imp ly  d id  Sen ior  
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Counse l  g i ve  you adv ice  dea l ing  w i th  whether  o r  no t  you 

had to  comply  w i th  p rocu rement  p rocesses.  

MR NTSHEPE:    No he d id  no t  g ive  us  adv i ce  on  tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  now i f  I  can  take  you  back to  

th is  parag raph and I  d rew your  a t ten t ion  to  a t  the  top  o f  

page 502,  a  le t te r  f rom Nat iona l  Treasury ’s  ch ie f  d i rec tor,  

Supp ly  Cha in  Management  Governance,  Mon i to r i ng  and 

Compl iance,  now th is  i s  a lmost  as  i t  were  a  watchdog fo r  

government  in  i t s  var ious en t i t ies  and depar tments  no t  so .    

Cor rec t?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t ,  cor rec t  so .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A wa tchdog to  ensure  tha t  

government  depar tments  and ent i t ies  such as  Dene l  a re  

comply ing  w i th  p rocurement  p rocesses and so  tha t  le t te r  i s  

then sent  and asks has i t  been compl ied  w i th  and then you 

re fer  to  in  15 .16  to  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  Board ,  tha t  i s  

Mantsha cor rec t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    He addressed cor respondence to  

Min is te r  Brown p rov id ing  de ta i l  regard ing  the  fo rmat ion  o f  20 

the  venture ,  a  jo in t  ventu re  in  Dene l  As ia .        

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    But  then –  so  tha t ’s  no t  dea l i ng  w i th  

the  Nat iona l  Treasury  query  no t  so?  I t  i s  dea l ing  w i th  

o ther  i ssues.   I t  i s  dea l ing  w i th  the  fo rmat ion  o f  a  jo in t  
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ven ture  in  Dene l  As ia?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And i t  i s  a  rep ly  to  –  i t  i s  

cor respondence w i th  Min i s te r  Brown,  she i s  no t  par t  o f  

Treasury  no t  so?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  and then you dea l  in  15 .17  you  

say the  Cha i rperson addressed  a  le t te r  to  Nat iona l  

Treasury  ind i ca t ing  tha t  the  response to  Nat iona l  

Treasury ’s  5  February  2016 le t te r  wou ld  be  fo r thcoming 10 

once s ign  o f f  f rom the  Board  has been a t ta ined.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now can you exp la in ,  obv ious l y  you 

weren ’ t  the  Cha i rpe rson,  and you sa id  he  addressed a  

le t te r  to  Nat iona l  Treasury  bu t  d id  you not  g ive  inpu t  to  the 

Cha i rperson as   you were  ac t ing  GCEO on tha t  le t te r?  

MR NTSHEPE:    We had var ious  meet ings w i th  the  Ch ie f  

D i rec tor  a t  Nat iona l  Treasury  in  t ry ing  to  reso lve  th is ,  I  

th ink  we had four,  f i ve  meet ings be fore  th is  le t te r  was  

ready and we wou ld  repor t  back to  say tha t  th is  i s  where  20 

we are  and th is  how fa r  we have gone in  te rms o f  

d iscuss ion  bu t  we were  no t  mov ing  on tha t  and ac tua l l y  we 

s t i l l  owed them a  le t te r  fo r  –  in  response to  tha t  quest ion  

a t  1 .5 .15 ,  so  in  te rms o f  the  input  to  the  le t te r  we gave 

input  to  –  because the  Cha i r  i s  no t  opera t iona l  in  the 
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company.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Exact ly.   

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  we gave input  to  the  Cha i r  and the  

Cha i r  was ab le  to  wr i te  a  le t te r  to  Nat iona l  Treasury.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  th is  paragraph ind ica tes  tha t  the  

Cha i r,  p resumab ly  based on your  input ,  sa id  tha t  h is  

response about  the  procurement  query  wou ld  on l y  be  g iven 

once you got  s ign  o f f  f rom the  Board ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Th is  i s  par t  o f  the  response.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  un less  I  have missed i t  you 10 

have not  dea l t  e lsewhere  in  the  a f f idav i t  w i th  any la te r  

response tha t  may have been sent  to  Treasury,  was there  

in  fac t  any response sent  to  Treasury  to  dea l  w i th  th is .  

MR NTSHEPE:    There  were  many  cor respondence between 

Dene l  and  Nat iona l  Treasury  dur ing  tha t  t ime.   We wou ld  

go  and see the  DG,  Mr  Anwar  . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  i f  I  am not  

m is taken and then h i s  team,  so  there  were  many,  many 

in te rac t ions,  so  I  wou ld  no t  necessar i l y  know exact l y  in  the  

meet ings wh ich  meet ings d id  we  address these issues 

exact ly,  you know in  te rms o f  respond ing  to  these le t te rs  20 

and in  te rms o f  be ing  ab le  to  f ind  an  answer  in to  our  

p rob lem and say are  we go ing  to  ahead now.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now may I  take  you to  page 507,  you 

re fer  to  the  t r ip  a round February  2015,  th is  i s  what  you 

have c la r i f ied  in  your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  and  in  fac t  
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there  were  two t r ips  and you re fer  to  here  the  t r ip  in  

February  2015 to  t ry  and f ind  par tners  be fore  the  T1 ’s  were  

a l ready taken fo r  example  Bar ry  Forge had par tnered w i th  

the  Is rae l i s ,  o the rs  had a l ready par tne red w i th  the  French,  

South  Koreans e tce te ra ,  no  s takeho lde r  was mis led .   

 Now is  th is  what  you are  re fer r ing  to  here  is  th is  the  

f i rs t  meet ing  tha t  you went  on  w i thout  V  R Laser?   

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:  R igh t .    

MR NTSHEPE:    In  2015.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  and then you say,  in  fac t  one o f  

the  compan ies  rea l i sed tha t  Mr  Kamal  S inga la  was re la ted  

to  the  Guptas ,  he  immedia te l y  agreed to  exp lo re  a  

par tnersh ip ,  I  there fore  cannot  –  we l l  tha t ’s  in  response to 

the  invest iga tor ’s  quest ion .    Who is  the  company tha t  you 

re fer red  to  rea l i s ing  tha t  Mr  S inga la  was re la ted  to  the 

Guptas  wh ich  meant  tha t  –  wh ich  led  tha t  company  to say 

we l l  in  fac t  now we are  keen to  exp lo re  a  par tnersh ip  w i th  

you,  who was tha t  company?  

MR NTSHEPE:    The company as  Re l iance.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Re l iance,  and is  tha t  an  Ind ian  based 

company?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Company,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  now – yes now what  I  don ’ t  

unders tand is  th is ,  i f  th is  d iscuss ion  took p lace in  the  f i rs t  
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meet ing ,  ear l y  in  2015 around February  2015 where  you  

weren ’ t  accompan ied –  sor ry  –  February?  

MR NTSHEPE:    2015 was to  exp lore  the  poss ib i l i t i es  

fo rm ing jo in t  ventures  or  par tner ing  w i th  Ind ian  compan ies  

in  Ind ia .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:     Yes.    

MR NTSHEPE:    And then in  2016 tha t  i s  the  d iscuss ion  

tha t  took p lace.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    The d i scuss ion  w i th  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR NTSHEPE:    Wi th  Re l iance.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wi th  Re l iance?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  are  you say ing  tha t  in  fac t  th is  

d iscuss ion  where  Re l iance was say ing  oh  th i s  i s  exc i t ing  

we have got  a  Gupta  company w i th  Mr  S inga la  as  one o f  

the  Gupta  fami ly,  tha t  means they w i l l  be  keen to  exp lore  a  

par tnersh ip .   Was  tha t  what  happened in  March 2016?   

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wou ld  you  agree Mr  Ntshepe I  am 

a f ra id  th is  paragraph has led  to  huge confus ion .  20 

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t ,  tha t  i s  why I  apo log ised and sa id  

i t  was a  m is take.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  i t  i s  confus ion  in  a  par t i cu la r  

contex t  wh ich  makes i t  a  b i t  d is tu rb ing  and tha t  i s  tha t  

where  th is  Commiss ion  is  look ing  in to  a l legat ions o f  Sta te 
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Capture ,  some o f  wh ich  invo lved the  Guptas  themse lves i t  

i s  impor tan t  fo r  the  Commiss ion  to  unders tand a l l  the  fac ts ,  

and the  way one reads th i s  pa ragraph o f  your  f i rs t  a f f idav i t  

tha t  o f  course  you swore  an  oath  to  when you deposed to  

th is  a f f idav i t ,  the  way th is  reads before  you cor rec ted  i t  

la te r,  in  fac t  suggests  t ha t  as  ear l y  as  February  2015 not  in  

March 2016,  bu t  as  ear l y  as  February  2015 you were  

a l ready go ing  to  the  Ind ian  market  and say ing  we are  go ing  

to  be  in  a  jo in t  venture  w i th  some o f  the  Guptas .   You see  

the  d i f f i cu l t y?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    I  beg to  d i f fe r  honourab le  Cha i r  because I  

d id  co r rec t  the  m is take.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Now i f  I  can  ask  you jus t  fo r  a  

moment ,  may I  have a  moment  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you.   Now i f  I  can  take  you fo r  

a  moment  to  page 529,  pa ragraph 18,  th is  i s  in  the  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t ,  you sa id  the  t r ip  we under took in  

February  2015 d id  no t  inc lude anybody f rom VR Laser  i t  i s  

on ly  a round March 2016 we went  to  an  exh ib i t ion  w i th  VR 20 

Laser  i n  Goa i t  i s  in  2016 tha t  Dene l  o f f i c ia l s  used  the  VR 

Laser  a i rc ra f t ,  no t  in  February  2015? 

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  how d id  you go to  Ind ia  in  

February  2015?  
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MR NTSHEPE:   We used a  commerc ia l  a i r l ine .     

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Normal  f l i gh t s  as  a  no rmal  passenger  

on  a  commerc ia l  a i r l ine?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  in  March 2016 you went  to  the 

exh ib i t  on  VR Laser ’s  t ranspor t ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?    

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  tha t  then takes us  back to  page  

507,  there  you re fer  to  the  purpose o f  the  t r ip  bu t  here  o f  

course  you see to  be  re fer r ing ,  a l though paragraph 1 .11  10 

sa id  the  t r ip  was in  February  2015  you have cor rec ted  tha t  

in  a  la te r  a f f idav i t ,  bu t  the  t r ip  tha t  you are  re fer r ing  to  in  

1 .12  is  no t  the  one in  February  2015 but  the  one in  March 

2016,  co r rec t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    That ’s  in  Goa?    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes and then in  the  th i rd  l ine  VR 

Laser  o f fe red  to  t rave l  w i th  Dene l  a t  no  cost  to  Dene l  s ince  

Dene l  had a lways  been in  f inanc ia l  d is t ress  we saw noth ing  

wrong w i th  the  use o f  the i r  a i rc ra f t  a t  no  cost  to  Dene l .   

Fur ther  i f  VR Laser  was go ing  to  be  our  pa r tne r  why wou ld  20 

we be unwi l l ing  to  t rave l  w i th  them.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now yes and  Mr  S inga la  was on tha t  

t r ip ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    To  Goa yes.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Who is  Mr  S inga la ,  Kamal  S inga la?  

MR NTSHEPE:    In i t ia l l y  I  d id  no t  know whom Mr  S inga la  –  

bu t  I  knew tha t  he  was –  can I  say  re la ted  to  the  Guptas ,  

and i t  was a lways pa r t  o f  me,  why is  he  us ing  a  d i f fe ren t  

surname than the  Gupta  su rname,  bu t  then I  rea l i sed no Mr  

Kamal  S inga la  i s  a  re la t i ve ,  o r  he  is  re la ted  to  the  Guptas .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I s  tha t  what  you were  to ld  o r  i t  was jus t  

your  susp ic ion?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:   Wel l  you know as you in te rac t  w i th  

someone and you  rea l i se  you p i ck  up  some th ings  and a lso  

say tha t  he  was s tay ing  in  the  Gup ta  house.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  he  was s tay ing  a t  the  Gupta  house?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  o f  course  he cou ld  be  a  f r iend as  

opposed to  be ing  re la ted ,  tha t  i s  what  I  am t ry ing  to  –  why  

you wou ld  say he  was  re la ted ,  because i f  he  was  one  o f  

the i r  f r iends he cou ld  s tay  w i th  them.  

MR NTSHEPE:    For  a  long t ime  Cha i r  I  d id  because he  20 

seemed to  be  very  invo l ved w i th  them as a  fami ly  in  the  

Gupta  fami ly  and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  i s  your  answer  to  my quest ion  tha t  

nobody to ld  you tha t  he  was re la ted  to  the  Guptas .  

MR NTSHEPE:   No,  no .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I t  was your  own th ink ing .    

MR NTSHEPE:   Ja  my deduct ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Ja.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    One o f  the  o ther  w i tnesses has 

ind ica ted  tha t  to  h is  unders tand ing  Mr  S inga la  i s  in  fac t  the  

son o f  one o f  the  Gupta  bro thers .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes I  have read tha t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You read tha t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And do you know i f  tha t  i s  t rue  or  

don ’ t  you know?   

MR NTSHEPE:   I  th ink  i t  cou ld  be  t rue ,  I  th ink  i t  cou ld  be  

t rue ,  I  cannot  emphat ica l l y  say  i t  is  t rue  or  no t ,  bu t  I  th ink 

i t  cou ld  be .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:     Okay thank you  R igh t ,  thank you,  

can I  ask  you to  tu rn  to  page 508.    You say in  paragraph  

1 .15  I  d id  no t  have any re la t ionsh ip  w i th  Mr  Sa l im Essa.   I  

was –  were  you aware  tha t  he  was  connected to  the  Gupta  

fami ly?   20 

MR NTSHEPE:    I  on ly  rea l i sed a f te r  some t ime a f te r  I  had 

many –  some in te rac t ions w i th  h im tha t  he  has a  Gupta  

re la t ionsh ip .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    The you say I  was in t roduced to  Mr  

Sa l im Essa by  Rh ia  Sa loo jee  around 2012/13 a t  the  Cafe  in  
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Oak lands.   Mr  Sa loo jee  ins t ruc ted  me in  Mr  Essa ’s  

p resence tha t  I  wou ld  work  c lose ly  w i th  Mr  Essa but  

because he is  t ry ing  to  en ter  the  de fence market .   

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  o f  course  was some years  

be fore  you were  go ing  in  the  VR Laser  je t  to  Ind ian .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t ,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  was Mr  Sa loo jee  say ing  you 

wou ld  be  –  he  ins t ruc ted  you in  Mr  Essa ’s  p resence tha t  

you must  be  work ing  c lose ly  w i th  Mr  Essa because he is  10 

t ry ing  to  en ter  the  de fence market?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Not  s imp ly  the  de fence market  tha t  

may ex i s t  ove rseas in  Ind ia .  

MR NTSHEPE:    No i t  was very  c lear  tha t  i t  is  in  the  

de fence market  and in  my unders tand ing  is  tha t  Dene l  

shou ld  he lp  Mr  Essa to  be  es tab l i shed in  the  –  because I  

was a  Dene l  rep resenta t i ve .   When he says tha t  he  was 

put t ing  me in  be tween tha t  i s  why I  ge t  upset  because I  

don ’ t  unders tand why wou ld  he  use  me.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now le t  me unders tand why you have 

used the  word  ins t ruc ted ,  he  ins t ruc ted  you tha t  you wou ld  

work  c lose ly  w i th  Mr  Essa.   D id  you unders tand tha t  th is  

was an ins t ruc t ion  to  favour  Mr  Essa o r  V  R Laser.  

MR NTSHEPE:    I t  was my unders tand ing  tha t  i t  was an 



10 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 303 
 

Page 208 of 231 
 

ins t ruc t ion  to  say  because . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    An  ins t ruc t ion  to?  

MR NTSHEPE:    An  ins t ruc t ion  to  say tha t  because Mr  

Essa has now bought  o r  VL Laser  and he is  a  b lack-owned  

bus iness we shou ld  be  ab le  to  he lp  them to  ga in  a  f oo tho ld 

in to  the  de fence market .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    D id  tha t  mean tha t  you  shou ld  

ac tua l l y  g i ve  favourab le  t rea tmen t  to  them i f  no t  what  was 

be ing  sa id?  

MR NTSHEPE:    I  had no power  to  g i ve  anybody any  10 

favourab le  t rea tment ,  because I  was not  in  any  l ine  o f  

bus iness whereby I  w i l l  say  you do th i s  o r  I  mean when I  

was Group Bus iness Deve lopment  because my bus iness 

was to  combine  bus inesses and  work  together.    But  I  

wou ld  no t  be  ab le ,  and i f  – some fa i led  and some 

succeeded so  tha t  i s  an  ins t ruc t ion  the  way I  unders tood i t ,  

no t  necessar i l y  to  do  a  par t i cu la r  favour  bu t  to  make sure  

tha t  I  g row the  re la t ionsh ip  tha t  th is  company tha t  has  

been bought  by  Essa who i s  c lass i f ied  in  the  BEE shou ld  

a lso  be  invo lved in  the  de fence market .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now you have ment ioned the  b lack  

ownersh ip  i ssue and there  has been o ther  ev idence and Mr  

Sa loo jee  w i l l  a lso  g ive  ev idence  we unders tand dea l ing  

w i th  the  impor tance o f  t ransforming the  de fence indust ry,  

par t i cu la r l y  in  re la t ion  to  Dene l  wh ich  was t rad i t iona l l y  
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bas ica l l y  wh i te  owned and domina ted,  so  I  can unders tand  

tha t  tha t  wou ld  have been an impor tan t  ob jec t i ve  bu t  a re  

you say ing  tha t  Mr  Essa –  I  beg your  pardon –  Mr  Sa loo jee  

were  say ing  to  you tha t  you shou ld  encourage VR Laser  o r  

a re  you say ing  tha t  he  was expect ing  you and ins t ruc t ing  

you to  cu t  corners  to  b reak the  law or  to  v io la te  

procu rement  p rocesses or  anyth ing  o f  tha t  na ture?  

MR NTSHEPE:    My unders tand was,  us ing  your  words,  i t  

was to  encourage because they had no c lue  about  the  

de fence space.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  they had no c lue  abou t  South  

A f r i can defence,  is  tha t  what  you sa id?   

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes the  de fence bus iness,  no  c lue .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  they had no c lue  abou t  i t ,  they  

had no knowledge about  i t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And they had  no prev ious exper ience 

in  what?    

MR NTSHEPE:    In  the  de fence bus iness.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  the  de fence bus iness,  bu t  o f  20 

course  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR NTSHEPE:    And they were  buy ing  in to  a  company tha t  

had a  –  Mr  Essa was buy ing  in to  a  company tha t  had a  

long h i s to ry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes exact ly,  so  i t  was now tha t  we 
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a re  Laser  tha t  had a  long h is to ry  in  the  de fence bus iness 

tha t  wh i le  they as  owners  m ight  no t  –  new owners  m ight  

no t  have exper ience and knowledge o f  the  de fence  indust ry  

they were  buy ing  a  company tha t  d id .  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   I f  he  had in  fac t  been  

suggest ing  to  you tha t  there  shou ld  be  a  v io la t ion  o f  the  

law,  and espec ia l l y  to  do  w i th  the  PFMA and procu rement  

what  wou ld  your  a t t i tude have been?   

MR NTSHEPE:    I  wou ld  have  to ld  h im tha t  i t  i s  no t  10 

poss ib le  because  you are  pu t t ing  me in  a  conf l i c t  because 

in  the  end I  w i l l  be  the  one who is  respons ib le  and you can 

a lways deny i t  and say you never  gave me tha t  ins t ruc t ion ,  

so  I  wou ld  have a  prob lem.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  a t  page 509,  paragraph 1 .18 ,  

now you say tha t  the  Gupta  fami ly  was invo lved in  the  

prepara t ion  o f  the  Sect ion  54  app l i ca t ion  i s  no t  t rue ,  the  

app l i ca t ion  was prepared by  my  team compr i s ing  o f  Ms 

Govender,  Ms Legwabe,  Mr  Behe la  and Mr  N lshowana  to  

ment ion  jus t  a  few.  20 

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You conf i rm tha t .   May I  jus t  have a  

moment  to  confe r  w i th  my team?  Thank you Cha i r,  w i th  

your  leave may we then move away f rom th is  top ic  o f  Dene l  

As ia .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And move  on to  page 510  o f  Mr  

Ntshepe ’s  a f f idav i t  and tha t  dea ls  w i th  the  VR Laser  

Cont rac t  tha t  was awarded by  DLS fo r  the  hu l l  p la t fo rms.   

Cor rec t  Mr  Ntshepe?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t ,  cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    There  were  in i t ia l l y  to  be  2017 hu l l  

p la t fo rms la te r  i t  was reduced to  183 I  don ’ t  be l ieve  

anyth ing  tu rns  on  tha t  though,  and  you there  in  2 .1  you say  

the  ins t ruc t ion  was to  suppor t  VR Laser  Serv i ces  and not  10 

to  favour  i t .  

 Now tha t  appears  to  come f rom a  quest ion  tha t  you 

were  asked to  rep ly  to ,  in  fac t  as  I  unders tand  i t  your  

parag raph numbers  in  your  a f f idav i t  respond exact ly  to  the  

parag raph numbers  o f  the  quest ions,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  i f  we can page back fo r  a  moment  

to  page 491.  2 .1  dur ing  the  in te rv iew you a t tended w i th  the  

invest iga to rs  o f  the  Commiss ion ,  you s ta ted  tha t  you were  

g iven ins t ruc t ions to  suppor t  o r  favour  VR Laser  Serv i ces .    20 

P lease respond to  the  fo l low ing  quest ions.   Who gave  

these ins t ruc t ions  to  you us ing  wha t  k ind  o f  commun ica t ion  

and va r ious o ther  quest ions a re  pu t .   So i f  I  take  you back 

to  page 510 i s  th i s  a  d i rec t  answer  to  the  quest ion  tha t  you  

were  asked to  p rov ide?  
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MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t ,  so  you  say the  ins t ruc t i on  was 

to  suppor t  VR Laser  Serv ices  and not  to  favour  i t ,  

favour ing  i t  was out  o f  the  quest ion  s ince  I  am not  invo lved  

in  the  in i t ia l  engagement  w i th  the  en t i t y.   I  s ta ted  when and 

how I  go t  invo lved and tha t  does not  mer i t  any  fu r ther  

ment ion ing  aga in .   The ins t ruc t ion  was g iven by  Mr  R iad  

Sa loo jee  th rough  verba l  commun ica t ion .    Now so the  

ins t ruc t ion  tha t  you say you rece ived f rom Mr  Sa loo jee  tha t  

was to  suppor t  VR Laser  Serv i ces  bu t  no t  in  a  sense o f  10 

favour ing  i t .    

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  o ther  words no t  in  a  sense o f  

g iv ing  i t  some advantage wh ich  i t  wou ldn ’ t  have  lega l l y  

been ent i t led  to?    

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes,  co r rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t ,  and when was tha t  ins t ruc t ion  

g iven to  you,  was tha t  the  ins t ruc t ion  g iven to  you  a t  the  

res taurant  in  Oak lands in  2012 o r  2013? 

MR NTSHEPE:    Wel l  the  ins t ruc t ion  was to  work  w i th ,  in  20 

Oak lands in  2013 ,  bu t  we –  because I  was repor t ing  to  h im 

every  week the  progress o f  how th ings a re  go ing  I  wou ld  

no t  remember  exact ly  the  day and  the  da te .   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes you say a t  the  top  o f  page 511,  

parag raph [ i i i ]  p resumably  in  answer  to  a  spec i f i c  quest ion  
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to  when tha t  ins t ruc t ion  was g iven you say Hoefys te r  s ta r ts  

in  2007,  I  th ink  the  ins t ruc t ions were  g iven in  2013 ,  so  that  

wou ld  seem to  cor re la te  w i th  your  ear l ie r  ev idence about  

the  lunch a t  the  res taurant  in  Oak lands.  

MR NTSHEPE:    I t  wasn ’ t  lunch i t  was jus t  a  cup o f  co f fee .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Jus t  a  cup o f  co f fee ,  I  beg your  

pardon.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes s i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  and  then in  parag raph [ i v ]  i t  

says  s ince  we have been do ing  bus iness w i th  VR Laser  fo r  10 

a  long t ime and now tha t  i t  has  been acqu i red  by  a  b lack  

person we need to  suppor t  the  growth  o f  b lack  bus iness in  

the  market .    Aga in  wh i le  t ransformat ion  is  a  hea l thy  

ob jec t i ve  and o f  cou rse  there ’s  leg is la t ion  as  we l l  as  

government  po l i cy  tha t  p romotes i t ,  in  p rocurement  

p rov is ion  i s  made fo r  scor ing  in  re la t ion  to  the  BBBEE 

component ,  th is  d idn ’ t  mean tha t  you were  s imp ly  go ing  to  

g ive  a  cont rac t  to  VR Laser  i f  i t  d idn ’ t  sa t i s fy  tender  

requ i rements ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    No,  i t  d id  no t  mean tha t .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And in  fac t  we have seen  

th rough the  ev idence o f  o ther  w i tnesses the  documents  

re la t ing  to  th is  p rocurement  p rocess where  in  fac t  BBBEE 

const i tu ted  a  major  score  sco r ing  percentage,  in  fac t  qu i te  

a  b i t  more  than p r ice  no t  so?  
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MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes,  now . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Can I  jus t  go  back a  l i t t le  b i t ,  you  have 

made i t  c lear  tha t  the  ins t ruc t ion  f rom Mr  Sa loo jee  was not  

tha t  you shou ld  VR Laser  any advantage but  i t  was to  g ive  

i t  suppor t .    

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  p rac t ica l  te rms what  d id  you 

unders tand th is  suppor t  tha t  you  are  supposed to  g ive  to  

them to  en ta i l?  10 

MR NTSHEPE:    L ike  fo r  ins tance what  i s  invo l ved in  the  

de fence indust ry,  loca l l y  and g loba l l y.   L ike  fo r  i ns tance 

what  i s  invo lved when you,  a l though they cou ld ,  I  mean I  

was ta lk ing  to  Mr  Essa,  no t  to  the  company,  what  i s  

invo l ved when you have to  ge t  a  permi t  to  expor t  p roducts  

ou ts ide  o f  th is  count ry,  you cannot  jus t  expor t ,  you have to  

have a  pe rmi t .    L ike  fo r  i ns tance the  exh ib i t ions  tha t  we  

have in te rnat iona l l y,  fo r  them to  unders tand what  i s  

invo l ved in  tha t ,  h im and fu r ther  to  unders tand  tha t  in  

those exh ib i t ions  rea l l y  i n i t ia l l y  i t  is  the  manufac tu rers ,  the  20 

OEM’s  fo r  the  f i rs t  exh ib i t ions  and then thereaf te r  i t  i s  fo r  

the  pub l i c .   

 Why they do  i t  l i ke  i s  because they  want  to  g ive  the  

OEM’s  the  oppor tun i ty  to  be  ab le  to  see wha t  o ther  

compan ies  are  manufac tur ing  and maybe there  m ight  be  
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ven tures ,  maybe  there  m ight  be  re la t ionsh ips ,  th ings l i ke  

tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  bas ica l l y  as  you unders tood the  

ins t ruc t ion  to  g ive  suppor t  to  VR Laser  t o  Mr  Sa l im Essa,  

your  unders tand ing  was tha t  i t  was to  share  w i th  h im 

in fo rmat ion  about  the  indust ry,  the  de fence indust ry.  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And to  ass is t  h im to  unders tand  how i t  

works .  

MR NTSHEPE:    L ike ly  tha t  bu t  there  are  a l so  o ther  10 

ac t iv i t ies ,  l i ke  fo r  ins tance i f  we have to  maybe there ’s  a  

show,  there  was a  show i f  I  can  remember  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  in  the  de fence indust ry  

MR NTSHEPE:    Yes and a lso  in t roduce them to the  

assoc ia t ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR NTSHEPE:    H im in  par t i cu la r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay a l r igh t .   Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you Cha i r.   Now you then dea l  

on  page 512 w i th  LMT and you say in  [ i ] :  20 

“ I  was not  invo l ved in  the  ident i f ica t ion  o f  LMT so  

wou ld  no t  know who ident i f ied  them.   LMT had  

exper ience but  l im i ted  by  capac i ty. ”  

and in  paragraph [ i v ] :  

“ I  do  no t  know who took the  dec i s ion  to  inv i te  o the r  
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supp l ie rs  to  b id  aga ins t  LMT fo r  the  manufac ture  o f  

the  hu l l s  and when tha t  dec i s ion  was taken.   I  

assume i t  was the  d i v is ion  main l y  invo lved in  the  

use o f  the  hu l l s .   That  i s  DLS. ”  

MR NTSHEPE:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now in  fac t  your  assumpt ion  is  

cor rec t  i t  seems in  the  l igh t  o f  ev idence tha t  has been  

g iven by  va r ious DLS wi tnesses tha t  in  fac t  i t  was dec ided  

to  inv i te  b ids  and  they inv i ted  th ree  ent i t ies ,  the  one be ing  

VR Laser,  the  second be ing  LMT and the  th i rd  be ing  10 

another  en t i t y  tha t  was a l so  invo lved in  the  market .     

 Now then you say  in  paragraph [ i v ]  

“The process,  i f  I  remember,  was done a t  d iv is iona l  

leve l .   I  am not  in  a  pos i t ion  to  say whethe r  o r  no t  

PFMA d ic ta tes  were  no t  fo l lowed. ”  

So you are  no t  ab le  to  say whether  the  procurement  

requ i rements  under  the  PFMA,  and presumab ly  the  

Treasury  regu la t ions and the  Supp ly  Cha in  Management  

Po l i cy  were  comp l ied  w i th  o r  no t?  

MR NTSHEPE:    On the  hu l l s?  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    On the  hu l l s  yes .  

MR NTSHEPE:    No I  am not  in  a  pos i t ion  to .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  we are  go ing  to  dea l  a t  a  la ter  

s tage in  your  ev idence w i th  the  cont rac t  tha t  was awarded  

fo r  the  s ing le  source  supp ly  o f  var ious s tee l  and o the r  
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components  wh ich  in  fac t  au thor ised.   We wi l l  dea l  w i th  

tha t  in  due course ,  r igh t .  

 Then you a t  page 514 re turn  to  the  issue o f  

p rocu rement  because you say in  2 .5 :  

“ i t  shou ld  be  c lear  tha t  tha t  the  t ime Mr  Mlambo 

re jec ted  to  approve the  submiss ion  to  appo in t  VR 

Laser  Serv ices  the  MOA tha t  i s  memorandum o f  

agreement ,  had a l ready been s igned and the re  were  

cer ta in  ob l iga t ions wh ich  Dene l  had to  meet  i n  

te rms o f  the  MOA,  and any fa i lu re  to  comply  w i th  10 

such ob l iga t ions  wou ld  have opened up the  way  

l i t iga t ion .   VR Laser  Serv i ces  wou ld  have been 

w i th in  i t s  r igh ts  to  sue Dene l  and c la im damages as  

there  was a  b ind ing  cont rac t  a l ready.   I t  wou ld  have  

been foo l i sh  fo r  anyone to  renege f rom such  

agreement  and  expose Dene l  to  l i t i ga t ion  and  

payments  o f  la rge  sums on money in  damages a t  a  

t ime when Dene l  was go ing  th rough f inanc ia l  

d i f f i cu l t ies .   My,  p resumably  my ro le ,  was to  look  

what  was best  fo r  Dene l  a t  the  t ime to  avo id  20 

p lung ing  the  en t i t y  in to  fu r ther  d i f f i cu l t ies .   I  must  

point  out  further the program was about  three years 

late and obviously Denel  was incurr ing penal t ies for 

the late del ivery.   So there was pressure of  f inal ly 

f in ishing the basel ine demonst rat ions for the 
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Hoefyster which was about three years late al ready.   

This would show that  the cost  of  not  going ahead with 

the appointment based on what Mr Mlambo stated the 

reasons to be for his reject ion far outweighs al l  

reasons for the re ject ion of  such appointment.   In my 

view his decision was not  based on fact  but  on 

emot ion and Denel  could not  afford to delay further. ”  

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now – now you ref lect  on this – on 

what you have said in th is aff idavi t  can I  just  check wi th you 10 

are you not  here confusing Mr Mlambo’s reject ion of  

approval  af ter the cont ract  was al ready signed.   Are you not  

confusing this which deals wi th the hul l ’s contract  wi th a 

further contract  a single source single suppl ier  cont ract 

because there we have heard evidence – the commission 

has heard evidence and we wi l l  take you through the 

evidence the relevant  documents and so forth.   We know that  

in re lat ion to the single suppl iers Mr Mlambo was asked for  

approval  af ter the event .   And you at  that  stage was – were 

act ing GCEO and you said wel l  we have to go ahead 20 

because i t  is too late we have already signed the 

memorandum of  agreement.   That  appears to relate to the 

single source s ingle suppl ier cont ract  wi th steel  i tems not  to 

the hul l  contract  that  you are deal ing wi th here in th is  

paragraph.  
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MR NTSHEPE:   Here I  am deal ing wi th the MOA.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   MOA? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Concerning what? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Concerning the… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The single source single supply? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Ja sing le source suppl iers of  VR Laser.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE:   And there was the – I  th ink there were the 

Casspirs  which is a di fferent  vehicle  and then also the hul ls I  10 

think that  [00:02:09] .   The one that  I  s igned where Mr 

Mlambo had rejected was the hul ls because as I  said we 

were al ready three years late.    

I  might  have been under est imat ing because now I  

hear i t  is eleven years – maybe i t  would have been f ive or  

six years.   So the issue for  me was the urgency and also 

because whenever I  met the c l ient  and we need to 

understand that  these vehicles are not  just  vehicles to save 

l ives of  the soldiers especial ly because these were South 

Afr ican vehicles – the hul ls were wi th the Hoefyster.    20 

I t  was important  for  us to get  the PBL go through and 

i f  Mr Mlambo or  me was di l ly dal ly ing and already we have a 

single source – and we have proven and the – proven that  

the VR Laser has good qual i ty in  that  f ie ld and there is a 

MOA that  has been signed why are we di l ly  dal ly ing because 
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my issue was that  we need to move with speed. Because up 

t i l l  today as you have said i t  has not  – PBL has not  been 

even achieved.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   But  just  to conf i rm I  just  want you 

to – we wi l l  deal  wi th whether Mr Mlambo was r ight  or wrong 

and whether he was emot ional  or whether i t  was good 

business sense and so forth.   I  just  want to make sure your 

2.5 where you referr ing to Mr Mlambo being asked to 

approve the appointment of  VR Laser services af ter  i t  had 

al ready been – af ter the MOA had al ready been signed?  10 

That  is the MOA deal ing wi th the single suppl ier not  the 

hul ls,  is that  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  th ink the single suppl ier included the hul ls.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wel l  that  has not  been the evidence of  

other wi tnesses and the agreements do not  ref lect  that .  

MR NTSHEPE:   S ingle suppl ier –  the hul ls I  am sure you 

know that  the hul ls is just  the body.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Of  the vehicle.   Whatever type of  a vehicle i t  

would be.   So being a single suppl ier that  means that  that  20 

body – that  part icular  body wi l l  be suppl ied by VR Laser.   

Whether i t  is the Hoefyster or the Casspi rs that  is  what I  

understood the MOA to be doing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay so – yes your evidence is  

di fferent  f rom that  of  other wi tnesses but  I  do not  th ink we 
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need to go into a big debate wi th you about that .   That  is  

your opinion and your understanding I  understand that .   But  

can I  take you to – to another bundle.    

I f  you can just  put  that  bundle to the side please and 

Chair  may I  ask your learned Regist rar to place before you 

Bundle 1.   Mr Ntshepe would you mind just  put t ing that  

bundle to the side and just  f inding Bundle Denel  number 1.   I  

do not  know i f  i t  is behind you or maybe in f ront  of  you on 

the lef t .    

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.   Denel  number 1? 10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Is that  number 1? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes thank you i f  you could open that  

please.   May I  take you in Bundle 1 to page 825.  

MR NTSHEPE:   825? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Now 825 in fact  824 is the start  of  

that  memorandum.  Now this is a  memorandum dated the 

29t h October 2015 f rom Ms Malahlela the then execut ive 

manager Supply Chain in DLS and i t  was submit ted to the 

Denel  Supply Chain Execut ive that  would have been Mr 20 

Mlambo correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And… 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry Mr Kennedy just  pace yoursel f  

appropriately we are f ive minutes away f rom stopping.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  wi l l  just  touch on this and then we 

can… 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no that  is f ine ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We can cont inue in the morning i f  we 

may then.   Thank you Chai r  for the guidance.   Now this 

refers in the heading to a conf l ict  between the pol icy and the 

signed MOU.  Now there has been a – somet imes people 

refer to a MOU and somet imes to a MOA and you have 10 

indicated in your  aff idavi t  that  you bel ieved there was no 

di fference between the two.    

In fact  other wi tnesses have suggested otherwise but  

again I  do not  propose to debate that  wi th you now.   But  

what she says is th is:  

“ In  g iv ing the approval  for the deviat ion f rom 

the normal procurement process and a l ist  of  

suppl iers to be used for the TS demo the 

Group Supply Chain Execut ive gave an 

instruct ion that  DLS must f i rst  explore how 20 

Denel  vehicle systems gear rat io  and LMT 

wi l l  be used in the project  on condi t ion that  

they meet the qual i ty pr ice and del ivery 

requi rements.”  

Now Ms Malahlela has given evidence before this  
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commission that  th is speci f ical ly was deal ing not  wi th the 

or ig inal  appointment of  VR Laser for the 217 or 183 hul ls.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  th is  in  fact  related to  the later  

agreement that  was awarded to VR Laser by DLS as a single 

suppl ier of  relevant  components.  

MR NTSHEPE:   This is a demonstrat ion so i t  is only one 

vehicle.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Only one vehicle.    

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  she then cont inues and says this:  

“Furthermore in terms of  the approved Denel  

Supply Chain pol icy and a DLS Supply Chain 

procedure DLS must  f i rst  approach inter-

group companies before procur ing outside 

the group in terms of  the Denel  Group Supply 

Chain Pol icy.   Under no ci rcumstances…” 

And here she is quot ing f rom the pol icy.  

“Under no ci rcumstances shal l  products or 

serv ices that  can be procured f rom a Group 20 

ent i ty or d iv is ion be procured f rom an 

external  suppl ier  or non-Denel  company 

unless there is approval  by the Group Supply 

Chain Execut ive based on sound business 

reasons.   Having ident i f ied a need for a  
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s ingle source suppl ier wi th a supply of  steel  

components and fabr icat ions in May 2015 

DLS signed a MOA with VR Laser for th is 

scope of  work.   VR Laser is 100% black 

owned ent i ty.   In terms of  the VR – sorry in  

terms of  the MOA VR Laser pr ices must  be 

market  related and in l ine wi th the provisions 

of  the MOA before an order  can be placed on 

them.”  

Now here she is referr ing to the – a MOA that  was 10 

not  rest r icted to a demo model.   I t  referred to  the MOA for 

the s ingle supply.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   For mult ip le purchases.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Of  orders correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Right .   And she is referr ing here to the 

MOA having been signed in May 2015 and now she is saying 

there is a problem effect ively  that  th is has not  compl ied wi th  20 

the Denel  pol icy which requi red that  you cannot buy outs ide 

the group unless the group Supply Chain Execut ive Mr 

Mlambo has given his approval  on the basis of  sound 

business reasons.   Are you wi th me so far? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes I  hear what you say.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And then she says:  

“Due to these contradictory provisions – 

posi t ions Supply Chain approached DLS 

EXCO to make a decision as to whether to  

honour the MOA and place the order on VR 

Laser or to fo l low the Supply Chain Pol icy 

and procure f rom Inter-Group namely DVS or  

LMT for th is project . ”  

So this is – so her department in DLS went to their  

management or rather thei r  EXCO – DLS EXCO to say wel l  10 

which one must we fol low?  Must  we fol low the MOA or must  

we fol low the procurement pol icy because the procurement 

pol icy seems to have been breached? And then she says at 

the foot  of  the page:  

“Given the t ime f rame urgency and history 

EXCO’s recommended that  the work be done 

by VR Laser.   I  hereby request  permission to  

implement the EXCO decision in th is regard. ”  

Now presumably you were not  involved in Mr 

Malahlela’s interact ions wi th the EXCO within her div is ional  20 

level? 

MR NTSHEPE:   No.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Correct .   So she has given evidence to 

the Chai r  that  you presumably cannot comment on namely 

that  she told him no we cannot do – we cannot cont inue wi th  
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the MOA al though i t  is al ready s igned because th is is a 

conf l ict  wi th our  pol icy.   And she was then told  you are now 

instructed to put  together the mot ivat ion.   You cannot  

comment on that  presumably? 

MR NTSHEPE:   No I  cannot comment on that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay thank you.   Now – so then she 

gave evidence further and Mr Mlambo also gave evidence 

that  th is was then said to him at  Group level  Head Off ice 

level  where he was the most  senior person deal ing direct ly  

wi th Supply Chain.   And he instead of  s igning above the 10 

word approval  where his name – i t  is misspel t  i t  is spel t  as 

Denise Mlambo i t  should be Dennis Mlambo Group Supply 

Chain Execut ive.   He refused to s ign in there and instead he 

wrote the port ion that  is in wr i t ing here.   You see that?  And 

what he wrote there is:  

“NB DVS and LMT must submit  proof  that  

they cannot meet  the requi rements pr ior to  

the cont ract  being awarded to VR Laser.”  

Now – so what he was saying in his evidence was 

this.   Ms Malahlela was correct  to pick up that  the MOA that  20 

had al ready been s igned conf l icted wi th the Denel  Group 

Procurement Pol icy.    

Because i f  you were going to procure goods or  

serv ices outside the Denel  group where you al ready have 

DVS and LMT there must  be a good business reason and he 
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must  be sat isf ied before he would g ive approval  that  there is 

a good business reason so he is saying effect ively  here,  I  

am prepared to consider i t  but  both DVS and LMT wi l l  have 

to submit  proof  that  they cannot  meet the requi rements 

before I  g ive approval .   Now that  was his at t i tude.    

And his evidence is that  LMT and DVS did not  

provide proof  nor  did anybody else in DLS that  there was a 

good business reason that  they could not  meet the 

requi rements.    

But  instead his ev idence was that  you then approved 10 

i t  effect ively overr id ing his decision.   Is i t  correct  that  the 

word approved below the handwr i t ten port ion that  I  have just  

read is your handwri t ing? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes i t  is correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then i t  is in pr int  – pr inted very 

clear ly GCEO Z Ntshepe yoursel f ,  correct? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And is that  your signature? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Is that  correct?  Okay.    20 

CHAIRPERSON:   And is i t  correct  that  you were overr id ing 

his –his posi t ion? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Do you – i t  is  not  dated I  am about  to  
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f in ish i f  I  may Chair? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  is not  dated can you recal l  when you 

signed this? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  – what is i t  the 9 t h? 

CHAIRPERSON:   The memorandum is dated 29 October 

2015.  

MR NTSHEPE:   I  do not  remember.   Maybe … 

CHAIRPERSON:   A few days af ter that? 

MR NTSHEPE:   A few days or a week or two.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   Interest ingly the t i t le I  do not  

know i f  that  is your handwri t ing the bold wri t ten port ion 

below your signature is that  your – is that  your own wri t ing? 

MR NTSHEPE:   No that  is not  my wri t ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay somebody else presumably put  

that  in.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And i t  has not  – i t  does not  indicate you 

then as being act ing i t  actual ly shows that  you were then 

the… 20 

MR NTSHEPE:   That  is not  my wri t ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The ful ler f ledged GCEO. 

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Can you remember when you 

signed th is whether  by then you were st i l l  act ing or  whether  
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you were the GCEO? 

MR NTSHEPE:   I  th ink I  was st i l l  act ing.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.   Thank you.   May I  suggest  Chai r  

that  the wi tness then proceed to explain why he took this  

decision and approved i t  in the morning when we resume? 

CHAIRPERSON:   You propose that  he expla ins tomorrow 

morning or you would l ike that  to happen now? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  know that  you are under t ime pressure 

wi th other commitments Chai r.   I  am suggest ing that  he 

cont inue tomorrow so that  we do not  breach the t ime l imi t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:  Yes,  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  I  am happy i f  you want to proceed 

to ask him? 

CHAIRPERSON:   No,  no,  I  th ink i t  is  –  let  us do i t  – let  us 

cont inue tomorrow. 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   As things stand what is your est imate 

of  how much t ime you would need with him before your next  

wi tness tomorrow?  How much t ime do you think he wi l l  

take? 20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  be l ieve we should f in ish wi thin an 

hour maximum. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh okay al r ight .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  is my est imat ion.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   So should we start  at  n ine or ha l f  
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past  nine? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  suggest  respect fu l ly nine o’clock 

Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Nine o’clock.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  know you have many other demands.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  I  th ink that  we have a fai r ly busy 

day tomorrow.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Who do we have as tomorrows…? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Af ter Mr Ntshepe we have scheduled Dr 10 

Nel .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   He was at  LMT.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then af ter  that  Mr Van der Merwe.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Who has requested and we need to 

approach you in chambers to ask for guidance in relat ion to  

his request  to have the hearing vi r tual ly tomorrow? 

MR NTSHEPE:   Okay alr ight .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  those are the two witnesses apart  

f rom the complet ion of  Mr Ntshepe’s evidence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.   No that  is f ine.   Let  us start  at  – and 

the person who would have been your  second witness 

tomorrow how long is he l ikely to be? 
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Dr Nel  I  would think probably about two 

to three hours.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Is that  so? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay let  us start  at  n ine tomorrow 

morning.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Mr Ntshepe we wi l l  adjourn for the 

day and then we wi l l  start  at  n ine tomorrow morning.  

MR NTSHEPE:   Yes thank you.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   We adjourn.  

REGISTRAR:   A l l  r ise.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 11 NOVEMBER 2020  

 

 

 


